# Disciple Christian Eschatology Chapter 15

Eschatology - Last Days
\*Not necessarily in Chronological Order

# Contents

Introduction	5
I. Past & Present Church Age (Already Fulfilled or Currently Happening)	7
1. Jesus – The Alpha and Omega (Revelation 1:8)	7
2. Lucifer: The Fallen Angel and Another Name for Satan (Isaiah 14:12; Luke 10:18)	8
3. Jesus Is the Messiah (John 4:25–26)	11
4. The Kingdom of God (Matthew 4:17)	12
5. The Seven Spirits Before the Throne (Revelation 1:4; Revelation 4:5)	16
6. The Fig Tree Parable (Matthew 24:32–33)	17
7. The Warning to Watch and Be Ready (Matthew 24:42-44)	18
8. The Seven Churches of Revelation (Revelation 2–3)	19
II. Prelude to the Tribulation	23
9. Rise of False Christs and False Prophets (Matthew 24:5,11)	24
10. Apostasy in the Church ( 2 Thessalonians 2:3)	25
11. Demonic Deception Increases (1 Timothy 4:1)	28
12. Sound Doctrine Rejected ( 2 Timothy 4:3)	29
13. Wars, Famines, Earthquakes ("Beginning of Birth Pains") (Matthew 24:6-8)	30
14. Increase in Lawlessness; Love Grows Cold (Matthew 24:12)	31
15. Scoffers Arise in the Last Days (2 Peter 3:3-4)	32
16. "Days of Noah" Parallel (Matthew 24:37–39)	33
17. Gospel Preached to All Nations (Matthew 24:14)	34
18. Rise of a Revived Roman-Like Empire (Ten Kings) (Daniel 7:24; Revelation 17:12)	35
19. Restrainer Removed (2 Thessalonians 2:6–7)	36
20. Israel Is Reborn as a Nation (Isaiah 66:8)	37
21. Jews Return to Ancestral Land (Ezekiel 36:24)	38
22. Jerusalem Becomes a Burdensome Stone (Zechariah 12:3)	39
23. Preparation for a Third Temple Resumes (2 Thessalonians 2:4)	40
24. Middle East Peace Efforts Increase (Daniel 9:27)	42
25. The Antichrist Revealed (2 Thessalonians 2:3–4)	43
26. The Antichrist (Beast from the Sea) (Revelation 13:1–2)	47
27. The Peace Treaty with Israel (Daniel 9:27)	48
28. Gog and Magog Invasion – First Battle (Ezekiel 38–39)	49
29. The Beast from the Sea (Revelation 13:1)	50

30. The Beast and the False Prophet (Revelation 13:11–12)	51
31. The False Prophet (Revelation 13:11–14)	52
32. The Abomination of Desolation (Matthew 24:15; Daniel 9:27)	53
33. The Mark of the Beast (Revelation 13:16–17)	54
34. Six Hundred Sixty-Six: The Number of the Beast (Revelation 13:16	8)57
35. Image of the Beast Worshiped (Revelation 13:15)	59
36. Global Economy Under Beast Control (Revelation 13:17)	60
37. Saints Face Great Persecution (Revelation 6:9-11)	61
38. The Sealing of the 144,000 (Revelation 7:1–8)	62
39. The Two Witnesses (Revelation 11:3–12)	63
II-(a ) The Rapture	64
40. Pre-Tribulation Rapture (First Thessalonians 4:16–17; Revelation	3:10)64
41. Mid-Tribulation Rapture (Revelation 11:11–12)	65
42. Post-Tribulation Rapture (Matthew 24:29-31)	66
43. Our Transfiguration (First Corinthians 15:51-52)	67
44. The Golden Censer and the Prayers of the Saints (Revelation 8:3-	–5)71
III. Tribulation Period (Seven Years Total)	
45. Tribulation Begins (Matthew 24:21)	72
46. The Four Horsemen of the Apocalypse (Revelation 6:1-8)	73
47. Seal Judgments Released (Revelation 6)	75
48. The Seven Seals (Revelation 6; Revelation 8:1)	76
49. The Seven Trumpets (Revelation 8–11)	80
50. The Seven Thunders (Revelation 10:3–4)	83
51. Midpoint / Abomination of Desolation (Revelation 11:2-3; Daniel 9	:27)84
52. Israel Flees into the Wilderness (Revelation 12:6,14)	85
53. Global Evangelism by Angel (Revelation 14:6–7)	86
54. The Seven Bowls (Revelation 16)	87
55. The Wrath of God Poured Out (Revelation 15–16)	90
56. Widespread Death (Revelation 6:8; Revelation 9:6; Revelation 16:	3)94
IV. Second Coming & Final Tribulation Events	95
57. Armageddon (Revelation 16:16; Revelation 19:17–21)	95
58. Second Coming of Jesus Christ (Revelation 19:11–16; Matthew 24	4:30)96
59. Overthrow of the Beast and False Prophet (Revelation 19:20)	102
60. The Marriage Supper of the Lamb (Revelation 19:7–9)	
61. The Sheep and Goat Judgment (Matthew 25:31–46)	104
3	

V. The Millennial Reign of Christ (One Thousand-Year Kingdom)	105
62. Satan Bound for One Thousand Years (Revelation 20:1-3)	105
63. One Thousand-Year Reign with Jesus Christ (Revelation 20:4–6)	107
64. The Millennial Saints Reign (Revelation 20:4–6)	114
65. The Overcomers (Revelation 2:26; Revelation 3:21)	115
66. Resurrection of Old Testament Saints and Tribulation Martyrs (Revelation 20:4-6)	116
67. Rebuilding of the Millennial Temple (Ezekiel 40–48)	117
VI. End of the Millennium	118
68. Satan Released and Deceives the Nations (Revelation 20:7–8)	118
69. Final Battle – Gog and Magog (Revelation 20:8–9)	121
VII. Final Judgment & Eternal State	122
70. Great White Throne Judgment (Revelation 20:11–15)	122
71. Earth and Sky Flee from God's Presence (Revelation 20:11)	123
72. Final Judgment at the Judgment Seat of Christ (Second Corinthians 5:10)	124
73. The Second Death (Revelation 20:14)	131
74. The Lamb's Book of Life (Revelation 20:12; Revelation 21:27)	132
VIII. Eternity – Forever With or Without God	133
75. New Heavens and New Earth (Revelation 21:1; 2 Peter 3:13)	133
76. Heaven (Revelation 21:3; Revelation 22:5)	137
77. Hell (Revelation 21:8)	143
78. New Jerusalem Descends from Heaven (Revelation 21:2,10)	145
79. Eternal Life (Revelation 21:4; Revelation 22:1–2; Revelation 22:20)	146
80. Every Knee Will Bow and Every Tongue Confess Jesus is Lord	154
81. Jesus - Alpha and Omega	155

## Introduction

Throughout Scripture, prophecy is often given not merely to **predict and confirm events about the future**, but to **call God's people to faithfulness in the present**. Much of biblical prophecy, including apocalyptic visions in Revelation, Daniel, and the Olivet Discourse (Matthew 24–25), is given in symbolic, veiled terms. This is consistent with God's pattern of **progressive revelation**—He often reveals just enough for His people to stay alert, hopeful, and obedient, while withholding full clarity until the time of fulfillment. As seen in passages like Daniel 12:9, where the angel tells Daniel, "Go your way, Daniel, because the words are rolled up and sealed until the time of the end," we're reminded that **some prophetic truths are intentionally hidden** until the appointed time. This means that many End Time details are best understood not through speculative charts and timelines, but in the unfolding of actual events as history progresses under God's sovereign hand.

This approach helps prevent the **premature conclusions and false assumptions** that have caused confusion and division throughout church history. Over the centuries, many individuals and groups have claimed to have unlocked the timeline of the End Times, only to find that their expectations did not align with reality. Jesus Himself warned against this in Matthew 24:36: "But about that day or hour no one knows, not even the angels in heaven, nor the Son, but only the Father." While Jesus gives signs and teachings related to the end, He emphasizes **watchfulness and readiness over detailed prediction**. The purpose is to cultivate faith, not obsession; discernment, not date-setting. In this way, God wisely guards His people from being distracted by speculative interpretations that could detract from more pressing spiritual responsibilities.

It's also essential to recognize that **God's will for us today** involves more than watching for signs—He calls us to **active faithfulness**, **obedience**, **and love**. Micah 6:8 reminds us that God requires us "to act justly and to love mercy and to walk humbly with your God." Similarly, Jesus 'parables about the end (e.g., the wise and foolish virgins in Matthew 25) focus not on knowing the exact timing of His return, but on being ready, holy, and committed to His work when He comes. Revelation itself is full of exhortations to the churches to repent, overcome sin, hold fast to truth, and endure suffering (see Revelation 2–3). These present-day commands take priority over deciphering the exact meaning of future events—because they concern our character, our witness, and our relationship with God right now.

Furthermore, the unfolding of prophetic events **in real time** often brings clarity that no amount of speculation can provide beforehand. Just as many Old Testament prophecies about the Messiah were misunderstood until Christ actually came, so too will many of the End Time prophecies be better understood **as they are fulfilled**. The early disciples didn't fully grasp Jesus 'mission until after His resurrection, even though He had told them what would happen. Likewise, as God's prophetic purposes come to pass in the future, they will bring a kind of divine hindsight—a clear lens through which believers can recognize, understand, and respond appropriately. This reinforces the idea that **discernment is best** 

**cultivated through closeness to God**, not through trying to unravel the future with human logic alone.

In light of this, our focus must remain on **being faithful stewards of God's present-day priorities**—living holy lives, sharing the gospel, loving our neighbors, and building up the Church. These are the clear and urgent commands of Scripture. Paul, writing to the Thessalonians about the return of Christ, urges them to "encourage one another and build each other up" (1 Thessalonians 5:11) and to live "alert and self-controlled" lives (5:6). In other words, knowledge about the future should **motivate present-day obedience**, not paralyze us with speculation. End Time awareness should make us more devoted to the mission of God, not less.

Ultimately, God's timing and methods are perfect. He has revealed enough to give us hope, assurance, and direction, while keeping the fullness of future events **under His sovereign control**. This fosters humility, dependence, and spiritual attentiveness. Rather than getting lost in predictions, we are called to live wisely and faithfully, trusting that **God will make all things clear in His time**, and until then, our greatest responsibility is to walk in His will today.

The Book of Revelation, or the Apocalypse of John, stands as one of the most symbolically rich and complex texts in the New Testament. Its vivid imagery, cryptic numbers, and sweeping visions have captivated and puzzled readers for centuries. A key reason for the ongoing debate about its timeline and interpretation lies in the variety of **eschatological frameworks** that Christians use when reading the text. For instance, a **preterist** interpretation views the events described in Revelation—such as the beast, tribulations, and judgment—as reflections of first-century events, particularly the destruction of Jerusalem in A.D. 70 and the persecution of Christians under Roman emperors like Nero or Domitian. Conversely, **futurist** interpreters believe that most of Revelation's prophecies are still to come, involving a future global tribulation, a personal Antichrist, and the literal return of Jesus Christ. These frameworks, deeply influenced by theological presuppositions and historical context, naturally lead to different understandings of the sequence and nature of end-time events.

A central interpretive challenge in Revelation is distinguishing between what should be taken **literally** and what should be understood **symbolically**. For example, Revelation 12 describes a "woman clothed with the sun" giving birth while a "great red dragon" seeks to devour her child. Few interpreters would take this as literal, instead viewing the woman as symbolic of Israel or the faithful people of God, and the dragon as Satan (as explicitly stated in 12:9). On the other hand, Revelation 19 speaks of the visible return of Christ, riding a white horse with a sword proceeding from His mouth—this event, while clothed in symbolic imagery, is generally understood by most orthodox Christians as representing a real, future return of Christ. This tension—between vision and event, symbol and reality—requires readers to carefully interpret the genre and theological intent of the passage in question.

The **structure of Revelation** further complicates attempts to construct a sequential timeline of end-time events. While the book appears to have a forward-moving narrative

at times, many scholars recognize it contains **cycles or parallel visions**—a literary technique known as **recapitulation**. For example, the judgments of the seven seals (ch. 6–8), the seven trumpets (ch. 8–11), and the seven bowls (ch. 15–16) each describe cosmic turmoil, divine wrath, and the collapse of worldly powers. Some interpreters suggest these are not consecutive events but different portrayals of the same period of divine judgment, seen from varying theological perspectives. This cyclical structure explains why the book can seem to "restart" its narrative focus several times, leading to confusion if read strictly as a linear, chronological prophecy.

One of the most debated sections is Revelation 20, which describes a **1,000-year reign** of Christ—the Millennium. The literal interpretation (Premillennialism) sees this as a future, earthly kingdom where Christ physically rules, following His second coming. In contrast, Amillennialism interprets the 1,000 years symbolically, representing the current church age in which Christ reigns spiritually through His people. Postmillennialism, on the other hand, expects a future golden age of Christian influence before Christ's return. The text itself does not clarify whether the Millennium is symbolic or literal, and the number "1,000" may simply represent completeness or a divinely appointed time. The absence of clear time markers and the highly symbolic nature of apocalyptic numbers (e.g., 7, 12, 144,000) has led to significantly divergent interpretations throughout church history.

\*\*\*The following list is not intended to and may not represent the exact order of events, and other Biblical interpretations and perspectives may also be valid. Moreover there are many metaphors. While studying eschatology is valuable, it should not become the central focus of following Jesus Christ. Our present day walk with Him should be rooted in loving God and others, growing in faith, walking in obedience, and living out the teachings of Jesus and His apostles. We are called to maintain an eternal perspective—one shaped by end-times teachings but not dominated by them.

# I. Past & Present Church Age (Already Fulfilled or Currently Happening)

# 1. Jesus – The Alpha and Omega (Revelation 1:8)

Revelation 1:8 states, "I am the Alpha and the Omega," says the Lord God, "who is and who was and who is to come, the Almighty." This verse stands as one of the most profound declarations of divine identity in all of Scripture. "Alpha" and "Omega" are the first and last letters of the Greek alphabet, symbolizing the completeness and totality of God's being and authority. When Jesus applies this title to Himself later in Revelation (1:17; 22:13), He is asserting His eternality and divinity — that He exists outside of time, encompassing all history from beginning to end. This is not merely a poetic phrase; it is a theological cornerstone affirming Christ's divine nature, preexistence, and unchangeable character. It links Him directly with the God of the Old Testament, who similarly declared, "I am the first and I am the last; apart from me there is no God" (Isaiah 44:6).

The verse also emphasizes God's sovereignty over time: "who is and who was and who is to come." This phrase reflects the divine constancy in a world marked by change and chaos. It affirms God's presence in the past, His engagement in the present, and His promise to be actively involved in the future. For early Christians facing persecution under the Roman Empire, this would have provided immense comfort. Despite the political upheaval and personal suffering, the eternal God — in Christ — was sovereign over all eras of history. Jesus, as Alpha and Omega, declares His supreme lordship not just over spiritual matters, but over history itself. His being encompasses every point of existence, assuring believers that He remains in control no matter what events unfold.

Additionally, this title positions Jesus not merely as a passive observer of time but as its very source and goal. As Alpha, He is the Creator through whom all things were made (John 1:1–3; Colossians 1:16). As Omega, He is the culmination and fulfillment of God's redemptive plan. Revelation, in particular, paints a cosmic vision of Christ as the Lamb who was slain yet reigns eternally, bringing history to its God-ordained climax. The idea of Jesus being both the origin and the destiny of all things echoes Paul's words in Romans 11:36: "For from him and through him and for him are all things." This teaches not only about Jesus 'power but also His purpose — to redeem, to judge, and ultimately to restore all creation. The Christian hope is not in a vague, open-ended future but in a future anchored in the victorious return of the Alpha and Omega.

Finally, the reference to "the Almighty" (Greek: *Pantokratōr*) in Revelation 1:8 underlines Jesus 'omnipotence. While some scholars debate whether this title in 1:8 refers directly to Jesus or God the Father, the language throughout Revelation increasingly shows their unity. Jesus 'later self-identification as Alpha and Omega (22:13) confirms that this divine name fully applies to Him. This is a key theme in Johannine theology: the oneness between the Father and the Son (cf. John 10:30). For believers, this revelation of Christ's eternal and almighty nature is not just doctrinal but deeply pastoral. It calls the Church to trust, worship, and persevere — knowing that Jesus, who has conquered death and reigns supreme, will bring all things to their consummation in righteousness and glory. In a world marred by brokenness, the Alpha and Omega assures us that the story is not random or hopeless but divinely authored and divinely completed.

# 2. Lucifer: The Fallen Angel and Another Name for Satan (Isaiah 14:12; Luke 10:18)

Lucifer: The Fallen Angel and Another Name for Satan - Last Days

Biblical Commentary on "Lucifer: The Fallen Angel and Another Name for Satan – Last Days"

The name *Lucifer* is traditionally associated with Satan, the great adversary of God and the deceiver of humanity. The origin of the name comes from Isaiah 14:12 (KJV): "How art thou fallen from heaven, O Lucifer, son of the morning!" The Hebrew word *helel*, meaning "shining one" or "morning star," was translated into Latin as *Lucifer*, which means "light-bringer." Though the context of Isaiah 14 is a taunt against the arrogant king

of Babylon, many early Christian interpreters saw in its lofty, cosmic language a double meaning—one that pointed not just to an earthly ruler, but to a spiritual being behind that ruler's pride and downfall. This dual layer of interpretation helped to shape the theological identification of Lucifer as Satan, a high-ranking angel who rebelled against God.

Other Scriptures support this identification, though they do not use the name *Lucifer*. Ezekiel 28:12–17 describes the "king of Tyre" in terms that seem to go far beyond any human monarch: "You were the signet of perfection, full of wisdom and perfect in beauty... You were blameless in your ways from the day you were created, till unrighteousness was found in you." The description of this being as having been in Eden and cast down from the "mountain of God" aligns with the understanding of Satan as a created, exalted angel who was corrupted by pride. Jesus Himself affirms this celestial rebellion in Luke 10:18: "I saw Satan fall like lightning from heaven," a statement that suggests a decisive fall from a former place of authority and light into one of judgment and ruin.

In the New Testament, Satan is clearly defined as the archenemy of God's people and the personification of evil. He is called "the god of this world" (2 Corinthians 4:4), "the prince of the power of the air" (Ephesians 2:2), and "the accuser of the brethren" (Revelation 12:10). Revelation 12 gives a symbolic vision of a great war in heaven, where "the dragon"—identified explicitly as "that ancient serpent, called the devil, or Satan"—is cast out of heaven along with his angels. This act signifies both a past rebellion and a final judgment yet to come. The Bible teaches that Satan currently prowls the earth (1 Peter 5:8), working through deception, temptation, and accusation. Yet his time is limited. Revelation 12:12 warns, "He is filled with fury, because he knows that his time is short."

In the Last Days, Satan's role reaches its climax as he furiously opposes God's kingdom and seeks to deceive the nations. The apostle Paul teaches that before Christ returns, a figure called "the man of lawlessness" will arise, empowered by Satan with false signs and wonders (2 Thessalonians 2:3–10). This Antichrist figure embodies Satan's final attempt to usurp God's authority on earth. Revelation 13 introduces "the beast" and "the false prophet," agents of Satan who lead global rebellion against God. But their end is assured. At Christ's return, Satan is bound (Revelation 20:1–3), and after a final rebellion, he is cast into the lake of fire forever (Revelation 20:10). This final judgment demonstrates God's absolute sovereignty and justice: the one who was once a bearer of light but became the father of lies will be eternally removed from God's renewed creation. The fall of Lucifer thus becomes a cautionary tale of pride and rebellion, while his final defeat marks the triumph of Christ, the true Morning Star (Revelation 22:16), who reigns forever with His saints.

As Christians, we understand that Satan was not always the enemy of God. He was once a glorious angel created by God, full of beauty, wisdom, and light. Before his fall, he was known as **Lucifer**, a name that means "light-bringer" or "morning star."

#### **Lucifer's Original Role**

God created Lucifer as one of His highest angels. Many believe he was an archangel who held a place of great authority and honor in heaven. He was perfect in beauty and full of wisdom, created to worship and serve God.

#### The Fall of Lucifer

However, Lucifer became proud. According to Scripture, he desired to elevate himself above God. In **Isaiah 14:12**, we read:

"How you are fallen from heaven, O Lucifer, son of the morning! How you are cut down to the ground, you who weakened the nations!" (NKJV)

Though this passage originally addressed the king of Babylon, Christians have long understood it to also describe Lucifer's rebellion. Pride filled his heart, and he sought to take God's throne. Because of this, God cast him out of heaven. This is confirmed in **Luke 10:18**, where Jesus says:

"I saw Satan fall like lightning from heaven."

#### From Lucifer to Satan

After his fall, Lucifer was no longer the bearer of light. He became Satan, which means "adversary" or "accuser." No longer serving God, he now works against Him, deceiving and tempting mankind. Revelation 12 speaks of a great war in heaven, where Satan and his angels (now demons) were cast out, further confirming his identity as a fallen angel.

### The Warning of Lucifer's Story

Lucifer's fall reminds us of the danger of pride and the importance of humility before God. It shows how even the most glorious of God's creations can fall if they turn against Him. As Christians, we are called to submit to God, resist the devil, and remain faithful, knowing that Jesus has already defeated Satan through the cross.

### **Understanding Satan: The Thief, Accuser, and Destroyer**

As Christians, we must be aware of the reality of spiritual warfare and the nature of our enemy, Satan. The Bible gives us a clear picture of who he is, what his intentions are, and how we are to stand against him through the power of Jesus Christ.

#### 1. Satan Comes to Steal, Kill, and Destroy

Jesus Himself warned us in **John 10:10**:

"The thief does not come except to steal, and to kill, and to destroy. I have come that they may have life, and that they may have it more abundantly." (NKJV)

Satan is that thief. His goal is to steal your joy, kill your hope, and destroy your soul. He works through deception, distraction, fear, temptation, and lies to separate people from God. But Jesus came to give us life—eternal, abundant, and full of truth.

#### 2. Satan Is the Accuser

In **Revelation 12:10**, the Bible tells us:

"For the accuser of our brethren, who accused them before our God day and night, has been cast down."

Satan constantly accuses God's people, trying to condemn us and make us feel unworthy of God's love. But through the blood of Jesus, we are forgiven, and no accusation can stand. As **Romans 8:1** says:

"There is therefore now no condemnation to those who are in Christ Jesus."

#### 3. Satan Is a Deceiver and a Liar

Jesus said in John 8:44:

"He was a murderer from the beginning, and does not stand in the truth, because there is no truth in him... for he is a liar and the father of it."

Satan's primary weapon is lies. He deceived Eve in the garden by twisting God's words, and he still deceives people today. But as Christians, we walk in the truth of God's Word, which exposes the enemy's lies.

### 4. How to Stand Against Satan

God doesn't leave us defenseless. In James 4:7, we are instructed:

"Submit to God. Resist the devil and he will flee from you."

And in **Ephesians 6**, we are told to put on the full armor of God so that we can stand against the devil's schemes.

### **Victory Is in Jesus**

Although Satan is powerful and dangerous, we do not fear him—because Jesus has already overcome him. On the cross, Christ defeated sin, death, and the devil. When we place our faith in Jesus, we are covered by His victory. **1 John 4:4** reminds us:

"He who is in you is greater than he who is in the world."

So yes, Satan comes to steal, kill, and destroy—but Jesus came to bring life. Satan accuses—but Jesus intercedes. Satan lies—but Jesus is the truth. And in Him, we are more than conquerors.

# 3. Jesus Is the Messiah (John 4:25–26)

**Biblical Commentary on "Jesus Is the Messiah"** 

The declaration that **Jesus is the Messiah** is one of the main doctrines of our Christian faith and the fulfillment of centuries of divine promise revealed in the Scriptures. The Hebrew word *Messiah* (מִשִּׁים, *Mashiach*) means "Anointed One," and its Greek equivalent is *Christos* (Χριστός), from which we get the name "Christ." Throughout the Old Testament, God promised to send a Savior—an anointed King, Prophet, and Priest—who would deliver His people, establish righteousness, and reign forever (Isaiah 9:6–7; Daniel 7:13–14; Micah 5:2). These promises pointed to one figure who would be both human and divine, rejected and exalted, suffering and triumphant. The New Testament boldly proclaims that this promised One is **Jesus of Nazareth**.

Jesus did not merely claim to be the Messiah—He **fulfilled** the messianic prophecies in precise and profound ways. He was born in **Bethlehem** (Micah 5:2; Matthew 2:1), from the **tribe of Judah** (Genesis 49:10; Hebrews 7:14), and descended from **David's royal line** (2 Samuel 7:12–13; Luke 1:32–33). He performed miracles that matched messianic expectations: healing the blind, raising the dead, and preaching good news to the poor (Isaiah 35:5–6; Luke 4:18–21). More than that, Jesus fulfilled the **suffering servant role** prophesied in Isaiah 53, bearing the sins of many, being pierced for transgressions, and

dying to bring salvation. His crucifixion was not a failure of His messianic mission—it was the very heart of it (Mark 10:45).

The testimony of Jesus' **resurrection** further confirms His identity as the Messiah. The apostle Paul declared that Jesus "was declared to be the Son of God in power... by His resurrection from the dead" (Romans 1:4). Peter, on the day of Pentecost, preached that God raised Jesus and exalted Him to His right hand, proving that "God has made Him both Lord and Christ, this Jesus whom you crucified" (Acts 2:36). The early Church saw the resurrection as God's public vindication of Jesus 'messianic role and divine Sonship. Through the resurrection, Jesus conquered sin and death, securing eternal life for all who believe in Him.

Finally, Jesus 'ongoing work and promised return affirm His identity as the true Messiah. Though He first came in humility to suffer and redeem, He will return in glory to reign and judge (Matthew 24:30; Revelation 19:11–16). His Kingdom, already present in the hearts of believers, will be fully established in the new heavens and new earth. Until that day, the call remains the same: to believe in Him as the promised One. As Peter confessed, "You are the Christ, the Son of the living God" (Matthew 16:16). Jesus is not one messiah among many—He is the **only** Messiah, the fulfillment of God's covenant promises and the Savior of the world (John 4:25–26; John 20:31).

# 4. The Kingdom of God (Matthew 4:17)

### The Kingdom of God

Every earthly Kingdom has failed or been destroyed, however the Kingdom of God is at hand, and Jesus Christ is the King of Kings, and His Kingdom will last forever.

As Christians, we have the privilege to enter and live in the Kingdom of God; This is the very place where Jesus Christ will rule and reign throughout eternity. Jesus Christ's first message preached was "Repent, for the Kingdom of God is at hand."

The Kingdom of God is for the people of all nations, including Hawaiians, Chinese, Tongans, Samoans, Japanese, Blacks, Hispanics, Whites, Indians, and for anyone who accepts Jesus Christ as their Lord and Savior;

As we accept Jesus as our Lord, through prayer, believing, confessing Him as Lord, and by following Him as Lord, we can spiritually even enter now the Kingdom of God.

### Biblical Commentary on "The Kingdom of God"

The Kingdom of God is one of the most central and far-reaching themes in all of Scripture. It encompasses God's sovereign reign over all creation, His redemptive work in human history, and His ultimate purpose of restoring all things under Christ. The phrase itself appears prominently in the New Testament, especially in the teachings of Jesus, though its foundation is deeply rooted in the Old Testament. From the beginning, God has been portrayed as King (Psalm 47:2, Isaiah 6:5), ruling in justice, righteousness, and holiness. The prophets foresaw a day when God would establish His rule openly and decisively, bringing peace, justice, and restoration to a broken world. This hope for a coming reign

of God—often referred to as the "Day of the Lord"—found its fulfillment in the arrival of Jesus Christ, who inaugurated the Kingdom in His life, death, and resurrection.

Jesus 'first public proclamation was: "The time is fulfilled, and the kingdom of God is at hand; repent and believe in the gospel" (Mark 1:15). With these words, He declared that the long-awaited reign of God had broken into the world through His own presence and mission. The Kingdom of God is not first a political or geographic realm but a dynamic reality where God's will is done, His rule is embraced, and His redemption is unfolding. Through His miracles, exorcisms, teachings, and authority over nature, Jesus demonstrated that the Kingdom had indeed arrived in power. Yet He also taught that it was not coming all at once. In parables such as the mustard seed and the leaven (Matthew 13), He revealed that the Kingdom would grow gradually, often unnoticed, until its full revelation at the end of the age.

The Kingdom of God is both *already* and *not yet*. It is already present in the hearts and lives of those who submit to Christ's lordship, and it is experienced wherever God's justice, mercy, and truth are lived out. Romans 14:17 defines the Kingdom as "righteousness and peace and joy in the Holy Spirit." Through the Church, the Kingdom continues to advance—not by force, but by the proclamation of the gospel, the transformation of lives, and the witness of holy living. Yet, the Kingdom is not yet fully realized. Sin, death, and Satan still operate in the world. That is why Jesus taught His followers to pray, "Your kingdom come, your will be done on earth as it is in heaven" (Matthew 6:10). This prayer reflects both the yearning for God's reign to increase now and the hope for its ultimate fulfillment when Christ returns in glory.

At the Second Coming of Christ, the Kingdom of God will be fully and visibly established. Revelation 11:15 declares, "The kingdom of the world has become the kingdom of our Lord and of His Christ, and He shall reign forever and ever." In that day, every rival kingdom will be overthrown, and every knee will bow to the authority of Jesus (Philippians 2:10–11). The final vision of the Bible is one of consummation: God dwelling with His people, sin eradicated, creation restored, and Christ reigning without opposition (Revelation 21–22). The Kingdom of God is therefore both a present reality and a future hope, both spiritual and universal, both inward and cosmic. It calls believers to loyal citizenship under King Jesus, to live now as faithful subjects of His reign, and to long for the day when "the earth will be filled with the knowledge of the glory of the Lord as the waters cover the sea" (Habakkuk 2:14).

#### **KEY SCRIPTURES**

**John 14:2** In my Father's house are many mansions; if it were not so, I would have told you. I go to prepare a place for you.

**Revelation 11:15** The seventh angel sounded; and there were great voices in heaven, saying, The kingdoms of this world have become the kingdoms of our Lord, and of his Christ; and He shall reign for ever and ever.

**2 Peter 1:4-11** For by these He has granted to us His precious and magnificent promises, in order that by them you make become partakers of the divine nature, having escaped the corruption that is in the world by lust. Now for this very reason also, applying all diligence, supplement your faith with moral excellence, and in moral excellence, knowledge, and in your knowledge, self-control, and in your self-control, perseverance, and in your perseverance, godliness; and in your godliness, brotherly kindness, and in your brotherly kindness, love.

For if these qualities are yours and are increasing, they will neither render you useless nor unfruitful in the true knowledge of our Lord Jesus Christ. For he who lacks these qualities is blind or short-sighted, having forgotten his purification from his former sins. Therefore, brethren, be all the more diligent to make certain about His calling and choosing you; for as long as you practice these things, you will never stumble; For in this way the entrance into the eternal Kingdom of our Lord and Savior Jesus Christ will be abundantly supplied to you.

**Luke 17:20-24** Once, on being asked by the Pharisees when the kingdom of God would come, Jesus replied, "The coming of the kingdom of God is not something that can be observed, 21 nor will people say, 'Here it is, 'or 'There it is,' because the kingdom of God is in your midst." 22 Then he said to his disciples, "The time is coming when you will long to see one of the days of the Son of Man, but you will not see it. 23 People will tell you, 'There he is! 'or 'Here he is! 'Do not go running off after them. 24 For the Son of Man in his day will be like the lightning, which flashes and lights up the sky from one end to the other.

25 But first he must suffer many thingsand be rejected by this generation.

26 "Just as it was in the days of Noah, so also will it be in the days of the Son of Man. 27 People were eating, drinking, marrying and being given in marriage up to the day Noah entered the ark. Then the flood came and destroyed them all.

28 "It was the same in the days of Lot. People were eating and drinking, buying and selling, planting and building. 29 But the day Lot left Sodom, fire and sulfur rained down from heaven and destroyed them all.

30 "It will be just like this on the day the Son of Man is revealed. 31 On that day no one who is on the housetop, with possessions inside, should go down to get them. Likewise, no one in the field should go back for anything. 32 Remember Lot's wife! 33 Whoever tries to keep their life will lose it, and whoever loses their life will preserve it. 34 I tell you, on that night two people will be in one bed; one will be taken and the other left. 35 Two women will be grinding grain together; one will be taken and the other left."

37 "Where, Lord?" they asked.

He replied, "Where there is a dead body, there the vultures will gather."

**Matthew 12:25-28** Jesus knew their thoughts and said to them, "Every kingdom divided against itself will be ruined, and every city or household divided against itself will not stand. 26 If Satan drives out Satan, he is divided against himself. How then can his kingdom stand? 27 And if I drive out demons by Beelzebul, by whom do your people drive them out? So then, they will be your judges. 28 But if it is by the Spirit of God that I drive out demons, **then the kingdom of God has come upon you.** 

### THE KINGDOM OF GOD, HEAVEN

Mark 1:15 The time is fulfilled, and the Kingdom of God is at hand; repent and believe in the gospel.

**Psalm 145:13** Your kingdom is an everlasting kingdom, and your dominion endures through all generations. **The Lord is faithful to all His promises** and loving toward all He has made.

**Luke 22:28** And you are those who have stood by Me in My trials; 22:29 and just as My Father has granted Me a Kingdom, I grant you

22:30 That you may eat and drink at My table in My Kingdom, and you will sit on thrones judging the twelve tribes of Israel.

**Luke 9:62** But Jesus said to him," No one, after putting his hand to the plow and looking back, is fit for the Kingdom of God.

Matthew 5:15-20 Neither do people light a lamp and put it under a bowl. Instead they put it on its stand, and it gives light to everyone in the house. 16 In the same way, let your light shine before others, that they may see your good deeds and glorify your Father in heaven. The Fulfillment of the Law 17 "Do not think that I have come to abolish the Law or the Prophets; I have not come to abolish them but to fulfill them. 18 For truly I tell you, until heaven and earth disappear, not the smallest letter, not the least stroke of a pen, will by any means disappear from the Law until everything is accomplished. 19 Therefore anyone who sets aside one of the least of these commands and teaches others accordingly will be called least in the kingdom of heaven, but whoever practices and teaches these commands will be called great in the kingdom of heaven. 20 For I tell you that unless your righteousness surpasses that of the Pharisees and the teachers of the law, you will certainly not enter the kingdom of heaven.

**Matthew 18:1-6** At that time the disciples came to Jesus and said, "Who then is greatest in the kingdom of heaven?" 2 And He called a child to Himself and set him before them, 3 and said, "Truly I say to you, unless you are converted and become like children, you will not enter the kingdom of heaven. 4 Whoever then humbles himself as this child, he is the greatest in the kingdom of heaven. 5 And whoever receives one such child in My name receives Me; 6 but whoever causes one of these little ones who believe in Me to stumble, it would be better for him to have a heavy millstone hung around his neck, and to be drowned in the depth of the sea.

**Matthew 5:3** - Blessed are the poor in spirit, for theirs is the kingdom of heaven.

**Matthew 5:10** - "Blessed are those who have been persecuted for the sake of righteousness, for theirs is the kingdom of heaven.

Mark 4: 26-28 - He also said, "This is what the kingdom of God is like. A man scatters seed on the ground. 27 Night and day, whether he sleeps or gets up, the seed sprouts

and grows, though he does not know how. 28 All by itself the soil produces grain—first the stalk, then the head, then the full kernel in the head. 29 As soon as the grain is ripe, he puts the sickle to it, because the harvest has come."

# 5. The Seven Spirits Before the Throne (Revelation 1:4; Revelation 4:5)

- The Spirit of the Lord,
- The Spirit of wisdom,
- · The Spirit of understanding,
- The Spirit of counsel,
- · The Spirit of might,
- The Spirit of knowledge,
- The Spirit of the fear of the Lord."

#### Biblical Commentary on "The Seven Spirits Before the Throne"

The phrase "the Seven Spirits before the throne" appears multiple times in the Book of Revelation, notably in Revelation 1:4, 3:1, 4:5, and 5:6. This striking term is symbolic, rich with theological depth, and rooted in Old Testament imagery. While some interpret it as referring to seven distinct angelic beings, a more widely accepted interpretation within biblical scholarship and traditional Christian theology is that the Seven Spirits represent the fullness and perfection of the Holy Spirit. This symbolic language conveys not seven separate spirits, but the complete and multifaceted nature of the one Holy Spirit who proceeds from God's throne and is active in the work of redemption and judgment.

In **Revelation 1:4**, the apostle John greets the seven churches with grace and peace "from Him who is, and who was, and who is to come, and from the seven spirits who are before His throne." This greeting mirrors the triune Godhead: from the Father (eternal), the Spirit (sevenfold), and Jesus Christ (the faithful witness). The position of the Seven Spirits "before the throne" emphasizes their **divine origin, authority, and presence**, as well as their role in ministering throughout the earth. This passage sets the tone for the rest of Revelation, showing that the Spirit is not absent in the unfolding of end-time events but is **actively involved** in God's judgment, conviction, and comfort to His people.

The key background for this imagery comes from **Isaiah 11:2**, where the Spirit that rests upon the Messiah is described in seven aspects: "The Spirit of the Lord shall rest upon Him, the Spirit of wisdom and understanding, the Spirit of counsel and might, the Spirit of knowledge and the fear of the Lord." When counted, these attributes (with "the Spirit of the Lord" as the first) total seven, offering a symbolic portrait of the Spirit's **complete** 

work in empowering and guiding the Messiah. John, steeped in Old Testament imagery, draws on this passage to show that the Holy Spirit is fully operative in Christ's ministry and in God's plan for the end times.

In Revelation 4:5, the Seven Spirits are again mentioned, this time described as "seven blazing lamps" before God's throne. This hearkens back to the lampstand in the tabernacle (Exodus 25:37) and to Zechariah 4:2–6, where seven lamps are tied to the Spirit of God, and the prophet is told, "Not by might nor by power, but by My Spirit." In Revelation, these blazing lamps signify the Spirit's illuminating presence, searching the earth, convicting, and revealing truth. Again in Revelation 5:6, the Lamb (Jesus) is described as having "seven eyes, which are the seven Spirits of God sent out into all the earth." This vivid symbolism portrays the Spirit as omniscient and omnipresent, seeing all and acting on behalf of the Lamb in carrying out the will of God across the earth.

#### Theological and Eschatological Significance:

The Seven Spirits before the throne symbolize the **perfect**, **omnipotent work of the Holy Spirit** in the administration of God's kingdom, judgment, and redemption. The number seven conveys fullness, completion, and divine perfection. This image reinforces the **active role of the Spirit in the end times**, not only empowering the Church and anointing the Lamb but also participating in the unfolding of divine justice. While the Book of Revelation focuses heavily on visions of Christ and apocalyptic events, these references remind readers that **the Holy Spirit is not silent or absent**—He is before the throne, central in God's plans, and at work in the world.

For believers, this truth brings encouragement and awe. The Spirit who convicts, comforts, and empowers is not merely a passive force but stands before the throne of Almighty God, blazing with light, seeing all things, and sent out into the earth. The Church, empowered by this Spirit, is called to remain faithful, discerning, and bold in a world destined for judgment. The Seven Spirits before the throne are a heavenly reminder that God's power is complete, His presence is real, and His Spirit is working even now to bring about the final fulfillment of His promises.

# 6. The Fig Tree Parable (Matthew 24:32–33)

**Biblical Commentary on "The Fig Tree Parable"** 

The Parable of the Fig Tree, found in Matthew 24:32–35, Mark 13:28–31, and Luke 21:29–33, is a short but powerful teaching from Jesus during His Olivet Discourse, just before His crucifixion. It is presented as a lesson in discernment and watchfulness, especially concerning the timing of end-time events. Jesus says, "From the fig tree learn its lesson: as soon as its branch becomes tender and puts out its leaves, you know that summer is near. So also, when you see all these things, you know that He is near, at the very gates." This parable serves as a **prophetic warning**, urging believers to recognize the signs that indicate His return is close.

In its **agricultural imagery**, the parable draws from the everyday experience of Jesus' audience in first-century Israel. The fig tree was common in the land and among the last trees to bloom before summer. Its leaves were a clear sign that the warm season was approaching. Jesus uses this natural process to illustrate the principle that **visible signs precede significant events**. Likewise, when His followers begin to see the signs He described earlier in the chapter—wars, famines, earthquakes, persecution, false prophets, the abomination of desolation, and cosmic disturbances—they are to understand that **the return of the Son of Man is near**.

Theologically, this parable emphasizes **spiritual alertness**. Jesus is not encouraging date-setting, but rather **discernment**. Just as people naturally interpret the change of seasons, disciples are to be **spiritually aware of prophetic developments**. The phrase "this generation will not pass away until all these things take place" has sparked much discussion. Some interpret "generation" as the people alive at the time of Jesus, while others view it as referring to the generation that witnesses the end-time signs—indicating that once these things begin, they will unfold swiftly. Still others see it as referring to the Jewish people, who will endure until the return of Christ. Regardless of interpretation, the emphasis is clear: **God's word will stand**, and His promises will be fulfilled.

Eschatologically, the Fig Tree Parable is a **call to readiness**. It assures believers that while no one knows the exact day or hour (Matthew 24:36), the return of Christ will not come without warning. It will be preceded by unmistakable global and cosmic signs. The parable urges the faithful to live in **watchfulness and obedience**, not slumber or complacency. In a world prone to distraction, Jesus reminds His followers that His return is not a vague hope but a **certainty grounded in observable realities**. The fig tree's lesson is simple: when signs appear, don't ignore them—**be ready, for the King is near**. The Parable of the Fig Tree teaches the Church to live with **eyes wide open and hearts anchored in hope**. Just as the leaves signal a seasonal shift, the prophetic signs remind believers that history is moving toward its divine conclusion. This parable challenges us not to fear the end, but to prepare for it with holiness, urgency, and hope. Jesus will return, and for those who are watching, His coming will not be a surprise but a long-awaited fulfillment of God's eternal promise.

# 7. The Warning to Watch and Be Ready (Matthew 24:42–44)

The Warning to Watch and Be Ready

# Biblical Commentary on "The Warning to Watch and Be Ready"

The recurring biblical warning to "watch and be ready" comes from Jesus Himself and is a central theme in His teachings on the end times, especially in the Olivet Discourse (Matthew 24–25, Mark 13, Luke 21). Jesus urges His followers to live in a state of constant spiritual vigilance, emphasizing that no one knows the day or hour of His return (Matthew 24:36). This call to readiness is not merely about being informed, but

about being **obedient**, **alert**, **and faithful** in a world that is increasingly dark and distracted. The warning is given out of love—to awaken the Church to its role in a critical hour of redemptive history.

In **Matthew 24:42–44**, Jesus says, "Therefore stay awake, for you do not know on what day your Lord is coming." He illustrates the point with a parable about a house owner who would have stayed awake if he knew a thief was coming. Likewise, Jesus warns that His return will be **sudden and unexpected**, like a thief in the night (cf. 1 Thessalonians 5:2). The emphasis here is on **preparedness**, **not prediction**. Jesus isn't concerned with His followers setting dates or deciphering codes, but rather with their **daily posture of readiness**, shaped by faithfulness and holy living.

The warning to watch is further expanded in **Matthew 25**, with three parables: the **Parable of the Ten Virgins**, the **Parable of the Talents**, and the **Parable of the Sheep and the Goats**. In each, those who are prepared and actively engaged in their responsibilities are welcomed into the kingdom, while those who are careless or indifferent are excluded. The virgins who lacked oil represent those who **profess faith but lack spiritual preparedness**. The servant who buries his talent represents someone who, though given opportunity, refuses to serve the Master. The final judgment scene divides people based on how they treated "the least of these," emphasizing that **watching involves practical, compassionate action** in the present.

Eschatologically, the warning to watch and be ready serves as a **protective and refining call to the Church**. It reminds believers that in a time of deception, persecution, and moral decline, spiritual alertness is essential. Being ready means **abiding in Christ**, living by the Word, filled with the Spirit, and not entangled in the cares of this world. The coming of Christ will be a day of joy for those who are watching—but a day of sorrow for the unprepared. Jesus concludes with these powerful words: "Blessed is that servant whom his master will find so doing when he comes" (Matthew 24:46). Readiness is not passive; it is a life of **active obedience and enduring faith**.

#### **Spiritual Reflection:**

Jesus 'warning to watch and be ready is not given to instill fear, but to ignite **hopeful urgency**. In a culture tempted to grow complacent, Jesus calls His followers to live with **eternal purpose**, knowing that each day could be the one in which He returns. Watching means we don't let our lamps go out, our hands grow idle, or our hearts grow cold. It is a summons to wakefulness—to live as people of the light, clothed in righteousness, and filled with expectation. For the vigilant, His return will not be a surprise but a long-awaited **homecoming**.

# 8. The Seven Churches of Revelation (Revelation 2–3) The Seven Churches – Revelation 2–3

Each message follows a pattern:

- 1. A **title** of Christ
- 2. A **commendation** (except two churches get no praise)
- 3. A **rebuke** (except two churches are not rebuked)
- 4. A warning/exhortation
- 5. A **promise** to the one who overcomes

# 1. Ephesus – The Loveless Church

- Reference: Revelation 2:1–7
- Commendation: Hard work, perseverance, rejection of false apostles
- Rebuke: Lost their first love
- Exhortation: Repent and do the first works
- Promise: Eat from the tree of life

## 2. Smyrna - The Persecuted Church

- Reference: Revelation 2:8–11
- **Commendation:** Endured suffering and poverty (yet spiritually rich)
- Rebuke: None
- Exhortation: Be faithful unto death
- Promise: Crown of life; will not be hurt by the second death

# 3. Pergamum – The Compromising Church

- Reference: Revelation 2:12–17
- Commendation: Held fast to Christ's name, did not deny the faith
- **Rebuke:** Tolerated false teaching (Balaam, Nicolaitans)
- Exhortation: Repent
- **Promise:** Hidden manna, white stone with a new name

# 4. Thyatira – The Corrupt Church

• **Reference:** Revelation 2:18–29

Commendation: Love, faith, service, endurance

• **Rebuke:** Tolerated **Jezebel** (false prophetess)

• **Exhortation:** Hold fast what you have

Promise: Authority over nations, the morning star

#### 5. Sardis - The Dead Church

• **Reference:** Revelation 3:1–6

Commendation: A few have not defiled their garments

Rebuke: Reputation of being alive, but are spiritually dead

• **Exhortation:** Wake up, strengthen what remains

Promise: Clothed in white, name not blotted out from the Book of Life

# 6. Philadelphia - The Faithful Church

• **Reference:** Revelation 3:7–13

Commendation: Kept God's word, did not deny His name

Rebuke: None

Exhortation: Hold fast what you have

• **Promise:** Made a pillar in God's temple, given a new name

#### 7. Laodicea – The Lukewarm Church

Reference: Revelation 3:14–22

Commendation: None

• **Rebuke:** Lukewarm—neither hot nor cold; spiritually blind, poor, and naked

• **Exhortation:** Be zealous and repent

• **Promise:** Sit with Christ on His throne

### The 7 Churches of Revelation (and their eschatological warnings)

# Biblical Commentary on "The 7 Churches of Revelation (and Their Eschatological Warnings)"

In **Revelation chapters 2 and 3**, Jesus Christ gives personal messages to **seven churches in Asia Minor**—Ephesus, Smyrna, Pergamum, Thyatira, Sardis, Philadelphia, and Laodicea. These letters are both **historical** (addressing real congregations of the first century) and **prophetic**, offering timeless instruction, correction, and encouragement to the universal Church. Eschatologically, they provide **warnings and insights into the spiritual conditions** that will be present in the last days. Jesus, the risen Lord, speaks to each church with intimate knowledge, praising what is right, rebuking what is wrong, and calling for repentance before His return.

- 1. Ephesus (Revelation 2:1–7) The church known for sound doctrine and hard work, yet Jesus rebukes them for having "left your first love." This is a warning against cold orthodoxy—correct theology without deep affection for Christ. Eschatologically, it serves as a reminder that in the end times, love will grow cold (Matthew 24:12). Jesus calls the church to remember, repent, and return to Him, or He will remove their lampstand—symbolizing the loss of their witness and spiritual vitality.
- 2. Smyrna (Revelation 2:8–11) This persecuted church receives no rebuke, only encouragement. They are warned of increased tribulation and suffering, including imprisonment and even death. Jesus tells them, "Be faithful unto death, and I will give you the crown of life." This church represents faithfulness in persecution, pointing to the suffering that many believers will face in the end times under the reign of the Antichrist and global hostility to the gospel. The eschatological reward is clear: those who overcome will not be hurt by the second death.
- 3. Pergamum (Revelation 2:12–17) Though faithful in some areas, this church is tolerating false teachings, such as those of Balaam and the Nicolaitans, which involve idolatry and immorality. This warns of spiritual compromise that can corrupt a church from within. In the end times, such deception will be widespread (1 Timothy 4:1; 2 Peter 2:1). Christ calls for repentance, or He will come with "the sword of His mouth"—judgment through His word. To the faithful, He promises hidden manna and a white stone with a new name, symbolizing eternal provision and identity.
- 4. Thyatira (Revelation 2:18–29) Thyatira is praised for its works and love, but is condemned for tolerating the prophetess Jezebel, who leads people into sexual sin and idolatry. This reflects the danger of false prophetic influence and moral compromise, which will characterize much of the church in the last days

(Revelation 17). Jesus warns of severe judgment if they do not repent. To the overcomers, He promises **authority over the nations** and the **morning star**—symbolic of Christ Himself and participation in His millennial reign.

- 5. Sardis (Revelation 3:1–6) Sardis has a reputation for being alive, but is spiritually dead. Jesus tells them to wake up and strengthen what remains. This is a warning against superficial religion—churches that appear vibrant outwardly but are inwardly lifeless. In the last days, many will have a form of godliness but deny its power (2 Timothy 3:5). Jesus urges watchfulness, reminding them He will come like a thief. The faithful few are promised white garments and the assurance that their names will not be blotted from the Book of Life.
- 6. Philadelphia (Revelation 3:7–13) This church is faithful and enduring, though it has "little strength." Jesus opens a door for them that no one can shut, a picture of divine opportunity and mission. He commends their perseverance and promises to keep them "from the hour of trial that is coming upon the whole world"—often interpreted as a pre-tribulation rapture promise. The overcomers will be pillars in God's temple and bear His name forever. Philadelphia represents the faithful remnant who will endure and be preserved in the last days.
- 7. Laodicea (Revelation 3:14–22) The final church is lukewarm, neither hot nor cold, and is characterized by pride, self-sufficiency, and spiritual blindness. Jesus threatens to spit them out of His mouth if they do not repent. This is a sobering picture of the apostate church of the last days—rich in worldly goods but poor in spirit. Christ lovingly calls them to buy refined gold (true righteousness), white garments (purity), and eye salve (spiritual insight). He stands at the door and knocks, calling individuals to return to fellowship with Him. To those who overcome, He promises a seat with Him on His throne.

#### **Eschatological Summary:**

These seven churches collectively **foreshadow the spiritual conditions** that will be present in the final era before Christ's return: persecution (Smyrna), compromise (Pergamum), immorality (Thyatira), dead religion (Sardis), apostasy (Laodicea), and a faithful remnant (Philadelphia and parts of Ephesus). Jesus 'words are urgent and loving: **"He who has an ear, let him hear what the Spirit says to the churches."** These letters are a wake-up call for the Church today to remain faithful, watchful, and fervent in love for Christ as the day of His return draws near.

# II. Prelude to the Tribulation

# 9. Rise of False Christs and False Prophets (Matthew 24:5,11)

Matthew 24:5 and 11 warn, "For many will come in My name, saying, 'I am the Christ, 'and will deceive many," and, "Then many false prophets will rise up and deceive many." These verses are part of Jesus 'Olivet Discourse, where He outlines the signs of the end times to His disciples. The rise of false Christs and false prophets is presented not merely as a peripheral issue, but as a central and repeated danger throughout the last days. The phrase "many will come" emphasizes the widespread nature of this deception. It's not isolated to a few rogue voices but a broad, dangerous trend. These deceivers will use the name of Christ, claiming divine authority, and will not simply mislead a few — Jesus says they will deceive many. This highlights the spiritual vulnerability of people in times of fear, uncertainty, or religious fervor, where impostors can easily exploit hope or desperation.

False Christs refer to individuals who claim to be the Messiah or a special manifestation of Christ. History is replete with such figures, from Simon bar Kokhba in the second century to more recent claimants like Sun Myung Moon or others within fringe sects. These individuals often mix some truth with dangerous error, cloaking their lies in religious language. The tragedy is that many people follow them sincerely, believing they are pursuing righteousness or divine revelation. Jesus 'words are a direct challenge to discernment. They warn that not everyone who uses His name is of Him (cf. Matthew 7:21–23). These false messiahs mimic Christ's role as Savior, claiming exclusive authority or a new spiritual revelation, but they ultimately lead people away from the true Gospel and the person of Jesus revealed in Scripture.

False prophets, distinct yet related to false Christs, are those who claim to speak on God's behalf but teach error, perform counterfeit signs, or distort divine truth. In biblical history, false prophets were often popular and well-received, because they told people what they wanted to hear (Jeremiah 23:16–17; Ezekiel 13). In the end times, according to Jesus, their rise will coincide with increased deception, lawlessness, and spiritual confusion. What makes these individuals so dangerous is their ability to appear authentic. Jesus warns elsewhere that false prophets may even perform signs and wonders that could deceive "even the elect" (Matthew 24:24). This underscores the necessity for spiritual vigilance, scriptural literacy, and the testing of all teachings against the Word of God (1 John 4:1). Emotional experiences or miraculous claims must never be the basis for theological truth.

Ultimately, these warnings serve both a prophetic and pastoral purpose. Jesus forewarns the Church so that His followers will not be caught off guard. His intention is not to stir fear, but to cultivate faithfulness and watchfulness. In a pluralistic and increasingly relativistic age, where spiritual claims abound and truth is often subjective, the rise of false Christs and prophets calls believers to a deeper grounding in Scripture and a closer relationship with the true Christ. The Church must be marked by discernment, humility, and a commitment to sound doctrine. In a world filled with voices claiming divine authority, only the voice of the Good Shepherd leads to life — and His sheep know and follow His

voice (John 10:27). This call to vigilance remains just as urgent today as it was on the Mount of Olives when Jesus first issued the warning.

# 10. Apostasy in the Church (2 Thessalonians 2:3)

#### **APOSTASY**

During these last days, Christians should be aware of what is happening around them and some of what is to come; By knowing certain future events helps us keep everything in perspective and to be better prepared to meet Jesus Christ.

"Apostasy" is a word that refers to the great falling away of those who once believed in Jesus Christ but chose to deny Him and follow after their beliefs, doctrines of men, and loved sin over obeying and following Jesus Christ or who were just lukewarm in their faith towards God.

Apostasy is when a person departs from the Christian faith and never repents or follows after Jesus Christ again in a sincere manner.

#### **Biblical Commentary on "Apostasy"**

**Apostasy**, in biblical terms, refers to a willful falling away from the truth of God—a deliberate rejection of the faith once professed or the abandonment of sound doctrine and obedience to God's Word. It is not merely a moment of doubt or weakness, but a hardened turning away from God after having been exposed to the truth. The Greek word *apostasia* used in **2 Thessalonians 2:3** literally means "departure" or "rebellion," and Paul uses it to describe a spiritual falling away that will precede the revealing of the Antichrist: "Let no one deceive you in any way. For that day will not come unless the rebellion (*apostasia*) comes first." This apostasy is a prophetic sign of the end times, signaling widespread rejection of God, Scripture, and moral truth, even within religious institutions.

The New Testament contains numerous warnings against apostasy. 1 Timothy 4:1 says, "Now the Spirit expressly says that in later times some will depart from the faith by devoting themselves to deceitful spirits and teachings of demons." Here, apostasy is shown as not only a rejection of truth but an embracing of false, spiritually dangerous ideologies. In **Hebrews 6:4–6**, the writer speaks of those who have "once been enlightened" and "tasted the heavenly gift" yet fall away, declaring that it is "impossible" to renew them to repentance while they remain in such a state. These sobering passages illustrate the seriousness of apostasy—not as a momentary lapse, but as a persistent turning away from God's grace and truth, often in favor of worldly philosophies, idolatry, or cultural pressures.

Apostasy often begins with subtle compromises. The **Book of Jude** describes apostates as "ungodly people, who pervert the grace of our God into sensuality and deny our only Master and Lord, Jesus Christ" (Jude 1:4). It warns believers to contend for the faith and stay rooted in the truth, as false teachers creep in unnoticed. Apostasy is frequently linked with deception and self-deception—those who fall away often believe they are

enlightened or progressive, when in fact they are distancing themselves from Christ. Jesus also warned of this in **Matthew 24:10–12**, predicting that in the last days, "many will fall away and betray one another... and because lawlessness will be increased, the love of many will grow cold." Apostasy is thus fueled by pressure, deception, and increasing rebellion against God's authority.

Yet, while Scripture warns of apostasy, it also **calls true believers to persevere** in faith and truth. Jesus said, "The one who endures to the end will be saved" (Matthew 24:13). Apostasy does not describe a believer who struggles, sins, or has questions—it describes one who **ultimately walks away from the faith** and embraces a life or belief system in contradiction to the gospel. This highlights the importance of sound teaching, accountability, and the ongoing work of the Holy Spirit in preserving God's people. Apostasy serves as a grave warning but also as a call to vigilance, prayer, and perseverance. In the face of rising deception and opposition to truth, God's people are urged to hold fast to the Word, stay rooted in Christ, and guard their hearts with all diligence (Proverbs 4:23).

#### **KEY SCRIPTURES**

- **1 Timothy 4:1,2** But the Spirit explicitly says that in the later times some will fall away from the faith, paying attention to deceitful spirits and doctrines of demons, 4:2 by means of the hypocrisy of liars, seared in their own conscience, as with a branding iron.
- **2 Thessalonians.. 2:1** Now we request you, brethren, with regard to the coming of the Lord Jesus Christ, and our gathering together to Him, 2:2 that you may not be quickly shaken from your composure or be disturbed either by a spirit or a message or a letter as if from us, to the effect that the day of the Lord has come.
- 2:3 Let no one in any way deceive you, for it will not come unless the apostasy comes first, and the man of lawlessness is revealed, the son of destruction,

Apostasy, or the abandonment of one's religious faith, is addressed in various passages within the Bible, particularly in the New Testament. The term is derived from the Greek word "apostasia," meaning a defection, rebellion, or abandonment of a previously held belief. Scriptural references provide warnings, explanations, and consequences associated with apostasy.

One key passage that addresses the possibility of apostasy is found in Hebrews 6:4-6: "For it is impossible, in the case of those who have once been enlightened, who have tasted the heavenly gift, and have shared in the Holy Spirit, and have tasted the goodness of the word of God and the powers of the age to come, and then have fallen away, to restore them again to repentance, since they are crucifying once again the Son of God to their own harm and holding him up to contempt." This passage suggests a severe consequence for those who, having experienced the transformative power of the Gospel, turn away from it.

Another warning against apostasy is present in 2 Peter 2:20-22, which states, "For if, after they have escaped the defilements of the world through the knowledge of our Lord and Savior Jesus Christ, they are again entangled in them and overcome, the last state has become worse for them than the first." This passage emphasizes the danger of returning to a state of sin after having known the truth.

The concept of apostasy is also addressed by Jesus in the parable of the sower, where he speaks of seeds falling on rocky ground and among thorns. In Matthew 13:20-22, Jesus explains that some initially receive the word with joy but fall away when faced with challenges or the cares of the world, illustrating the vulnerability of faith to external pressures.

The apostle Paul, in 1 Timothy 4:1, provides a warning about deceptive teachings and the possibility of some falling away from the faith: "Now the Spirit expressly says that in later times some will depart from the faith by devoting themselves to deceitful spirits and teachings of demons."

The letters to the churches in Revelation also contain warnings about the consequences of turning away from the faith. Revelation 2:4-5, addressing the church in Ephesus, states, "But I have this against you, that you have abandoned the love you had at first. Remember therefore from where you have fallen; repent, and do the works you did at first. If not, I will come to you and remove your lampstand from its place unless you repent."

Continuing the exploration of apostasy in the context of the Bible, it is important to acknowledge that while warnings against apostasy are clear, the Scriptures also offer encouragement, exhortation, and guidance to help believers persevere in their faith.

In 1 Corinthians 10:12, the apostle Paul warns, "Therefore let anyone who thinks that he stands take heed lest he fall." This verse underscores the humility needed in the Christian walk and the recognition that anyone is susceptible to spiritual pitfalls. It encourages believers to stay vigilant and dependent on God's grace.

The letter to the Hebrews provides both warnings and encouragement. Hebrews 3:12-14 states, "Take care, brothers, lest there be in any of you an evil, unbelieving heart, leading you to fall away from the living God. But exhort one another every day, as long as it is called 'today,' that none of you may be hardened by the deceitfulness of sin. For we have come to share in Christ, if indeed we hold our original confidence firm to the end." Here, believers are urged to encourage one another and to guard against the hardening effects of sin.

In 2 Timothy 4:3-4, Paul warns Timothy about the prevalence of false teachings: "For the time is coming when people will not endure sound teaching, but having itching ears, they will accumulate for themselves teachers to suit their own passions, and will turn away from listening to the truth and wander off into myths." This passage emphasizes the importance of discernment and the need to adhere to the truth of sound doctrine.

The parable of the prodigal son in Luke 15:11-32 provides a powerful illustration of the possibility of repentance and restoration even after a period of wandering. The father's open arms and forgiveness demonstrate God's willingness to welcome back those who have strayed.

The Bible assures believers of God's faithfulness and the sustaining power of His grace. Philippians 1:6 states, "And I am sure of this, that he who began a good work in you will bring it to completion at the day of Jesus Christ." This verse provides assurance that God's work in the lives of believers will be brought to fulfillment.

In conclusion, while the Bible issues strong warnings against apostasy, it also offers encouragement, exhortation, and reminders of God's faithfulness. Believers are encouraged to stay vigilant, support one another, and remain anchored in sound doctrine. The stories of repentance and restoration, coupled with the promises of God's sustaining grace, provide hope for those who may have faltered in their faith, pointing toward the possibility of reconciliation and renewed commitment to Christ.

In summary, the concept of apostasy is addressed in the Bible through various warnings, explanations, and illustrations. Passages such as Hebrews 6, 2 Peter 2, Matthew 13, 1 Timothy 4, and Revelation 2 highlight the seriousness of turning away from the faith after having known and experienced the truth. These passages serve as cautionary reminders for believers to remain steadfast in their faith, avoiding the pitfalls of deception, worldly entanglements, and the allure of false teachings.

# 11. Demonic Deception Increases (1 Timothy 4:1)

1 Timothy 4:1 declares, "Now the Spirit expressly says that in later times some will depart from the faith, giving heed to deceiving spirits and doctrines of demons." This verse offers a sobering prophetic warning from the Apostle Paul, rooted in direct revelation from the Holy Spirit. The phrase "the Spirit expressly says" underscores the urgency and clarity of this message — it is not vague, speculative, or optional. Paul wants Timothy (and all future readers) to understand that this is a guaranteed spiritual reality in the unfolding of history. As the end draws nearer, a dramatic increase in demonic deception will mark the spiritual landscape. The verse anticipates a future apostasy — a falling away — not from superficial religiosity, but from genuine faith. That is what makes the warning so serious. These are individuals who once professed Christ, yet are drawn away by spiritual forces actively working through falsehood.

The heart of the deception lies in the influence of "deceiving spirits and doctrines of demons." These are not merely human errors or philosophical speculations — they are teachings energized by demonic powers. The term "deceiving spirits" reflects the nature of Satan's work as "the father of lies" (John 8:44) and the deceiver of the whole world (Revelation 12:9). These spirits operate subtly, often blending truth with lies, cloaking themselves in religious or moral language. The "doctrines of demons" refer to teachings and ideologies that, while they may appear wise or spiritual on the surface, ultimately lead people away from Christ and His Gospel. These doctrines can infiltrate churches, movements, and cultural systems, promoting legalism, mysticism, relativism, hyperspiritualism, or outright heresy — all designed to distort the truth and destroy spiritual lives.

Paul's concern is deeply pastoral. He is not just warning about future trends; he is preparing the Church to guard against real spiritual threats that masquerade as truth. In the verses that follow (1 Timothy 4:2–3), Paul identifies characteristics of these deceivers — including hypocrisy, lies, and even ascetic legalism (e.g., forbidding marriage and certain foods). This shows how deception is often paired with a counterfeit piety that appeals to religious minds but lacks the power of the true Gospel. This aligns with other New Testament warnings, such as those found in 2 Thessalonians 2:9–12 and 2 Peter 2, where false teachers infiltrate the church with destructive heresies, motivated by greed, pride, and rebellion. The increase of demonic deception is not only a future event; it is already at work and will intensify as the return of Christ approaches.

For the believer, 1 Timothy 4:1 is both a caution and a call to spiritual discernment. Christians must be anchored in sound doctrine, grounded in Scripture, and sensitive to the guidance of the Holy Spirit. This requires intentional discipleship, a commitment to truth, and a rejection of teachings that elevate human wisdom or experience above God's Word. The verse also reinforces the reality of spiritual warfare — believers are not merely facing intellectual arguments, but unseen spiritual forces (Ephesians 6:12). As demonic deception increases, so must the Church's vigilance. The people of God must cultivate discernment, remain faithful in fellowship and prayer, and boldly proclaim the truth of the Gospel in love. In an age increasingly shaped by spiritual counterfeits and seductive doctrines, only the light of Christ can expose the darkness and keep the faithful from falling away.

# 12. Sound Doctrine Rejected (2 Timothy 4:3)

2 Timothy 4:3–4 declares, "For the time will come when they will not endure sound doctrine, but according to their own desires, because they have itching ears, they will heap up for themselves teachers; and they will turn their ears away from the truth, and be turned aside to fables." This prophetic warning from Paul to Timothy describes a spiritual and cultural climate where truth is not only ignored but actively resisted. The phrase "will not endure sound doctrine" indicates an intolerance for biblical truth that challenges, convicts, or confronts sin. "Sound doctrine" (Greek: hugiainousēs didaskalias, meaning "healthy teaching") refers to the pure and wholesome teaching of the gospel — teaching that promotes spiritual life, maturity, and alignment with God's will. The rejection of sound doctrine is not a passive drift; it is a deliberate choice to abandon divine truth in favor of messages that gratify personal desires.

Paul attributes this rejection to people's "itching ears" — a metaphor that vividly illustrates the craving for novelty, entertainment, or affirmation rather than truth. When people seek messages that align with their preferences rather than God's standards, they gather around them teachers who say what they want to hear. This creates a marketplace of spiritual voices, not rooted in Scripture but in popularity and cultural relevance. The danger is not only in false teachers but in the demand for them — people want comforting lies over uncomfortable truths. As a result, they "turn their ears away from the truth and are turned aside to fables." These "fables" (or myths) may include spiritualized stories,

cultural ideologies, self-help philosophies, or moral relativism — anything that appeals to emotion and ego but lacks biblical substance.

This trend is not limited to the end times but is observable throughout church history, and especially intensified in today's climate. In many places, biblical literacy is declining while emotionalism, experiential theology, and prosperity messages gain popularity. Truth becomes negotiable, and doctrine is seen as divisive or outdated. But Paul's warning reminds us that rejecting sound doctrine is not a neutral act; it has spiritual consequences. Without truth, people are vulnerable to deception, spiritual immaturity, and moral compromise. The Church, then, must resist the temptation to soften or dilute the gospel. Instead, it must "preach the word; be ready in season and out of season; reprove, rebuke, and exhort with great patience and instruction" (2 Timothy 4:2). Sound doctrine may not always be popular, but it is always essential.

For faithful believers and leaders, this passage is both a warning and a commission. It urges the Church to hold fast to biblical teaching even when it is inconvenient or unpopular. In a culture driven by feelings and preferences, the challenge is to remain tethered to the objective truth of God's Word. Sound doctrine is not just about theological correctness — it's about spiritual health, salvation, and sanctification. As the world increasingly turns away from biblical truth, Christians are called to stand firm, speak clearly, and love boldly. The rejection of sound doctrine will continue to grow, but so must the resolve of God's people to teach it, live it, and defend it — knowing that the truth alone has the power to save, transform, and endure forever.

# 13. Wars, Famines, Earthquakes ("Beginning of Birth Pains") (Matthew 24:6–8)

Matthew 24:6–7 says, "And you will hear of wars and rumors of wars. See that you are not troubled; for all these things must come to pass, but the end is not yet. For nation will rise against nation, and kingdom against kingdom. And there will be famines, pestilences, and earthquakes in various places." This statement is part of Jesus 'Olivet Discourse, in which He outlines the signs preceding His return. These verses speak to global instability — wars, natural disasters, and scarcity — as part of the unfolding of God's sovereign plan. Jesus warns His disciples not to be alarmed by such events. They are not isolated anomalies but part of a divinely ordained pattern. His message is both prophetic and pastoral: while these signs may terrify the world, the people of God are called to remain calm and alert, knowing that these events precede, but do not yet constitute, the final end.

The mention of wars and rumors of wars captures the ongoing reality of conflict in a fallen world. From ancient battles to modern geopolitical tensions, warfare has marked human history. Jesus 'point is not that war is new, but that it will intensify and become more visible as history unfolds. The term "rumors of wars" suggests not only actual conflict but the fear, speculation, and anxiety that accompany political instability. This includes the psychological and cultural impact of anticipated war — panic, nationalism, and unrest.

Despite these tremors, Jesus says, "Do not be troubled." That reassurance reflects divine sovereignty: though human empires rise and fall, God's purposes stand firm. His kingdom is not shaken by the chaos of the nations (cf. Psalm 2:1–6; Daniel 2:44).

Jesus also foretells **famines**, **pestilences**, **and earthquakes**, which reflect the groaning of a creation subjected to the curse of sin (Romans 8:22). These events are not merely natural disasters — they are deeply theological. **Famines** remind us of human vulnerability and the fragility of systems we often depend on. **Pestilences** (plagues or widespread diseases) recall Old Testament judgments and continue to afflict the modern world — from historical plagues to pandemics like COVID-19. **Earthquakes**, sudden and uncontrollable, symbolize the shaking of what is unstable in order to reveal what is eternal (Hebrews 12:26–27). These are not simply signs to be feared but signs to be interpreted — reminders that the world is not as it should be and that divine intervention is drawing near. Such disturbances are warnings and wake-up calls, urging repentance and faith.

Finally, these signs are categorized by Jesus as "the beginning of sorrows" (Matthew 24:8, NKJV), often translated "the beginning of birth pains." This metaphor is crucial: just as labor pains signal the coming birth, so these events signal the nearing of God's final redemptive act. They are painful but purposeful — not random, but leading to the return of Christ and the full establishment of His kingdom. In this light, believers are not to despair but to prepare. Rather than seeing these events as causes for panic, Christians are to view them as reminders of the urgency of the Gospel and the certainty of God's promises. In times of war, famine, or disaster, the Church has a prophetic role: to proclaim hope, demonstrate compassion, and live with bold expectation of Christ's return.

# 14. Increase in Lawlessness; Love Grows Cold (Matthew 24:12)

Matthew 24:12 says, "And because lawlessness will abound, the love of many will grow cold." This verse is part of Jesus 'prophetic discourse about the end times, and it highlights two critical and interconnected spiritual conditions that will characterize the last days: widespread lawlessness and a diminishing of genuine love. The word lawlessness (Greek: anomia) means a rejection or disregard for God's moral law. It does not only imply crime or social disorder, but a deep-rooted spiritual rebellion—people living as though there is no divine authority or accountability. Jesus foresees a culture in which moral boundaries are eroded, truth is relativized, and self-centeredness prevails. When society collectively turns away from God's righteous standard, the consequences are not just political or ethical, but profoundly relational and spiritual.

The second half of the verse states that "the love of many will grow cold." This is a tragic consequence of the increase in lawlessness. The Greek word for "love" here is  $agap\bar{e}$ , the kind of self-giving, sacrificial love that is a hallmark of true Christian discipleship (cf. John 13:35; 1 Corinthians 13). As sin abounds and selfishness spreads, this godly love begins to wither. People become numb to compassion, guarded against vulnerability, and hesitant to trust. Love loses its warmth, and relationships become transactional or distant. This doesn't happen all at once — it is a slow erosion as hearts grow desensitized through repeated exposure to evil, injustice, betrayal, and personal hurt. In a world marked by

escalating sin and cynicism, even believers can become weary in well-doing (Galatians 6:9) and tempted to withdraw into self-protection.

This dynamic is especially dangerous within the Church. Jesus warned not only about external persecution and deception but about internal spiritual decay. Lawlessness is not confined to the world outside the Church; it can infiltrate communities of faith when truth is compromised and holiness is neglected. When believers begin to tolerate sin, soften moral standards, or prioritize convenience over conviction, love inevitably cools. The early Church at Ephesus faced this very crisis — though strong in doctrine and perseverance, they had "left their first love" (Revelation 2:4). A loveless orthodoxy is no better than lawless indulgence. The increase of lawlessness and the cooling of love are twin dangers that must be actively resisted through repentance, prayer, and renewal of devotion to Christ and His commands.

Yet even in the midst of this dark prophecy, there is hope. The very next verse (Matthew 24:13) offers a promise: "But the one who endures to the end shall be saved." This call to endurance assumes that faithfulness and love can still be preserved, even when surrounded by lawlessness. The Holy Spirit empowers believers to resist the tide of sin, to stay tender-hearted, and to keep love alive. Jesus calls His people to be countercultural — shining as lights in a dark world, holding fast to both truth and love. In a society growing cold and chaotic, the Church must embody warmth, integrity, and compassion. The increase of lawlessness and the chilling of love are signs of the end, but they are also a summons to rise up as a remnant of righteousness, clinging to the love of Christ that never grows cold.

# 15. Scoffers Arise in the Last Days (2 Peter 3:3-4)

2 Peter 3:3–4 warns, "Knowing this first: that scoffers will come in the last days, walking according to their own lusts, and saying, 'Where is the promise of His coming? For since the fathers fell asleep, all things continue as they were from the beginning of creation." This prophetic insight from the Apostle Peter addresses a growing skepticism and cynicism that will mark the spiritual atmosphere of the end times. The term *scoffers* refers to those who mock or ridicule the truths of God — especially the promises related to Christ's second coming. These are not merely intellectual skeptics but moral rebels who use mockery to justify their sinful lifestyles. Peter connects their scoffing directly to their lusts, showing that their denial of divine judgment is not based on rational inquiry but on a desire to live without moral restraint. Their rejection of Christ's return is rooted in a deeper rebellion against the authority of God.

The scoffers' argument hinges on the perceived delay in Christ's return: "Where is the promise of His coming?" They point to the apparent stability of the world — the ongoing cycle of life, death, and nature — to claim that nothing is going to change. This line of reasoning reflects a naturalistic worldview, one that dismisses the supernatural intervention of God in human history. It denies the reality of divine judgment, choosing instead to believe that history will continue indefinitely without interruption. This skepticism, Peter says, is willful ignorance — a deliberate suppression of truth. Just as

people ignored the warnings before the flood in Noah's day (2 Peter 3:5–6; cf. Matthew 24:38–39), so too will many in the last days reject the warnings of Christ's return, choosing to mock rather than repent.

This phenomenon is not only cultural but deeply spiritual. The rise of scoffers reflects the increasing hardness of human hearts as the return of Christ draws nearer. In today's world, we can observe this through the growing hostility toward biblical Christianity, the ridicule of moral absolutes, and the marginalization of those who speak of judgment or the end times. Media, education, and secular ideologies often echo the same skepticism Peter described — promoting a worldview that exalts human autonomy and dismisses biblical prophecy as superstition or fearmongering. This fulfills the apostolic warnings that in the last days, truth will be mocked and godliness will be despised (cf. 2 Timothy 3:1–5; Jude 17–18). Scoffing, then, is not just a rejection of doctrine — it is a symptom of deep spiritual decay.

Yet Peter's message is not one of despair, but of assurance and encouragement. He reminds believers that God is not slow in keeping His promises but is patient, "not willing that any should perish but that all should come to repentance" (2 Peter 3:9). The delay in Christ's return is not evidence of God's absence, but of His mercy. For the Church, this prophecy about scoffers serves as a call to perseverance and faith. We are to stand firm in our hope, continue proclaiming truth boldly, and live in holiness while waiting for the Day of the Lord. In a world where scoffing grows louder, the Church must speak more clearly — not with fear or defensiveness, but with conviction, compassion, and unwavering confidence in the promises of God. His Word will be fulfilled, and every scoffer will one day be silenced when Christ returns in glory.

# 16. "Days of Noah" Parallel (Matthew 24:37–39)

Matthew 24:37–39 says, "But as the days of Noah were, so also will the coming of the Son of Man be. For as in the days before the flood, they were eating and drinking, marrying and giving in marriage, until the day that Noah entered the ark, and did not know until the flood came and took them all away, so also will the coming of the Son of Man be." These words, spoken by Jesus during the Olivet Discourse, draw a direct parallel between the conditions of Noah's time and the state of the world before His second coming. Jesus is not just referring to the wickedness of Noah's generation, but to the spiritual blindness and indifference that characterized them. They were engaged in normal, everyday activities — eating, drinking, marrying — without any awareness or concern that judgment was approaching. The point is not that these activities are sinful in themselves, but that the people were so consumed with the ordinary that they ignored the extraordinary warning of coming judgment.

The "days of Noah" were marked by deep moral corruption and widespread violence (Genesis 6:5, 11). Scripture says that "every intent of the thoughts of [man's] heart was only evil continually," and the earth was "filled with violence." God's grief over the state of humanity led to the decision to send the flood. In the same way, Jesus warns that the last days will be characterized by a similar descent into lawlessness, moral depravity, and

rebellion against God. The comparison reveals that before His return, society will once again be dominated by self-indulgence, disregard for divine warnings, and an active rejection of righteousness. Yet the focus of Jesus 'teaching is not just on how bad things will get, but on how unaware and unprepared people will be — they will be spiritually asleep.

A key emphasis in this parallel is the **unexpected nature** of the coming judgment. In Noah's day, people were caught completely off guard — "they did not know until the flood came and took them all away." Despite Noah's preaching and the building of the ark, which was itself a visible and prophetic warning, people scoffed and continued on with life as usual. This mirrors how the world will respond to warnings about Christ's return. Many will ignore, mock, or simply dismiss prophetic truths, choosing comfort over conviction. Jesus uses this comparison to awaken His followers to the danger of complacency. The flood came suddenly and decisively, and so will the return of the Son of Man. There will be no time to prepare once it begins — readiness must be cultivated in advance.

For believers, the "days of Noah" serve both as a warning and a call to vigilance. Just as Noah lived righteously in a corrupt generation and obeyed God despite ridicule, so the Church is called to remain faithful in a world growing increasingly indifferent and hostile to truth. We are to live watchfully, not lulled by the routines of life or distracted by the pleasures of the world. Jesus' warning urges us to be spiritually awake, morally alert, and urgently proclaiming the message of salvation before the door of grace closes. The ark was a symbol of God's provision and mercy in the midst of judgment — today, Christ is our ark, the only refuge from the coming wrath. As the world mirrors the conditions of Noah's time, the Church must mirror Noah's faith — proclaiming truth, preparing souls, and trusting God's promises.

# 17. Gospel Preached to All Nations (Matthew 24:14)

Matthew 24:14 declares, "And this gospel of the kingdom will be preached in all the world as a witness to all the nations, and then the end will come." This statement, made by Jesus during the Olivet Discourse, reveals a key sign that must precede His return: the global proclamation of the gospel. Unlike the other signs (wars, famines, earthquakes, false prophets), which are largely negative, this is a distinctly positive and redemptive development in the end-time timeline. It shows that while darkness and deception increase, God's kingdom is simultaneously advancing. The phrase "gospel of the kingdom" refers to the full message of salvation — the good news that Jesus is the promised King, who brings forgiveness of sins, reconciliation with God, and eternal life. This gospel is not just about personal salvation, but about the reign of Christ and the coming of His eternal kingdom.

The phrase "in all the world" (Greek: *en holē tē oikoumenē*) indicates a global mission. The gospel will not be limited to one region, ethnicity, or people group. It must reach *all nations* (Greek: *panta ta ethnē*) — a phrase referring not to modern political states, but to every ethnolinguistic group on earth. This aligns with the Great Commission (Matthew

28:19–20), where Jesus commands His followers to "make disciples of all nations." The emphasis is not simply on geographic saturation, but on missional completeness — that every people group has a credible witness of the gospel. This mission has fueled Christian evangelism and global missions for centuries, and today, through translation efforts, digital media, and indigenous missionaries, the Church is closer than ever to fulfilling this prophetic mandate. Jesus 'words assure us that history will not end until this divine purpose is accomplished.

This verse also carries **eschatological weight**: "Then the end will come." The timing of Christ's return is tied, not to world events alone, but to the fulfillment of the gospel mission. God's patience, as Peter reminds us, is not delay but mercy — "not willing that any should perish but that all should come to repentance" (2 Peter 3:9). The end does not come randomly or chaotically; it comes when God's redemptive plan has been completed among the nations. This shows the central role of evangelism in God's timeline for the world. While many obsess over signs and timelines, Jesus points our attention to a clear task: preaching the gospel. The Church's mission is not to speculate, but to evangelize. We are not called to passively wait for the end, but to actively hasten it through faithful proclamation.

For the believer, **Matthew 24:14 is both a prophecy and a commission.** It calls the Church to action and perseverance in spreading the gospel, even in the midst of tribulation, persecution, and cultural resistance. It is a reminder that no nation, tribe, or people group is forgotten in God's redemptive plan. The global mission is not optional — it is essential to God's kingdom agenda. This verse gives urgency to our evangelism, purpose to our outreach, and hope that no effort in missions is in vain. We preach not just because people need salvation, but because it is the very will of God that the nations hear of Christ before the end. As we engage in this mission, we participate in the unfolding of God's eternal plan, preparing the world for the glorious return of Jesus Christ, the King of all nations.

# 18. Rise of a Revived Roman-Like Empire (Ten Kings) (Daniel 7:24; Revelation 17:12)

The Bible mentions in the Last Days a revived Roman-like empire, particularly associated with a confederation of ten kings or kingdoms, emerges from key prophetic passages in both the Old and New Testaments — especially Daniel 2, Daniel 7, and Revelation 17. In Daniel 2, the prophet interprets Nebuchadnezzar's dream of a great statue made of various metals, symbolizing successive world empires. The legs of iron represent Rome, and the feet and toes — made partly of iron and partly of clay — symbolize a future, divided kingdom that is both strong and brittle (Daniel 2:41–43). The ten toes are widely interpreted to represent ten future kings or kingdoms that will exist just before the return of Christ, when the "stone cut without hands" (representing God's kingdom) strikes the statue and brings all human empires to an end. This suggests a final coalition that is politically fractured, yet powerful — a revived Roman-like empire preparing the stage for divine intervention.

Daniel 7 provides further detail, introducing a vision of four beasts representing the same sequence of empires. The fourth beast, "dreadful and terrible, exceedingly strong," with iron teeth, clearly represents Rome (Daniel 7:7). From this beast arise ten horns, symbolizing ten kings who will come out of this kingdom (Daniel 7:24). Among them rises another "little horn" — a figure often identified with the Antichrist — who subdues three of the ten and speaks boastfully against God. This imagery reveals that in the last days, a ten-nation confederacy will emerge from the remnants or influence of the Roman Empire. It will be a geopolitical alliance, possibly including elements of military power, economic coordination, and political control. The rise of the "little horn" suggests that this federation will ultimately fall under the authority of a single, charismatic leader who will oppose God and persecute His people.

Revelation 17 parallels and expands this vision, describing a beast with ten horns and a woman (symbolizing false religion or Babylon) riding upon it. Verses 12–13 state, "The ten horns which you saw are ten kings who have received no kingdom as yet, but they receive authority for one hour as kings with the beast. These are of one mind, and they will give their power and authority to the beast." This prophetic picture portrays the final phase of world government under Antichrist. These ten kings or rulers will arise as distinct yet united figures who voluntarily surrender their authority to the beast. The temporary nature of their rule ("for one hour") underscores the short duration and instability of this final empire. Their unity is not organic but politically expedient, driven by ambition and deception. Together, they will oppose Christ and His people, but Revelation promises their destruction when the Lamb triumphs (Revelation 17:14).

This prophetic theme calls for both discernment and hope among believers. The rise of a ten-kingdom confederacy — a revived form of the Roman Empire — signals the approaching climax of world history. While interpretations differ on whether this alliance will be centered in Europe, the Mediterranean, or include a broader global coalition, the key idea remains: human political power, in its final form, will unite in rebellion against God. Yet this dark period is limited and will be decisively judged by the return of Christ. For Christians, this is not a cause for fear but for vigilance. We are to understand the times, recognize the trajectory of prophetic fulfillment, and remain faithful in proclaiming the gospel until the King of kings returns to establish His everlasting kingdom — a kingdom that will never be shaken or destroyed (Daniel 2:44).

# 19. Restrainer Removed (2 Thessalonians 2:6-7)

2 Thessalonians 2:6–7 says, "And now you know what is restraining, that he may be revealed in his own time. For the mystery of lawlessness is already at work; only He who now restrains will do so until He is taken out of the way." In this passage, the Apostle Paul addresses the mystery surrounding the rise of the "man of sin" or "lawless one," widely understood as the Antichrist. Paul affirms that a powerful, divinely instituted restraint is currently holding back this figure from being fully revealed. This restraint is both a "what" (v.6) and a "He" (v.7), implying both a force and a person. The clear implication is that lawlessness is already active in the world — not merely in a

cultural or political sense, but spiritually — yet its full expression is being held back by the will and power of God until an appointed time.

The identity of the "restrainer" has been the subject of much theological debate, but the most compelling view, consistent with the broader context of Scripture, is that the restrainer is the Holy Spirit, particularly as He works through the Church. The Holy Spirit is the only power sufficient to hold back Satan's plans and restrain the Antichrist until God's perfect time. This interpretation fits the grammar (a neuter force in verse 6, then a masculine personal pronoun in verse 7), and it aligns with the Holy Spirit's role in the world: convicting of sin, restraining evil, and empowering the Church to be "salt and light" (John 16:8; Matthew 5:13–16). When the restrainer is "taken out of the way," it does not imply the Holy Spirit will be absent from the earth altogether, but rather that His unique ministry of restraining lawlessness — particularly through the presence of the Church — will be removed.

This "removal" is often linked to the **rapture of the Church**, which many interpret as occurring before the revealing of the Antichrist and the start of the Great Tribulation (based on a pre-tribulational framework). If the Church is taken out of the world, the Spirit's restraining influence through believers would be dramatically diminished. This will create a spiritual and moral vacuum that allows the "man of sin" to rise quickly and gain control. Paul describes this figure as one who opposes God and exalts himself, even to the point of sitting in God's temple and declaring himself to be divine (2 Thessalonians 2:4). The restrainer's removal is thus the divine trigger that unleashes a final flood of deception, rebellion, and judgment — setting the stage for the climactic confrontation between the kingdom of darkness and the returning Christ.

For the Church, the removal of the restrainer is both a warning and a reassurance. It warns of a future time of unparalleled lawlessness and deception, when Satan's influence will be almost unopposed. Yet it reassures believers that God remains in complete control — the Antichrist cannot emerge until God allows it, and even then, his reign will be short-lived and ultimately destroyed by the "breath of [Christ's] mouth" (2 Thessalonians 2:8). Until that time, the Church plays a critical role in holding back darkness through the indwelling Spirit. We are not passive observers but active participants in God's plan — called to pray, witness, and live righteously, knowing that our presence is divinely significant in this age. The removal of the restrainer will mark the beginning of the final phase of human rebellion, but it also signals that the return of the King is very near.

# 20. Israel Is Reborn as a Nation (Isaiah 66:8)

Isaiah 66:8 declares, "Who has heard such a thing? Who has seen such things? Shall the earth be made to give birth in one day? Or shall a nation be born at once? For as soon as Zion was in labor, she gave birth to her children." This remarkable prophetic verse stands as one of the clearest Old Testament predictions of the sudden and sovereign rebirth of the nation of Israel. The imagery used is that of a miraculous birth — not one that happens gradually or through a long process, but suddenly and unexpectedly. The rhetorical questions ("Who has heard such a thing?")

emphasize the uniqueness of what God will do. At the time Isaiah wrote this, Israel was a divided and declining kingdom, and the idea of its national restoration seemed distant, if not impossible. Yet God promised that in the fullness of His time, Israel would be reborn — an event without historical precedent.

This prophecy found extraordinary fulfillment on May 14, 1948, when the modern State of Israel was declared a sovereign nation — literally in one day — after nearly 2,000 years of dispersion. Against all odds, and after centuries of exile, persecution, and wandering, the Jewish people were regathered to their ancestral land, and the nation was officially reborn. The circumstances surrounding this event were as unlikely as they were prophetic: international opposition, regional hostility, and limited resources all made this birth seem improbable. And yet, just as Isaiah foretold, a nation was born in a day. This moment marked a dramatic and visible fulfillment of God's covenantal promises to Abraham, Isaac, and Jacob, and it serves as a powerful signpost in biblical prophecy pointing toward the end times and the soon return of Christ.

Theologically, the rebirth of Israel is more than political or historical — it is deeply prophetic and eschatological. In texts like Ezekiel 36–37, God speaks of gathering His people from the nations, restoring their land, and eventually renewing them spiritually. Jesus Himself, in the Olivet Discourse, spoke of the fig tree blossoming (Matthew 24:32–34), which many scholars interpret as a metaphor for Israel's restoration as a nation. Paul in Romans 11 echoes this hope, speaking of a future national revival when "all Israel will be saved." The rebirth of Israel is thus not the final fulfillment of God's promises, but a major step toward them — setting the stage for end-time events such as the rise of the Antichrist, the Great Tribulation, and ultimately the Second Coming of Christ, who will reign from Jerusalem.

For the Church and the watching world, the modern rebirth of Israel serves as a wake-up call. It is a visible, geopolitical fulfillment of ancient Scripture that validates the truth of God's Word and reminds believers that God's prophetic clock is ticking. Israel's return to the land signals the beginning of the final chapter of redemptive history. It reminds us that God keeps His promises, no matter how long the delay may seem. As Jesus warned, "When you see these things begin to take place, look up, for your redemption draws near" (Luke 21:28). The rebirth of Israel is not just a historical marvel — it is a prophetic milestone that invites believers to renewed faith, urgent evangelism, and watchful anticipation of the return of the King.

# 21. Jews Return to Ancestral Land (Ezekiel 36:24)

The return of the Jewish people to their ancestral land is one of the most significant and repeated prophecies in Scripture. From Genesis through the prophets, God promises that despite judgment and dispersion, He will one day regather His people to the land He gave to Abraham, Isaac, and Jacob. Jeremiah 30:3 says, "For behold, the days are coming, says the Lord, that I will bring back from captivity My people Israel and Judah... and I will cause them to return to the land that I gave to their fathers, and they shall possess it." This promise underscores the enduring nature of the covenant God

made with the patriarchs — a covenant that includes not only spiritual blessings but a literal, physical inheritance of land. Despite centuries of exile, persecution, and displacement, God's word stands sure: He will restore His people to their land.

Ezekiel 36–37 provides one of the most vivid and powerful visions of this return. In chapter 36, God declares, "I will take you from among the nations, gather you out of all countries, and bring you into your own land" (Ezekiel 36:24). This is followed by a promise of spiritual renewal: "I will give you a new heart and put a new spirit within you." In chapter 37, the famous vision of the valley of dry bones depicts the house of Israel as spiritually and nationally dead — yet God brings them back to life, first physically (as bones come together), and then spiritually (as breath enters them). This two-stage process mirrors what we see in modern history: first, the physical restoration of Israel as a nation (fulfilled in 1948 and ongoing), and second, the still-future spiritual awakening of the Jewish people to their Messiah, Jesus Christ.

Isaiah also prophesied this global regathering, emphasizing its supernatural nature. In Isaiah 11:11–12, he writes, "It shall come to pass in that day that the Lord shall set His hand again the second time to recover the remnant of His people... He will set up a banner for the nations, and will assemble the outcasts of Israel, and gather together the dispersed of Judah from the four corners of the earth." This speaks not just of a return from Babylonian exile (which had already occurred in Isaiah's time) but of a future, global regathering — a second, greater ingathering. That is precisely what we have witnessed since the late 19th century and especially after World War II. Waves of Jewish immigration (Aliyah) from Europe, the Middle East, Africa, the former Soviet Union, and beyond continue to this day — a fulfillment that points directly to the hand of God at work in modern history.

Theologically, the return of the Jews to their land is not merely political, but deeply prophetic — a signpost of the end times and the faithfulness of God. It sets the stage for many future biblical events: the rebuilding of the Temple, the rise of the Antichrist, the final tribulation, and ultimately, the national turning of Israel to Jesus as Messiah (Zechariah 12:10; Romans 11:25–27). For believers, this miraculous regathering affirms the trustworthiness of Scripture and the unfolding of God's redemptive plan. It is also a call to action — to pray for the peace of Jerusalem (Psalm 122:6), to support God's purposes for Israel, and to proclaim the gospel to Jew and Gentile alike. The return of the Jewish people to their ancestral homeland is not the end of the story — it is the beginning of the final chapter.

# 22. Jerusalem Becomes a Burdensome Stone (Zechariah 12:3)

Zechariah 12:2–3 paints a vivid prophetic picture of Jerusalem as a "burdensome stone" for all peoples. The passage says, "Behold, I will make Jerusalem a cup of drunkenness to all the surrounding peoples, when they lay siege against Judah

and Jerusalem. And it shall happen in that day that I will make Jerusalem a very heavy stone for all peoples; all who would heave it away will surely be cut in pieces, though all nations of the earth are gathered against it." This imagery communicates the intense geopolitical and spiritual significance of Jerusalem in the last days. Jerusalem, the city of God's presence and the site of the Messiah's earthly ministry, becomes a source of intense conflict and resistance. Nations will be drawn to it, both by its divine destiny and by their opposition to God's plan, resulting in international tension and strife.

The "burdensome stone" metaphor underscores Jerusalem's unmovable and pivotal role in God's redemptive purposes. Stones in biblical symbolism often represent strength, permanence, and foundation — Christ Himself is called the "chief cornerstone" (Ephesians 2:20). Yet here, the stone is "burdensome" because Jerusalem's role is not passive or comfortable for the nations opposing it. Attempts to "heave away" or remove Jerusalem from its central place in world affairs will fail disastrously, as God's sovereign protection ensures the city's survival. This prophecy anticipates the intense struggles over Jerusalem, especially in the modern era, as competing religious, national, and political interests collide over this ancient city. Jerusalem's destiny is inseparably linked to the coming of the Messiah and the establishment of God's eternal kingdom.

Luke 21:24 echoes this theme by describing a period when Jerusalem will be "trampled by the Gentiles until the times of the Gentiles are fulfilled." This verse highlights that Jerusalem's history and future include times of domination and desecration by foreign powers. Historically, Jerusalem has experienced multiple sieges, exile, and destruction. Yet, even in such times, the city remains the focal point of God's plan. The phrase "times of the Gentiles" suggests a divinely appointed era when Jerusalem is under Gentile control, but this will end when God's kingdom is fully established. The burdensome stone will ultimately become the cornerstone of peace and justice when Christ returns, but until then, it remains a source of contention and judgment for nations.

For believers, the prophecy of Jerusalem as a burdensome stone is both a solemn warning and a call to hope. It warns that the city and the land will be central in the final conflicts leading to Christ's return, involving spiritual battles as well as political turmoil. Yet it also assures us that Jerusalem is under divine protection and part of God's unbreakable plan. This should prompt believers to pray fervently for the peace of Jerusalem (Psalm 122:6), to stand in solidarity with God's purposes for the city, and to anticipate the day when Jerusalem will no longer be a source of division but the glorious capital of the Messiah's kingdom. The burdensome stone will then be the cornerstone of God's eternal reign, uniting all peoples in worship and peace.

# 23. Preparation for a Third Temple Resumes (2 Thessalonians 2:4)

The biblical anticipation of a Third Temple arises from both Old and New Testament prophecies, envisioning a future house of worship in Jerusalem that will play a central role in the end-times narrative. The first two Temples, built by Solomon

and later rebuilt after the Babylonian exile, were the physical centers of Jewish worship and the sacrificial system. The destruction of the Second Temple by the Romans in AD 70 marked a significant turning point, after which Jewish sacrificial worship ceased. Yet Scripture, particularly in passages like Ezekiel 40–48, describes a detailed vision of a future Temple, larger and more glorious than the previous ones. This prophetic Temple is closely linked to the coming Messianic kingdom, suggesting that God's plan includes a renewed place of worship as a key feature of the eschatological restoration.

In recent decades, preparations for a Third Temple have increasingly gained momentum among certain Jewish groups, reflecting a strong desire to restore temple worship and to reclaim the Temple Mount as the rightful site of Israel's religious center. These preparations include the formation of Temple organizations, the crafting of priestly garments, training of priests (Kohanim), and the creation of sacrificial implements. Archaeological and political developments surrounding the Temple Mount also fuel hopes and tensions regarding the Temple's rebuilding. Although the Temple Mount is currently home to the Islamic Dome of the Rock and Al-Aqsa Mosque, the Jewish claim to this sacred site remains deeply ingrained in religious consciousness. This revival of interest in a Third Temple is seen by many as a fulfillment of biblical prophecy and a necessary precursor to the end-time events described in Daniel and Revelation.

Scripturally, the rebuilding of the Third Temple is closely tied to the rise of the Antichrist and the Great Tribulation. The Book of Daniel (9:27) speaks of a "covenant" that the "prince who is to come" will make with many, and in the middle of the week, he will put an end to sacrifice and offering — an act widely interpreted as the Antichrist's desecration of the Temple. Similarly, Revelation 11 describes the measuring of the Temple and the ministry of two witnesses, implying a functioning Temple in the last days. Jesus Himself, in the Olivet Discourse (Matthew 24:15), warns of the "abomination of desolation" standing in the holy place, signaling a pivotal moment of crisis linked to the Temple. These scriptures indicate that the Temple's restoration is not just a nostalgic desire but a key event that will trigger the final phase of human history and God's judgment.

For the contemporary believer, the renewed preparations for a Third Temple serve as a prophetic signpost, emphasizing the nearness of the end times and the urgency of faithful witness. While political and religious sensitivities surrounding the Temple Mount are profound, the biblical narrative anticipates that the Temple will indeed be rebuilt. This awareness should inspire prayer for peace in Jerusalem, for wisdom among leaders, and for the fulfillment of God's redemptive plan. Moreover, it calls Christians to a deeper understanding of the intertwining of Jewish and Christian eschatology, recognizing that God's promises to Israel remain foundational to His overall plan for salvation history. The Third Temple will not only symbolize a restoration of worship but will also be the stage for the ultimate confrontation between God's kingdom and the forces of evil, culminating in the triumphant return of Jesus Christ.

# 24. Middle East Peace Efforts Increase (Daniel 9:27)

Daniel 9:27 is one of the most pivotal prophetic verses concerning the final period before Christ's return, often understood as describing a peace treaty or covenant that will be made by a powerful leader—commonly identified as the Antichrist. The verse states: "He will confirm a covenant with many for one 'seven '(a week), but in the middle of the seven he will put an end to sacrifice and offering." This covenant is widely interpreted as a peace agreement involving Israel and its neighbors, which temporarily secures peace and allows the rebuilding or functioning of the Temple and religious worship. The fact that this covenant is only confirmed for "one seven" (a seven-year period) and broken midway highlights the temporary and deceptive nature of this peace — it serves as a false security that sets the stage for intense conflict and divine judgment.

The increase in Middle East peace efforts in modern times can be seen as a fulfillment of this prophecy's backdrop. Since the mid-20th century, multiple peace initiatives have aimed at resolving the long-standing conflicts between Israel and its neighbors. These efforts include treaties such as the Camp David Accords, the Israel-Jordan Peace Treaty, and more recent normalization agreements (the Abraham Accords), along with ongoing international diplomacy striving for a comprehensive peace deal. While none have yet produced a lasting resolution, the surge in diplomatic activity reflects the growing momentum toward a significant covenant or agreement involving Israel. This real-world dynamic aligns closely with Daniel's prophecy of a covenant confirmed by a charismatic leader to bring temporary peace, even amidst a volatile and divided region.

Biblically, this covenant will be both a blessing and a snare for Israel. On one hand, it provides a period of relative peace and security, allowing the Jewish people to worship in their Temple and to experience a degree of normalcy. On the other hand, this peace is false and fragile, as the Antichrist will ultimately break the covenant and "put an end to sacrifice and offering," signaling a time of intense persecution, sacrilege, and tribulation (Daniel 9:27). This is echoed in Jesus 'warning about the "abomination of desolation" standing in the holy place (Matthew 24:15), a direct reference to the desecration of the Temple and the collapse of peace. The covenant is thus a key prophetic signpost marking the beginning of the Great Tribulation period, underscoring the urgency for believers to remain watchful and discerning.

For believers today, the increase in Middle East peace efforts should be observed with both hope and sober discernment. While peace is a desirable goal and aligns with biblical principles of justice and reconciliation, the prophetic Scriptures warn that this peace will be used by the Antichrist to deceive many and gain political and spiritual control. Christians are called to pray for peace in Jerusalem (Psalm 122:6) and for the salvation of Israel, while also recognizing the signs of the times. The eventual covenant foretold in Daniel will be a defining moment in end-time prophecy, but it is not the final solution. True and everlasting peace will come only with the return of Jesus Christ, the Prince of Peace, who will establish His kingdom in righteousness. Until then, believers must be vigilant, rooted in Scripture, and active in sharing the gospel amid a world increasingly drawn into prophetic fulfillment.

# 25. The Antichrist Revealed (2 Thessalonians 2:3-4)

## **Biblical Commentary on "The Antichrist"**

#### The Antichrist and Other Antichrists

There are many false christs or antichrists, but there is also The antichrist, who is to come, and that person will be a manifestation of Satan himself, and a false representation of Jesus Christ.

The antichrist will oppose Jesus Christ and set himself above every so called god.

No one yet knows who the antichrist is, however, God's word declares that he will set himself up in God's temple and declare himself god, sometime in the near future. The antichrist is also known as the 'Abomination of Desolation', The Man of Lawlessness', and 'The Son of Destruction', etc...

#### **KEY SCRIPTURES**

- **2 Thessalonians 2:3** Let no one in any way deceive you, for it will not come unless the apostasy comes first, and the man of lawlessness is revealed, the son of destruction,
- 2:4 who opposes and exalts himself above every so-called god or object of worship, so that he takes his seat in the temple of God, displaying himself as being god.
- **2 Thessalonians 2:8** And then that lawless one will be revealed whom the Lord will slay with the breath of His mouth and bring to an end by the appearance of His coming.
- 2:9 that is the one whose coming is in accord with the activity of Satan with all power and signs and false wonders.

**Matthew 24:15** Therefore when you see the Abomination of Desolation which was spoken of through Daniel the prophet, standing in the holy place, (See DAN 9:20-27)

# Some of the ways to recognize the Anti-Christ?

- He shall corrupt with flattery Dan 11:32
- He shall exalt & magnify himself above every god (pride) Dan 11:36
- He shall speak blasphemies against the God of gods Dan 11:36
- He shall prosper till the wrath has been accomplished Dan 11:36
- He shall regard neither the God of his fathers Dan 11:37

- He shall not desire women Dan 11:37
- Nor regard any god for he shall magnify himself above them all Dan 11:37
- He shall honor a god of fortresses and a god which his fathers did not know, he shall honor with gold and silver, with precious stones and pleasant things - Dan 11:38

The mention of the Antichrist and false christs is rooted in biblical prophecy, particularly in the New Testament, warning believers about deceptive figures who will oppose Jesus Christ and lead people astray. These figures are associated with the end times and are presented as adversaries to the true Messiah, Jesus Christ.

One of the key passages that addresses the Antichrist is found in 1 John 2:18, where the apostle John writes, "Children, it is the last hour, and as you have heard that antichrist is coming, so now many antichrists have come. Therefore we know that it is the last hour." This verse introduces the idea that there is not just one Antichrist but also many smaller antichrists who deceive and oppose the true teachings of Christ.

In Matthew 24:24, Jesus warns about false christs and false prophets who will perform great signs and wonders to lead people astray: "For false christs and false prophets will arise and perform great signs and wonders, so as to lead astray, if possible, even the elect." This passage underscores the importance of discernment and staying true to the genuine teachings of Christ.

The book of Revelation further elaborates on the Antichrist, often referred to as the "beast." Revelation 13:1-10 describes a beast rising out of the sea with blasphemous attributes and the ability to deceive many. Revelation 19:20 foretells the ultimate fate of the beast: "And the beast was captured, and with it the false prophet who in its presence had done the signs by which he deceived those who had received the mark of the beast and those who worshiped its image. These two were thrown alive into the lake of fire that burns with sulfur."

The Gospel of Mark also records Jesus' warning about false christs. In Mark 13:21-23, Jesus cautions, "And then if anyone says to you, 'Look, here is the Christ!' or 'Look, there he is!' do not believe it. For false christs and false prophets will arise and perform signs and wonders, to lead astray, if possible, the elect."

The characteristics and actions attributed to the Antichrist and false christs in the Bible include deception, opposition to Christ, and the ability to perform signs and wonders to mislead people. The warnings in these passages serve as a cautionary reminder for believers to remain vigilant, discerning, and anchored in the true teachings of Jesus Christ.

In summary, the biblical narrative regarding the Antichrist and false christs highlights the presence of deceptive figures who will emerge, especially in the end times, to oppose Christ and lead people away from the true faith. The warnings provided in various New Testament passages underscore the importance of discernment and staying rooted in the authentic teachings of Jesus to avoid falling prey to deception.

Continuing with the biblical perspective on the Antichrist and false christs, the book of Daniel in the Old Testament also contains prophetic elements that are often associated

with these deceptive figures. In Daniel 7:25, there is a reference to a "little horn" that speaks against the Most High and seeks to change times and laws, pointing to a figure who opposes God's order and authority.

The Apostle Paul provides additional insights into the nature of the Antichrist in 2 Thessalonians 2:3-4: "Let no one deceive you in any way. For that day will not come, unless the rebellion comes first, and the man of lawlessness is revealed, the son of destruction, who opposes and exalts himself against every so-called god or object of worship, so that he takes his seat in the temple of God, proclaiming himself to be God." This passage emphasizes the Antichrist's rebellion against God and his desire to be worshipped as God.

Revelation 17 introduces the concept of a symbolic woman riding a beast, often interpreted as a representation of a false religious system in alliance with the Antichrist. The imagery suggests a union of political and religious power that deceives the nations.

Throughout these biblical passages, a common thread emerges: the Antichrist and false christs are characterized by deception, opposition to God, and a desire for power and worship. They are depicted as figures who lead people away from the true faith, challenging the sovereignty and authority of God.

The teachings of Jesus in the Gospels consistently emphasize the need for discernment regarding false christs and prophets. In Matthew 24:23-25, Jesus warns, "Then if anyone says to you, 'Look, here is the Christ!' or 'There he is!' do not believe it. For false christs and false prophets will arise and perform great signs and wonders, so as to lead astray, if possible, even the elect."

In the context of false christs, the Bible underscores the importance of steadfast faith, discernment, and a deep knowledge of the true teachings of Jesus. The ultimate triumph of Christ over these deceptive figures is assured, as seen in passages like Revelation 19:20, where the beast and false prophet are thrown into the lake of fire.

In summary, the biblical narrative concerning the Antichrist and false christs paints a vivid picture of deceptive figures who oppose God and seek to lead people away from the true faith. The warnings in both the Old and New Testaments emphasize the need for discernment, unwavering faith in Christ, and a reliance on the truth found in the Scriptures to avoid being misled by these deceptive forces.

The mention of the Antichrist and false christs extends beyond the New Testament, with Old Testament prophecies providing additional layers of understanding. The book of Zechariah, for example, contains prophecies that some interpret as pointing to a future figure associated with deception and opposition to God. In Zechariah 11:16-17, there is mention of a foolish shepherd, and in Zechariah 13:7, a striking verse speaks of the striking of the shepherd, which some interpret in the context of the betrayal and opposition to the true shepherd, Jesus Christ.

In the Gospel of Mark, Jesus warns not only about false christs but also about signs and wonders that may accompany them. Mark 13:22-23 states, "For false christs and false prophets will arise and perform signs and wonders, to lead astray, if possible, the elect.

But be on guard; I have told you all things beforehand." This warning emphasizes the deceptive nature of these figures and the importance of remaining vigilant.

The apostle Paul, in his second letter to Timothy, addresses the reality of deception and the presence of false teachings in the last days. 2 Timothy 3:1-5 describes a time of difficulty where people will be lovers of self, lovers of money, and opposed to the truth. This passage provides a broader context for understanding the challenges believers may face in identifying false christs and teachings.

The biblical narrative surrounding the Antichrist and false christs also includes the concept of a false prophet, often mentioned in conjunction with the Antichrist. In Revelation 16:13-14, John sees three unclean spirits resembling frogs, coming out of the mouth of the dragon, the beast, and the false prophet. These spirits perform signs and go out to deceive the nations, highlighting the collaborative effort of deceptive forces in the end times.

Revelation 13:11-15 introduces the false prophet as one who performs great signs, even making an image of the beast come to life, deceiving those who dwell on the earth. The narrative underscores the supernatural deception orchestrated by these figures in their attempt to lead people away from the worship of the true God.

In summary, the biblical perspective on the Antichrist and false christs includes insights from both the Old and New Testaments. The warnings and prophecies underscore the deceptive nature of these figures, their opposition to God, and the importance of discernment, vigilance, and adherence to the true teachings of Jesus Christ. As believers navigate the complexities of the end times, the biblical guidance provided serves as a foundation for steadfast faith and a guard against deception.

The **Antichrist** is a central figure in biblical prophecy who will arise in the last days as a counterfeit messiah and global ruler, empowered by Satan to oppose God, deceive the nations, and persecute the saints. While the term "Antichrist" appears specifically in the epistles of John (1 John 2:18, 22; 4:3; 2 John 7), the figure himself is described under different titles and images throughout Scripture: the "man of lawlessness" (2 Thessalonians 2:3–4), the "beast from the sea" (Revelation 13:1–8), and the "little horn" (Daniel 7:8, 24–25). The name *Antichrist* implies both **opposition to Christ** and **imitation of Christ**—he seeks to usurp Jesus 'rightful place, deceive the world with false signs, and establish himself as an object of worship.

The rise of the Antichrist will mark the beginning stages of the **Tribulation**, a seven-year period of global turmoil and divine judgment. According to Daniel 9:27, he will make a seven-year covenant with many—likely including Israel—which he will break halfway through by committing the **abomination of desolation**, desecrating the Jewish temple and demanding worship (Matthew 24:15; 2 Thessalonians 2:4). Initially, the Antichrist will appear as a charismatic peacemaker and political genius, solving crises and gaining global influence. But his true nature will be revealed as he exalts himself above every god and persecutes those who refuse to worship him. Revelation 13 says that he will be given authority over every tribe, people, language, and nation, and that all who do not belong to Christ will be deceived into following him.

The Antichrist's power is **not his own**—he is energized by Satan himself (Revelation 13:2). He will be closely associated with a second figure, known as the **False Prophet** (Revelation 13:11–18), who promotes worship of the Antichrist and enforces allegiance through miraculous signs and the **mark of the beast** (666). This unholy trinity—Satan (the dragon), the Antichrist (the beast from the sea), and the False Prophet (the beast from the earth)—mimics the Holy Trinity in a final attempt to deceive the world and defy God. His short reign is characterized by unprecedented blasphemy, deception, and persecution, especially targeting Jews and Christians. Yet even in this dark time, God preserves a remnant of faithful believers, and multitudes come to faith despite the cost.

The Antichrist's end is certain and dramatic. At the climax of the Tribulation, during the **Battle of Armageddon**, Jesus Christ will return in glory, and the Antichrist and the False Prophet will be **captured and thrown alive into the lake of fire** (Revelation 19:19–20). His kingdom will be utterly destroyed, and Christ will establish His millennial reign on earth. The Antichrist serves as the ultimate example of humanity's rebellion and Satan's counterfeit rule, but he is no match for the power and authority of the true Messiah. For believers, understanding the Antichrist is not about fear, but about watchfulness and confidence in God's sovereign plan. Though deception will abound in the last days, those who are in Christ are sealed, protected, and destined to reign with Him forever.

# 26. The Antichrist (Beast from the Sea) (Revelation 13:1–2)

Biblical Commentary on "The Beast from the Sea"

The **Beast from the Sea** is one of the most vivid and disturbing figures in the Book of Revelation, introduced in **Revelation 13:1–10**. This creature emerges from the chaotic and turbulent sea—often symbolizing restless nations and evil powers—and serves as a central antagonist during the end times. The Beast is commonly understood as a representation of the **Antichrist**, a powerful political and religious leader who opposes God and persecutes His people. Through this figure, Revelation reveals the intense conflict between divine authority and satanic rebellion during the final chapters of human history.

John's description of the Beast from the Sea is rich in symbolism. It has **ten horns and seven heads**, with ten crowns on its horns and blasphemous names on its heads (Revelation 13:1). This imagery echoes the terrifying beasts of **Daniel 7**, linking the Beast to previous apocalyptic visions of kingdoms opposed to God. The horns and crowns symbolize authority and power, while the blasphemous names indicate the Beast's arrogant defiance against God's sovereignty. The Beast's mortal wound, which is miraculously healed (Revelation 13:3), highlights its deceptive resilience and the ability to inspire awe and worship, even mimicking divine resurrection.

Functionally, the Beast is granted authority by **the dragon**, identified as Satan (Revelation 13:2), to rule over the earth and make war against the saints. The Beast's rule is

characterized by **persecution**, **idolatry**, **and deceit**. It demands worship and allegiance, enforcing this through coercive measures such as the infamous **Mark of the Beast** (Revelation 13:16–17). Those who refuse to worship the Beast or receive his mark face economic exclusion and violent persecution. This figure embodies the ultimate worldly power that opposes God's kingdom, combining political control, religious deception, and ruthless oppression.

Theologically, the Beast from the Sea represents the **culmination of human rebellion against God**, fueled by Satanic influence and culminating in the last great apostasy. This entity's rise reminds believers of the transient nature of earthly power and the danger of compromising allegiance to Christ. The Beast's reign, though terrifying, is ultimately limited and temporary—destined to be defeated by the victorious return of Jesus Christ (Revelation 19:19–21). For the faithful, the Beast's presence is a solemn warning to remain steadfast in faith and to resist temptation and fear, knowing that God's justice will prevail.

## **Eschatological Summary:**

The Beast from the Sea is a powerful, demonic political leader who embodies rebellion against God, persecution of believers, and idolatrous worship. Emerging in the last days, this figure's authority is granted by Satan, making him the chief antagonist of the end times. His defeat at Christ's return is assured, but his rise serves as a severe test of faithfulness for the Church. The Beast's story challenges believers to remain watchful, courageous, and uncompromising in their loyalty to Jesus amidst a world increasingly hostile to God.

# 27. The Peace Treaty with Israel (Daniel 9:27)

Daniel 9:27 is one of the most critical prophetic verses in Scripture concerning the end times, particularly the role of a future covenant or peace treaty involving Israel. The verse reads: "Then he shall confirm a covenant with many for one week; but in the middle of the week he shall bring an end to sacrifice and offering. And on the wing of abominations shall be one who makes desolate..." This "he" is widely understood by many Bible scholars to refer to the coming Antichrist, a political leader who will rise to power during the last days. The "one week" refers to a seven-year period—the 70th week in the prophetic timeline given to Daniel (Daniel 9:24–27). This peace treaty will likely promise security and possibly the right for Israel to resume temple worship, marking the formal start of the Tribulation period.

The treaty will appear to offer peace but is ultimately a deceptive move by the Antichrist to further his global ambitions. The term "confirm a covenant with many" suggests a firm agreement, possibly involving multiple nations, that will bring a temporary resolution to longstanding Middle Eastern conflict. Israel, likely surrounded by hostility and yearning for peace, will enter into this covenant in hopes of security. However, Daniel 9:27 warns that "in the middle of the week"—after 3½ years—the Antichrist will betray

the covenant. He will "put an end to sacrifice and offering," implying that temple worship had resumed under the protection of this agreement. His betrayal leads to the **Abomination of Desolation**, referenced by Jesus in Matthew 24:15 and further detailed in 2 Thessalonians 2:4, where he sets himself up as God in the holy place.

This mid-tribulation betrayal triggers the Great Tribulation, a period of intense persecution, especially against the Jewish people and all who refuse to worship the beast. The Antichrist's act of desecrating the temple and proclaiming himself as divine initiates the final and most horrific portion of the Tribulation. Jesus Himself described this time as unprecedented in suffering (Matthew 24:21–22). Revelation 13 aligns with this, portraying a world under the sway of the beast's power, deception, and economic control. The peace treaty that began as a symbol of hope is exposed as part of a satanic strategy to deceive the nations and exalt the Antichrist. It becomes clear that this is not a divine peace, but a false peace, serving as a prelude to global upheaval and divine judgment.

For believers and students of prophecy, Daniel 9:27 is a warning and a beacon—signaling that the countdown to Christ's return begins with this covenant. It reminds us that true peace can only come through the Prince of Peace—Jesus Christ—not through human diplomacy or political agreements. While the world may celebrate the signing of such a treaty, Scripture warns that it will usher in the most turbulent time in human history. Understanding this verse equips the Church to recognize the signs of the times and to remain spiritually alert. It also calls us to share the gospel boldly, knowing that the world is heading toward a climactic confrontation between the kingdom of darkness and the kingdom of God—a confrontation that will end with Christ's triumphant return and the establishment of His eternal reign.

# 28. Gog and Magog Invasion – First Battle (Ezekiel 38–39) Biblical Commentary on "The Battle of Gog and Magog"

The Battle of *Gog and Magog* is a significant eschatological event described in both the Old and New Testaments. It represents one of the final rebellions against God, and its imagery carries profound theological meaning about divine justice, the sovereignty of God, and the destiny of evil. The name "Gog and Magog" first appears in Ezekiel 38–39, where Gog is depicted as a leader from the land of Magog and other distant nations who gathers a vast army to attack Israel. This invasion is not simply a geopolitical threat—it is a prophetic picture of a last-ditch attempt by evil forces to overthrow God's people and purposes. Ezekiel's vision portrays Gog's coalition being decisively defeated by God's supernatural intervention, through earthquakes, torrential rain, hailstones, fire, and brimstone (Ezekiel 38:19–22). The result is a complete and unmistakable demonstration of God's glory and power.

In Ezekiel's prophecy, the identity of Gog remains mysterious. He is described as "the chief prince of Meshech and Tubal" (Ezekiel 38:2), regions believed to be in Asia Minor

or modern-day Turkey. The nations allied with Gog—Persia, Cush, Put, Gomer, and others—symbolize a global alliance against God's people. The attack comes when Israel is "dwelling securely" (Ezekiel 38:11), suggesting a time of peace that is suddenly shattered by aggression. Yet the purpose of the battle is not simply military defeat; it is theological. God says, "I will magnify myself and sanctify myself, and will be known in the eyes of many nations" (Ezekiel 38:23). The battle becomes a stage upon which God displays His holiness, wrath, and faithfulness to protect His people.

The Book of Revelation echoes this prophecy in its depiction of the final rebellion after the Millennium. Revelation 20:7–9 states that "when the thousand years are ended, Satan will be released from his prison and will go out to deceive the nations in the four corners of the earth—Gog and Magog—to gather them for battle." This symbolic use of *Gog and Magog* represents the collective hostility of the nations against God and His saints. Unlike Ezekiel's localized imagery, John presents a universal rebellion. The people Satan deceives are "as numerous as the sand of the sea," and they surround "the beloved city," referring to God's people. But just as in Ezekiel, the victory belongs entirely to God: "fire came down from heaven and consumed them" (Revelation 20:9). Satan is then thrown into the lake of fire forever (Revelation 20:10), marking the absolute end of his power.

Theologically, the Battle of Gog and Magog reveals the futility of resisting God. Even after a thousand years of Christ's reign, the human heart—without transformation—remains susceptible to deception and rebellion. It also affirms that God's justice will not be rushed but will be perfect in timing and execution. These texts together convey a dual message: while evil may gather strength and even appear to triumph, God remains in control and will ultimately prevail. The battle serves as a final separation between the righteous and the wicked, leading into the great white throne judgment (Revelation 20:11–15) and the dawn of the new heaven and new earth. For believers, this is a source of assurance and courage: no matter how vast the opposition, the final victory belongs to God.

# 29. The Beast from the Sea (Revelation 13:1)

Biblical Commentary on "The Beast from the Sea"

The **Beast from the Sea** is one of the most vivid and disturbing figures in the Book of Revelation, introduced in **Revelation 13:1–10**. This creature emerges from the chaotic and turbulent sea—often symbolizing restless nations and evil powers—and serves as a central antagonist during the end times. The Beast is commonly understood as a representation of the **Antichrist**, a powerful political and religious leader who opposes God and persecutes His people. Through this figure, Revelation reveals the intense conflict between divine authority and satanic rebellion during the final chapters of human history.

John's description of the Beast from the Sea is rich in symbolism. It has **ten horns and seven heads**, with ten crowns on its horns and blasphemous names on its heads (Revelation 13:1). This imagery echoes the terrifying beasts of **Daniel 7**, linking the Beast to previous apocalyptic visions of kingdoms opposed to God. The horns and crowns

symbolize authority and power, while the blasphemous names indicate the Beast's arrogant defiance against God's sovereignty. The Beast's mortal wound, which is miraculously healed (Revelation 13:3), highlights its deceptive resilience and the ability to inspire awe and worship, even mimicking divine resurrection.

Functionally, the Beast is granted authority by **the dragon**, identified as Satan (Revelation 13:2), to rule over the earth and make war against the saints. The Beast's rule is characterized by **persecution**, **idolatry**, **and deceit**. It demands worship and allegiance, enforcing this through coercive measures such as the infamous **Mark of the Beast** (Revelation 13:16–17). Those who refuse to worship the Beast or receive his mark face economic exclusion and violent persecution. This figure embodies the ultimate worldly power that opposes God's kingdom, combining political control, religious deception, and ruthless oppression.

Theologically, the Beast from the Sea represents the **culmination of human rebellion against God**, fueled by Satanic influence and culminating in the last great apostasy. This entity's rise reminds believers of the transient nature of earthly power and the danger of compromising allegiance to Christ. The Beast's reign, though terrifying, is ultimately limited and temporary—destined to be defeated by the victorious return of Jesus Christ (Revelation 19:19–21). For the faithful, the Beast's presence is a solemn warning to remain steadfast in faith and to resist temptation and fear, knowing that God's justice will prevail.

## **Eschatological Summary:**

The Beast from the Sea is a powerful, demonic political leader who embodies rebellion against God, persecution of believers, and idolatrous worship. Emerging in the last days, this figure's authority is granted by Satan, making him the chief antagonist of the end times. His defeat at Christ's return is assured, but his rise serves as a severe test of faithfulness for the Church. The Beast's story challenges believers to remain watchful, courageous, and uncompromising in their loyalty to Jesus amidst a world increasingly hostile to God.

# 30. The Beast and the False Prophet (Revelation 13:11–12)

## **Biblical Commentary: The Beast and the False Prophet**

The Beast and the False Prophet are two central figures in the apocalyptic vision of Revelation, representing a final, climactic manifestation of evil in opposition to God and His people. The first beast, introduced in Revelation 13:1–10, arises from the sea and symbolizes a powerful, oppressive political or imperial system energized by Satan. It has characteristics of a leopard, bear, and lion—imagery that echoes the beasts of Daniel 7 and connects this figure to a succession of world empires hostile to God's kingdom. The dragon (Satan) gives the beast his power, throne, and great authority (Rev. 13:2),

indicating that this entity is more than just political—it is satanically empowered. This beast blasphemes God, wages war against the saints, and demands worship, representing a counterfeit Christ-like figure (often associated with the concept of the Antichrist). It seeks to dominate the world through fear, coercion, and deception.

The second beast, introduced in Revelation 13:11–18, is referred to later in Revelation 19:20 as the **False Prophet**. Unlike the first beast, it comes from the earth and appears harmless—"like a lamb"—but it speaks "like a dragon," signifying deception cloaked in the appearance of righteousness. The False Prophet's primary role is religious manipulation: it performs counterfeit miracles, promotes the worship of the first beast, and enforces the infamous "mark of the beast" (Rev. 13:16–17). This mark is a sign of allegiance and participation in the beast's economic and religious system, a symbol of rebellion against God. The False Prophet serves as the spiritual face of the beast's empire, mimicking the role of the Holy Spirit by drawing people into worship—but instead of pointing to Christ, he points to the beast. This is a counterfeit trinity: Satan (the dragon), the Antichrist (the beast from the sea), and the False Prophet (the beast from the earth).

Together, the Beast and the False Prophet represent the culmination of global political tyranny and spiritual deception. Their power is not only in their might and miracles but in their ability to manipulate belief, control commerce, and demand loyalty. They wage war against the Lamb and His followers, seeking to extinguish the witness of the Church through persecution and deceit. Revelation 16:13 describes them, along with the dragon, releasing demonic spirits to deceive the kings of the earth, leading to the final battle of Armageddon. These two figures are not just futuristic characters—they symbolize systems and patterns that have manifested throughout history: totalitarian regimes that demand ultimate allegiance and false religious systems that distort the truth of the gospel.

Ultimately, the Beast and the False Prophet are defeated by Christ at His return. In Revelation 19:20, both are captured and thrown alive into the lake of fire, a final and eternal judgment. Their downfall is swift, certain, and executed by the Word of God—the sword from Christ's mouth. This final judgment highlights the victory of truth over deception, of Christ over counterfeit saviors. For believers, this prophetic vision is not only a warning but a call to faithful endurance. Revelation repeatedly encourages the saints to resist compromise, refuse false worship, and remain loyal to the Lamb, even unto death. The reality of the Beast and the False Prophet is a reminder that while evil may appear powerful and persuasive for a season, it is ultimately temporary and doomed. Christ's kingdom, by contrast, is eternal, righteous, and victorious.

# 31. The False Prophet (Revelation 13:11–14)

**Biblical Commentary on "The False Prophet"** 

The **False Prophet** is introduced in **Revelation 13:11–18** as the second beast who rises from the earth, working in concert with the first beast—the **Antichrist**—and the dragon—**Satan**. This unholy trinity represents the final and most concentrated rebellion against God in the last days. While the first beast (the Antichrist) wields political and military

power, the False Prophet serves a **religious role**, deceiving the world into worshiping the Antichrist and enforcing allegiance to him. Revelation 13:11 describes him as having "two horns like a lamb," indicating an appearance of gentleness or spiritual authority, but he "spoke like a dragon," revealing his true satanic nature. His role is to mimic and corrupt the ministry of the Holy Spirit by directing worship not to God, but to the beast.

The False Prophet performs **great signs and wonders**, even calling down fire from heaven (Revelation 13:13), which deceives many. His counterfeit miracles are reminiscent of the signs performed by God's true prophets, like Elijah, but are used to **validate lies** and turn people's hearts toward the Antichrist. Just as the Holy Spirit glorifies Christ and draws people to worship Him, the False Prophet glorifies the beast and compels the world to create an **image of the beast**—an idol that speaks and demands worship (v. 14–15). Those who refuse to worship this image are sentenced to death, showing the totalitarian and violent nature of this religious deception.

One of the False Prophet's most infamous actions is the implementation of the **mark of the beast** (Revelation 13:16–18). This mark, placed on the right hand or forehead, is required to buy or sell and serves as a symbol of allegiance to the Antichrist's rule. The mark is tied to the name or number of the beast—666—which symbolizes complete human rebellion and the imitation of divine perfection (often represented by the number 7). The False Prophet enforces this mark and thereby plays a central role in compelling the world's population to choose between loyalty to God or submission to the beast. This global system of worship, commerce, and control becomes a spiritual trap for all who are not written in the Lamb's Book of Life (Revelation 13:8).

Ultimately, the **False Prophet's end is destruction**. At the return of Christ in Revelation 19:20, the beast (Antichrist) and the False Prophet are captured and thrown alive into the **lake of fire**—the place of eternal judgment. His downfall reveals that no matter how persuasive or powerful satanic deception may appear, **God's truth and justice prevail**. The False Prophet serves as a warning about false religion, spiritual compromise, and the dangers of being led by appearances rather than God's Word. For believers, the presence of the False Prophet in prophecy highlights the importance of discernment, faithfulness to Scripture, and unwavering allegiance to Christ. In the end, God will expose and destroy every false system, and the Lamb will reign in truth and righteousness.

# 32. The Abomination of Desolation (Matthew 24:15; Daniel 9:27)

**Biblical Commentary on "The Abomination of Desolation"** 

The **Abomination of Desolation** is a prophetic event mentioned in both the Old and New Testaments, marking a critical moment of blasphemy and rebellion against God. It is first referenced in the book of **Daniel** and later emphasized by Jesus in the **Olivet Discourse**. In **Daniel 9:27**, it is said that "in the middle of the week he shall bring an end to sacrifice and offering. And on the wing of abominations shall be one who makes desolate." Similar

language appears in Daniel 11:31 and 12:11, pointing to a time when a ruler desecrates the temple, causing it to become spiritually desolate. Historically, this was partially fulfilled when **Antiochus IV Epiphanes** defiled the Jewish temple in 167 B.C. by setting up a pagan altar and sacrificing a pig on it. However, Jesus 'words in **Matthew 24:15** reveal a yet future fulfillment during the end times.

Jesus warns, "When you see the abomination of desolation spoken of by the prophet Daniel, standing in the holy place (let the reader understand), then let those who are in Judea flee to the mountains" (Matthew 24:15–16). This indicates a specific event in the future that will serve as a signal for a time of unprecedented tribulation. The **Apostle Paul** also gives insight into this moment in **2 Thessalonians 2:3–4**, describing the "man of lawlessness" (commonly identified as the **Antichrist**) who will exalt himself, sit in the temple of God, and declare himself to be God. This act of self-deification and defilement in the rebuilt Jewish temple will constitute the final and ultimate **Abomination of Desolation**.

Tribulation, dividing it into two halves (Daniel 9:27). The Antichrist will have established a covenant of peace, possibly with Israel, but after 3½ years he will break it, stop temple sacrifices, and set himself up as the object of worship. This event not only desecrates the holy place but also initiates the **Great Tribulation**—a period of intense suffering, persecution, and divine judgment (Matthew 24:21). Jesus 'instructions to flee emphasize the extreme danger of this time. It will mark a full unveiling of the Antichrist's evil intentions and the beginning of unparalleled spiritual deception and global crisis.

Theologically, the **Abomination of Desolation** is a direct attack against the sovereignty and holiness of God. It is Satan's ultimate attempt to counterfeit God's authority and force the world into idolatrous worship. However, its occurrence is also under God's sovereign timeline, and it sets the stage for the final defeat of evil. The prophetic warnings serve as a call to spiritual vigilance. Believers are reminded that while deception and rebellion will reach their peak, **God's purposes will not be thwarted**, and Christ will return in power and glory. The Abomination of Desolation is a signpost in the prophetic calendar—a moment that will shock the world, but one that ultimately leads to the **triumph of the Lamb and the vindication of God's righteousness**.

# 33. The Mark of the Beast (Revelation 13:16–17)

## The Mark of the Beast

The "mark of the beast" and the number **666** are found in the Book of Revelation in the New Testament, and they have long been the subject of religious interpretation, speculation, and cultural fascination. Below is a detailed explanation, encompassing biblical context, historical interpretations, theological significance, and modern perspectives.

**Biblical Commentary on "The Mark of the Beast"** 

The **Mark of the Beast** is one of the most sobering and mysterious elements in biblical prophecy, symbolizing humanity's final choice between loyalty to God and allegiance to evil. The phrase comes from **Revelation 13:16–18**, which describes how the **beast from the earth**—commonly identified as the **False Prophet**—compels all people, "small and great, rich and poor, free and slave," to receive a mark on their right hand or forehead. This mark is more than just a physical identifier; it represents a deliberate act of worship and submission to the **beast**—the Antichrist—and his global system of rebellion against God. Without it, no one can buy or sell, creating intense economic and social pressure to conform.

The mark is directly linked to the **name of the beast** or **the number of his name**, which is famously stated as **666**. This number, while often speculated about, carries symbolic weight. In biblical numerology, the number **six** is associated with incompleteness and humanity (man was created on the sixth day), and repeated three times it may signify the fullest measure of human rebellion and imperfection—falling short of the divine perfection symbolized by seven. Revelation 13:18 calls for "wisdom" and "understanding," indicating that discerning the identity of the beast and the meaning of his number requires spiritual insight, not mere speculation or conspiracy. The mark, therefore, is not simply a technology or tattoo—it is a **spiritual allegiance**, showing who a person worships and follows.

The mark is introduced during the **Great Tribulation**, the second half of the seven-year Tribulation period, when the Antichrist assumes full control. Revelation 13 shows that this time will be marked by counterfeit miracles, religious deception, and state-enforced idolatry. The False Prophet sets up an image of the beast and gives it breath, causing it to speak and even kill those who refuse to worship it (Revelation 13:15). The mark is part of this system of total control. It mimics God's own seal placed on His faithful servants (Revelation 7:3; 14:1), reinforcing that the mark is not merely political or economic, but deeply spiritual. It is the satanic inversion of divine ownership—a counterfeit to the seal of the living God.

The consequences of taking the mark are eternally severe. Revelation 14:9–11 warns that those who receive it will drink "the wine of God's wrath, poured full strength into the cup of His anger," and will be tormented forever in the presence of the holy angels and the Lamb. In contrast, Revelation 20:4 honors the martyrs who refused the mark, stating they came to life and reigned with Christ during the Millennium. The choice surrounding the mark is ultimate and final: worship the beast and face eternal judgment, or worship God and potentially face death in this life—but receive eternal life. The message for believers today is clear: be spiritually alert, know God's truth, and be prepared to remain faithful even under the most intense pressure. The mark of the beast is not just about future prophecy—it is about present-day allegiance and the heart's loyalty to Christ versus the world.

#### 1. Biblical Context

The "mark of the beast" appears in the Book of **Revelation 13:16–18 (NIV)**:

"It also forced all people, great and small, rich and poor, free and slave, to receive a mark on their right hands or on their foreheads, so that they could not buy or sell unless they had the mark, which is the name of the beast or the number of its name. This calls for wisdom: let the one who has insight calculate the number of the beast, for it is the number of a man. That number is 666."

## **Key Points:**

- The "beast" is part of a vision John of Patmos received, describing two beasts: one from the sea and one from the earth.
- The **second beast** enforces the **mark** and promotes worship of the first.
- The mark is placed on the right hand or forehead.
- It is tied to **economic control**: without it, people cannot buy or sell.
- The number **666** is described as the number of the beast, and also of a **man**.

## 2. Symbolic Interpretations

## **Gematria (Numerology in ancient languages):**

- In Hebrew and Greek, letters also represent numbers. This allows names to have numeric values.
- A common theory identifies 666 with Nero Caesar:
  - In Hebrew, "Neron Kaisar" (a variant of Nero Caesar) transliterated and calculated equals 666.
  - This supports the idea that Revelation is a coded critique of Roman imperial power.

## Symbol of Imperfection:

- In biblical numerology, **7** often symbolizes **perfection or completion** (as in seven days of creation).
- 6 falls short of 7, and 666 (triple repetition) emphasizes ultimate imperfection, evil, or incompleteness.

#### Contrast with the Seal of God:

- In Revelation 7 and 14, God's faithful receive a seal on their foreheads.
- The mark of the beast is the **diabolical counterfeit** of this seal—representing allegiance to the beast rather than to God.

## 3. Theological Significance

### **Allegiance and Worship:**

- The mark represents loyalty—those who accept it align with the beast's power.
- Conversely, rejecting the mark may lead to persecution, economic hardship, or death, as the faithful are described as martyrs.

## **End-Times Eschatology:**

- In **futurist interpretations** (common in evangelical circles), the mark is often viewed as a future literal event: possibly a microchip, digital ID, or biometric mark, administered by a global government during the **Great Tribulation**.
- In **preterist views**, the mark symbolized events already fulfilled in the 1st century (e.g., Roman oppression).
- Idealist or symbolic interpretations (common in some Protestant and Catholic traditions) see the mark as a metaphor for any system, ideology, or practice that is in opposition to God.

## 4. Modern Interpretations and Cultural Impact

## **Popular Culture:**

- 666 and the mark have been linked to a wide range of things: barcodes, vaccines, RFID chips, social security numbers, etc.
- These associations often arise from mistrust in government, technology, or institutions.

## **Conspiracy Theories:**

- Some believe world governments or the UN will impose a one-world currency or identification system aligned with the "beast."
- These views often lack theological or scholarly grounding and lean heavily into speculative fiction.

### **Moral and Ethical Dimensions:**

- The core idea may point to choices of allegiance, ethical compromise, and conformity to corrupt systems.
- In this sense, the "mark" might not be a literal mark, but a pattern of behavior, ideology, or moral alignment.

# 34. Six Hundred Sixty-Six: The Number of the Beast (Revelation 13:18)

The Mark - 666 The Number Of THe Beast

Dr. **Daniel B. Wallace**, a respected New Testament scholar and textual critic, has discussed the number of the Beast found in *Revelation 13:18*, traditionally rendered as **666**. He notes that while 666 is the dominant reading in most manuscripts, there is significant and early manuscript evidence that the number may originally have been **616**.

### Dr. Wallace on 666 vs. 616

Wallace points out that although 666 is the more common reading, the variant 616 is not the result of a scribal mistake but appears to be a deliberate change, likely due to interpretive and linguistic considerations. Specifically, the name "Nero Caesar"—often associated with the Beast—adds up to 666 when written in Hebrew but totals 616 when transliterated into Latin.

He acknowledges that both numbers have early textual support, and their difference reflects variations in how early Christians understood the symbolism of the Beast.

## **Ancient Manuscripts That Read 616**

## 1. Papyrus 115 (\$\pi115)

Date: Around AD 225

Provenance: Oxyrhynchus, Egypt

 Significance: This is one of the earliest extant manuscripts of the Book of Revelation. It clearly gives the number of the Beast as 616, making it an important witness to this variant reading.

## 2. Codex Ephraemi Rescriptus (C)

• **Date**: 5th century

- Type: Palimpsest manuscript containing parts of both the Old and New Testaments
- Significance: This manuscript also records the number as 616 in Revelation 13:18.

## **Scholarly Interpretation**

The presence of 616 in these early and significant manuscripts has led scholars like Wallace to consider it a serious textual variant. The difference likely stems from the practice of **gematria**, the use of letters to represent numbers. Depending on whether the name "Nero Caesar" is rendered in Hebrew or Latin, the numerical total changes. In Hebrew, it totals 666; in Latin, 616.

Wallace and other scholars suggest that scribes or communities may have adjusted the number to reflect local language or interpretive traditions related to Nero as the archetypal enemy of the early church.

## **Summary**

 The traditional number of the Beast is 666, supported by most manuscripts.

- An early and well-supported variant is 616.
- Key manuscripts containing 616:
  - Papyrus 115 (ca. AD 225)
  - Codex Ephraemi Rescriptus (5th century)
- Dr. Daniel B. Wallace considers 616 a significant early variant rooted in linguistic and historical context.

# 35. Image of the Beast Worshiped (Revelation 13:15)

Revelation 13:15 presents one of the most chilling scenes in all of Scripture, describing the moment when an image of the Beast is given life and becomes the object of global worship. The verse reads: "He was granted power to give breath to the image of the beast, that the image of the beast should both speak and cause as many as would not worship the image of the beast to be killed." This event occurs during the Great Tribulation and is orchestrated by the second beast, often identified as the False Prophet (Revelation 13:11–18). Acting as a religious enforcer, the False Prophet uses supernatural deception and coercive power to compel the world to worship the first beast—the Antichrist—through a constructed image. This moment echoes and amplifies the idolatrous imagery of Daniel 3, where Nebuchadnezzar set up a golden image to be worshiped on pain of death, but now on a global and demonic scale.

The "image of the beast" represents more than a statue or symbol—it becomes a living instrument of deception and persecution. Through demonic power, or possibly advanced technology manipulated by evil forces, the image is made to "speak" and enforce death on those who refuse to comply. This could involve literal animation, or it may symbolically describe a highly interactive, intelligent system—something that could include artificial intelligence, augmented reality, or global surveillance tools. Regardless of the mechanism, the result is horrifyingly clear: the image becomes a tool of tyrannical control and spiritual corruption. All who refuse to worship it are marked for execution. This event signals the height of Satan's counterfeit worship system, a blasphemous imitation of God's true worship and a direct challenge to the authority of Christ.

This scene reveals the ultimate goal of the satanic trinity (the Dragon, the Beast, and the False Prophet): to be worshiped. Revelation 13 as a whole exposes Satan's end-times agenda—a counterfeit version of God's kingdom. The Dragon (Satan) gives power to the Beast (Antichrist), and the False Prophet serves as the Beast's religious spokesman. Together, they form a false trinity that mimics the relationship between the Father, the Son, and the Holy Spirit. The image of the Beast becomes a perverse echo of the incarnation, as something lifeless is "given breath" and becomes an object of universal adoration. But unlike Jesus, who brings life to those who worship Him, the image of the Beast brings death. This idolatrous worship is the climax of humanity's rebellion against God, and it draws down His final judgments as seen in Revelation 14–19.

For believers, this prophetic warning is both sobering and instructive. It underscores the need for spiritual discernment in a world increasingly prone to deception, spectacle, and technological manipulation. While this image is still future, the infrastructure—both ideological and technical—for such deception is already being laid. Christians are called to worship the true God in spirit and in truth (John 4:24), not to bow to political powers or technological idols. Revelation 13:15 is a clear reminder that allegiance to Christ in the last days will be costly, but also eternally rewarding. Those who refuse to worship the image may be killed, but they will reign with Christ forever (Revelation 20:4). In contrast, those who bow to the image face eternal separation from God. The choice is stark, and Revelation urges believers to stand firm, remain faithful, and resist the coming flood of false worship.

# 36. Global Economy Under Beast Control (Revelation 13:17)

Revelation 13:17 reveals a key aspect of the Antichrist's end-times system: total economic control tied to allegiance to the Beast. The verse states, "And that no one may buy or sell except one who has the mark or the name of the beast, or the number of his name." This passage comes in the context of the rise of the second beast—also called the False Prophet—who enforces global worship of the first beast (the Antichrist) and compels humanity to receive a mark on their right hand or forehead (Revelation 13:16). The economic restrictions described here are not merely punitive; they are strategically designed to coerce obedience and force conformity. By tying survival—access to food, resources, and trade—to the acceptance of the mark, the Beast system weaponizes the economy to serve spiritual rebellion and satanic control.

This prophecy describes the emergence of a unified, authoritarian economic structure—one where commerce is impossible apart from submission to the Beast's authority. Historically, political leaders have sought to control trade and monetary systems, but this future system is unique in its global scope and religious implications. It is not just about economics; it's about worship and loyalty. The mark of the Beast becomes both a spiritual and commercial passport. Those who accept it align themselves with the Beast and his agenda; those who refuse are economically excluded and, eventually, targeted for persecution. This integration of economics, technology, and religion into a totalitarian system is unlike anything the world has fully seen, although modern developments—like digital currencies, biometric ID systems, and global surveillance—suggest how such a framework could soon be possible.

Theologically, this economic control represents a counterfeit kingdom in direct opposition to the reign of Christ. While Jesus invites all people to come freely and receive the gift of salvation (Isaiah 55:1; Revelation 22:17), the Beast demands allegiance under threat of starvation and death. This false messiah imposes a system where basic human needs are weaponized against the conscience. It is the polar opposite of God's kingdom, where liberty and life flow from relationship with the Savior. Revelation 14 makes clear that receiving the mark leads to eternal judgment, showing that this is not a

neutral economic decision—it is a spiritual one with eternal consequences. Believers who resist will be unable to function within society's systems, but they will be counted among the faithful who reign with Christ (Revelation 20:4).

For today's believer, Revelation 13:17 is both a prophetic warning and a call to spiritual preparedness. While we are not yet under this global Beast system, the groundwork is rapidly being laid. Increasing centralization of financial systems, the rise of cashless economies, and global digital ID initiatives are signs of how such control could emerge quickly in a time of global crisis. Christians must resist fear, remain grounded in God's Word, and recognize that ultimate security does not come from money, technology, or governments, but from God alone. The Church is called to endure, proclaim the gospel, and remain faithful even when economic or political pressure mounts. In the end, those who trust Christ and refuse the mark—though they may suffer for a time—will inherit an eternal kingdom where no one can buy or sell their soul, because it has been bought with the blood of the Lamb.

## 37. Saints Face Great Persecution (Revelation 6:9–11)

Revelation 6:9–11 unveils a sobering scene within the heavenly throne room: the souls of martyred saints crying out for justice beneath the altar of God. The passage reads, "When He opened the fifth seal, I saw under the altar the souls of those who had been slain for the word of God and for the testimony which they held. And they cried with a loud voice, saying, 'How long, O Lord, holy and true, until You judge and avenge our blood on those who dwell on the earth?" This moment occurs as part of the Lamb's opening of the seven seals—each one revealing successive judgments and events that unfold during the Tribulation period. The fifth seal is unique in that it does not unleash a disaster on the earth but instead reveals a heavenly perspective on the cost of discipleship during the last days. It acknowledges that following Christ in the end times will come at a high price—many will be killed for their unwavering faith and gospel witness.

The martyrs described here are not victims of random violence; they are targeted because of their faithfulness to God's Word and their bold testimony for Christ. Their deaths are directly connected to their refusal to compromise or deny the gospel in the face of escalating opposition and persecution. This persecution is consistent with Jesus 'warnings in Matthew 24:9: "Then they will deliver you up to tribulation and kill you, and you will be hated by all nations for My name's sake." These saints represent the countless believers throughout history who have suffered for their faith, but in the context of Revelation, they especially point to the intense and widespread martyrdom that will characterize the Tribulation period. Their presence "under the altar" alludes to the sacrificial system of the Old Testament, where the blood of the sacrifice was poured at the base of the altar—indicating that their deaths are seen as offerings to God, precious in His sight (cf. Psalm 116:15).

The cry of these martyrs—"How long, O Lord...?"—echoes the lament of the righteous throughout Scripture who long for God's justice. Far from being a cry for personal revenge, their plea is for the vindication of God's holiness and truth. They know

that God is "holy and true" and trust that He will act justly in His time. In response, each is given a white robe—a symbol of purity, victory, and honor—and told to rest a little while longer until the full number of their fellow servants are also killed as they were. This divine response teaches us that God's justice is not forgotten but delayed for His sovereign purposes. There is a divine timetable for judgment, and even martyrdom falls within God's redemptive plan. This shows that suffering for Christ is not meaningless but part of a larger story that ends in eternal glory and justice.

For believers today, this passage serves as both a sobering reminder and a profound encouragement. While persecution may intensify in the future, the faithfulness of the saints is never overlooked in heaven. The imagery of the white robes and the proximity of the martyrs to the altar highlight the honor bestowed on those who remain faithful to Christ unto death. In an age increasingly hostile to biblical truth, this text reminds the Church to be prepared—not merely for opposition, but for costly obedience. Revelation 6:9–11 calls the Church to courage, endurance, and hope, knowing that the Lamb who opens the seals is also the Judge who will right every wrong and reward every act of faith. As persecution rises, so too will the glory of Christ in His suffering Church, and the promise remains: those who lose their lives for His sake will find eternal life in Him.

# 38. The Sealing of the 144,000 (Revelation 7:1–8)

The **sealing of the 144,000** is a key event in the Book of Revelation that emphasizes God's sovereignty, protection, and redemptive purpose during the time of great tribulation. In **Revelation 7:1–8**, the apostle John sees four angels holding back the winds of judgment until another angel ascends from the east, carrying "the seal of the living God." This angel commands the others not to harm the earth, sea, or trees until the servants of God have been sealed on their foreheads. Then John hears the number of those sealed: **144,000**, made up of **12,000 from each of the twelve tribes of Israel**. This sealing is not only a mark of divine ownership, but also a sign of **protection and purpose** during a time of divine wrath and global upheaval.

The identity of the 144,000 has been widely discussed. Many scholars interpret them as a **faithful remnant from ethnic Israel**—literal descendants of the tribes—who are chosen and preserved by God to serve Him during the Tribulation. This interpretation fits with Old Testament themes of God preserving a remnant (Isaiah 10:20–22; Zechariah 13:8–9) and His continued covenantal purposes for Israel (Romans 11:1–5, 25–29). The sealing does not mean exemption from suffering but guarantees **spiritual protection** amid judgment and deception. In this way, the 144,000 serve as a witness to God's faithfulness and His power to preserve His people in the midst of chaos and persecution.

Later in Revelation 14:1–5, John sees the 144,000 again—this time standing with the Lamb on Mount Zion. They bear His name and the name of His Father on their foreheads, showing **full allegiance** to Christ. They are described as "redeemed from the earth," "blameless," and "those who follow the Lamb wherever He goes." They sing a new song that no one else can learn, a song of redemption and devotion. This scene portrays the

144,000 as **spiritually pure**, **faithful witnesses** who have not compromised with the evil systems of the world. Their presence with the Lamb also suggests their ultimate victory and reward, highlighting that divine sealing is not merely for earthly survival but for eternal relationship and purpose.

Theologically, the sealing of the 144,000 is a powerful reminder that **God knows and preserves His own**, even in the darkest times. It echoes the sealing seen in Ezekiel 9, where the faithful are marked before judgment falls on Jerusalem. It also stands in contrast to the **mark of the beast** (Revelation 13:16–17), reinforcing the truth that everyone ultimately belongs to either God or the enemy. The 144,000 serve as an encouragement to remain faithful, to trust in God's ability to protect and empower, and to live lives that are set apart for His glory. Whether symbolic of a specific group or representative of all God's faithful people, the message is clear: in the midst of judgment and tribulation, **God seals, protects, and uses His servants for His redemptive mission.** 

# 39. The Two Witnesses (Revelation 11:3–12)

**Biblical Commentary on "The Two Witnesses"** 

The account of the **Two Witnesses** in **Revelation 11:1–14** stands as one of the most dramatic and mysterious passages in biblical prophecy. These two prophetic figures are raised up by God during the Great Tribulation to proclaim truth, call the world to repentance, and stand as bold witnesses in the face of global deception and opposition. Their ministry takes place in **Jerusalem**—"the great city... where also their Lord was crucified" (Revelation 11:8)—and lasts for **1,260 days**, or  $3\frac{1}{2}$  years, corresponding to the second half of the seven-year Tribulation period. Their arrival represents God's mercy and justice operating even during a time of intense judgment, as He does not leave the earth without a witness to His name.

The Two Witnesses are given **supernatural power** and authority. They are described as "the two olive trees and the two lampstands" (Revelation 11:4), a reference to **Zechariah 4**, where olive trees represent God's anointed servants empowered by the Spirit. These witnesses are sustained by God and cannot be harmed until their ministry is complete. Fire proceeds from their mouths to consume enemies (v. 5), and they have authority to **shut the sky** so that it does not rain, **turn water into blood**, and **strike the earth with plagues**. These powers mirror the ministries of **Elijah**, who called down fire and stopped the rain (1 Kings 17–18), and **Moses**, who brought plagues on Egypt and turned the Nile into blood (Exodus 7–12). As such, many interpret the Two Witnesses as either Moses and Elijah returned, or as two individuals who serve in the same prophetic spirit and power.

After their testimony is complete, the **beast from the abyss**—interpreted as the Antichrist—will overcome and kill them (Revelation 11:7). Their dead bodies will lie in the streets of Jerusalem for **three and a half days**, and the world will celebrate their deaths, refusing them burial and exchanging gifts in a grotesque mockery of victory. This global

celebration reveals the world's utter rejection of God's truth. However, in a display of divine power, **God resurrects the Two Witnesses** publicly. "The breath of life from God entered them, and they stood on their feet," causing great fear to fall on those who saw it (v. 11). A loud voice calls them to heaven, and they ascend in a cloud while their enemies look on. In the same hour, a great earthquake strikes the city, killing 7,000 people and prompting survivors to give glory to God—a rare moment of acknowledgment amid widespread rebellion.

Theologically, the Two Witnesses represent the **unshakable power of God's word and presence** even in the darkest times. Their ministry demonstrates that truth cannot be silenced, even if the world tries to kill the messengers. They are examples of fearless devotion and supernatural empowerment, standing firm in the face of persecution. Their death and resurrection prefigure the pattern of Christ Himself and foreshadow the final resurrection of the saints. Their witness serves both as a call to repentance and a warning of coming judgment. In the midst of wrath, God still extends grace. The Two Witnesses remind believers that no matter how hostile the world may become, **God's purposes will prevail**, **His witnesses will stand**, **and His truth will be vindicated**.

# II-(a) The Rapture

# 40. Pre-Tribulation Rapture (First Thessalonians 4:16–17; Revelation 3:10)

**Pre-Tribulation Rapture (First Thessalonians 4:16–17; Revelation 3:10)** 

The doctrine of the Pre-Tribulation Rapture teaches that believers in Jesus Christ will be caught up to meet the Lord in the air before the seven-year Tribulation begins. This view draws heavily from 1 Thessalonians 4:16–17, which says: "For the Lord Himself will descend from heaven with a shout, with the voice of an archangel, and with the trumpet of God. And the dead in Christ will rise first. Then we who are alive and remain shall be caught up together with them in the clouds to meet the Lord in the air. And thus we shall always be with the Lord." The Greek word for "caught up" (harpazō) conveys the idea of a sudden, forceful snatching away, and the Latin translation (rapturo) gives us the word "rapture." This event, according to the Pre-Tribulation view, is distinct from Christ's Second Coming to the earth and occurs beforehand, serving to remove the Church before God pours out His wrath on the world during the Tribulation.

Revelation 3:10 is another key text supporting the Pre-Tribulation Rapture view, particularly in its promise of deliverance from a specific time of global testing. Jesus says to the faithful church in Philadelphia: "Because you have kept My command to persevere, I also will keep you from the hour of trial which shall come upon the whole world, to test those who dwell on the earth." The phrase "keep you from" (tēreō ek in Greek) is often interpreted to mean a complete removal from the period of tribulation, not

merely preservation through it. This promise, given to a faithful remnant, is seen as typological for the Church being kept from the coming global judgment described in Revelation chapters 6–19. Unlike other periods of persecution in history, this "hour of trial" is uniquely global and divinely appointed—a time of wrath from which the Church is spared, not subjected.

The Pre-Tribulation view maintains a distinction between the Church and Israel and sees the Tribulation as a time primarily focused on Israel and the unbelieving world. This is rooted in passages like Daniel 9:24–27, which outlines seventy "weeks" (or sets of seven years) determined for Israel and Jerusalem. The final "week" (the Tribulation) is thus understood as the continuation of God's prophetic dealings with Israel—not the Church, which was not present in the first 69 weeks. Therefore, proponents of the Pre-Tribulation Rapture believe that the Church age must conclude before God resumes His covenantal dealings with Israel. This interpretation also emphasizes the absence of direct references to the Church in Revelation chapters 6–18, which describe the Tribulation, further suggesting the Church has already been removed from the scene.

For believers, the doctrine of the Pre-Tribulation Rapture offers comfort, urgency, and hope. Paul ends his description of the Rapture in 1 Thessalonians 4:18 with these words: "Therefore comfort one another with these words." The expectation of being taken to be with Christ before the coming wrath provides assurance that God's people are not appointed to judgment (cf. 1 Thessalonians 5:9). At the same time, the imminence of the Rapture—its belief that it can occur at any moment—motivates holy living, faithful evangelism, and spiritual readiness. Regardless of one's eschatological position, the central truth remains: Christ is coming again, and His return will be sudden, glorious, and final. The Pre-Tribulation Rapture view encourages believers to look upward with anticipation and live outward with boldness, knowing that the Church's redemption draws near.

## 41. Mid-Tribulation Rapture (Revelation 11:11–12)

The Mid-Tribulation Rapture view holds that the Church will be raptured halfway through the seven-year Tribulation period—at the 3½-year mark—coinciding with major prophetic events such as the sounding of the seventh trumpet and the rising of the Two Witnesses. Revelation 11:11–12 describes a mysterious and powerful scene: "Now after the three-and-a-half days the breath of life from God entered them, and they stood on their feet... And they heard a loud voice from heaven saying to them, 'Come up here.' And they ascended to heaven in a cloud, and their enemies saw them." These verses describe the resurrection and ascension of the Two Witnesses who prophesy during the first half of the Tribulation. Mid-Trib proponents see this moment not just as a unique event involving two individuals but as symbolic—or even representative—of the Church's rapture at the midpoint, especially since it coincides with the blowing of the seventh trumpet (Revelation 11:15), often associated with the last trumpet in 1 Corinthians 15:52.

This view finds support in the structure of the Book of Revelation, which highlights the dramatic shift that occurs at the midpoint of the Tribulation. Revelation chapters 1–3 address the Church directly, but the Church is not mentioned during the judgment sequences of chapters 6–10. In Revelation 11, the resurrection of the Two Witnesses and the sounding of the seventh trumpet serve as a transition point. The seventh trumpet, like the "last trumpet" Paul mentions in 1 Corinthians 15:52, heralds the final stage of God's plan. Mid-Tribulationists argue that this trumpet signals the Rapture—resurrection and transformation of believers—and the beginning of the Great Tribulation, or the final 3½ years known as "the time of Jacob's trouble" (Jeremiah 30:7), when God's wrath is fully unleashed.

Theologically, the Mid-Trib view attempts to balance the themes of divine protection and purification. Unlike Pre-Tribulationism, which removes the Church before the Tribulation begins, the Mid-Trib position suggests that believers will endure the first half of the Tribulation but will be removed before the worst judgments are released. This view maintains that God allows the Church to suffer persecution and testing under the Antichrist's growing power (Revelation 13:5–7), but delivers His people before the outpouring of His direct wrath seen in the bowl judgments (Revelation 16). This aligns with verses like **Revelation 7:14**, which describe a great multitude coming out of the "great tribulation," suggesting both endurance and deliverance. The Mid-Trib position also emphasizes the prophetic timeline laid out in Daniel 9:27, where the covenant is broken halfway through the "week," marking the Antichrist's full rebellion and God's intensified judgments.

For believers today, the Mid-Tribulation Rapture view serves as both a warning and a call to steadfastness. It encourages the Church to prepare for a time of increasing hostility and deception, knowing that hardship may precede Christ's coming. At the same time, it offers profound hope—that God will intervene at just the right moment, transforming and gathering His people before His wrath falls in full. Revelation 11:11–12 presents a vivid picture of resurrection and ascension, assuring believers that their suffering is not the end. Whether one holds a Pre-, Mid-, or Post-Tribulation view, all believers can agree that Jesus will return in power, that the resurrection of the righteous is assured, and that God's justice will ultimately prevail. The Mid-Trib view emphasizes endurance in faith and watchfulness in hope—waiting not for escape, but for triumph in Christ.

# 42. Post-Tribulation Rapture (Matthew 24:29–31)

The Post-Tribulation Rapture view teaches that the Church will be raptured at the end of the seven-year Tribulation, coinciding with the visible return of Christ to earth. This perspective finds a key biblical foundation in Matthew 24:29–31, where Jesus states: "Immediately after the tribulation of those days the sun will be darkened, and the moon will not give its light... Then the sign of the Son of Man will appear in heaven... and He will send His angels with a great sound of a trumpet, and they will gather

together His elect from the four winds, from one end of heaven to the other." These verses unmistakably place the gathering of the elect—believed by Post-Trib proponents to be the Rapture—after the Tribulation. The plain sequence of the text links cosmic disturbances, Christ's return in glory, and the gathering of believers, suggesting a singular, climactic event rather than two distinct comings of Christ.

Post-Tribulationists argue that the Rapture and Second Coming are one unified event, not two phases separated by years. They point to the consistent pattern in the New Testament where Christ's return is described as visible, powerful, and final (e.g., 1 Thessalonians 4:16–17, 2 Thessalonians 1:6–10). They interpret Paul's description of believers meeting the Lord "in the air" in 1 Thessalonians 4:17 not as a departure to heaven, but as a welcoming party that joins Christ as He descends to establish His earthly reign (a common Greco-Roman custom when dignitaries arrived). The "gathering of the elect" in Matthew 24:31 aligns with this view, suggesting that saints will be resurrected or transformed at the end of the Tribulation and immediately share in Christ's victorious return and millennial kingdom.

Theologically, the Post-Tribulation view emphasizes endurance, faithfulness, and preparedness amid suffering. This perspective does not promise escape from the Tribulation but calls the Church to persevere through it. Passages like John 16:33, where Jesus says, "In this world you will have tribulation, but take heart; I have overcome the world," and Revelation 13:7, which says the beast will "make war with the saints," are cited as evidence that believers are not exempt from end-time persecution. Post-Tribulationists argue that the wrath believers are promised to be spared from (1 Thessalonians 5:9) refers to eternal wrath or the bowl judgments at the very end, not necessarily the entire Tribulation period. The saints 'presence during the Tribulation is seen as a powerful witness of God's faithfulness and a testimony to the power of the gospel in the darkest times.

For modern believers, the Post-Tribulation view provides both a warning and a strengthening hope. It reminds the Church that persecution and suffering are not signs of God's absence but are opportunities to display steadfast faith and Christlike endurance. It calls Christians to be spiritually vigilant, not in fear of judgment, but in expectation of vindication and reward. The Rapture, in this view, is not an escape hatch but a glorious reunion with the returning King who has conquered sin, death, and the powers of darkness. As Jesus said in Matthew 24:13, "He who endures to the end shall be saved." The Post-Trib view holds that the Church's most glorious moment is not its removal before trouble, but its triumph through it, culminating in a victorious entrance into Christ's eternal kingdom.

## 43. Our Transfiguration (First Corinthians 15:51–52)

In 1 Corinthians 15:51–52, the apostle Paul unveils a glorious mystery—the instantaneous transformation, or "transfiguration," of believers at the return of Christ. He writes: "Behold, I tell you a mystery: We shall not all sleep, but we shall all be changed— in a moment, in the twinkling of an eye, at the last trumpet. For the trumpet

will sound, and the dead will be raised incorruptible, and we shall be changed." Paul uses the term "mystery" to refer to a previously unrevealed truth now made known by divine revelation. The mystery is this: not all Christians will experience physical death ("sleep"), but all will be transformed—from mortal, corruptible bodies into glorified, imperishable ones. This moment marks the completion of our salvation in bodily form, when we are finally made fit for eternal life in God's presence.

This transformation will occur "in a moment, in the twinkling of an eye," emphasizing both the suddenness and the supernatural nature of the event. The "last trumpet" refers to a final, divine summons signaling Christ's return, echoing themes found in 1 Thessalonians 4:16–17, where the dead in Christ rise first and the living are caught up together with them. The trumpet was often used in Scripture to announce a gathering (Numbers 10:2) or a call to divine activity (Exodus 19:16). Here, it marks the climactic fulfillment of God's redemptive plan for His people. Whether dead or alive, every believer will be instantly changed, receiving a glorified, resurrection body like that of the risen Christ (Philippians 3:20–21), free from death, sin, pain, and decay.

This "transfiguration" is essential because our current, perishable bodies are unfit for the eternal, incorruptible realm of God's kingdom. Paul explains this further in the surrounding verses: "Flesh and blood cannot inherit the kingdom of God, nor does corruption inherit incorruption" (1 Corinthians 15:50). Our earthly bodies are marked by weakness and dishonor, but the resurrected body will be raised in power and glory (1 Corinthians 15:42–44). This transformation is not self-generated—it is the work of God alone, a divine act of re-creation that reflects the victory of Christ over sin and death. Through it, death is finally swallowed up in victory (v.54), and believers fully enter into the glorious inheritance prepared for them.

For the believer, the promise of our transfiguration is a source of profound hope and comfort, especially in a world marked by mortality and suffering. It assures us that death is not the end, and that our ultimate destiny is not a disembodied existence but a fully redeemed life in a glorified body—eternal, powerful, and radiant with the glory of God. This truth fuels perseverance, holiness, and expectant joy. Paul closes the chapter with a call to action: "Therefore, my beloved brethren, be steadfast, immovable, always abounding in the work of the Lord..." (v.58). The certainty of our future transformation should compel us to live faithfully now, knowing that our labor is not in vain because we are destined for resurrection and eternal glory with Christ.

**Our Transfiguration: The Glorification of Believers** 

Text: Philippians 3:20–21 (AKJV)

"For our conversation is in heaven; from whence also we look for the Saviour, the Lord Jesus Christ: who shall change our vile body, that it may be fashioned like unto his glorious body, according to the working whereby he is able even to subdue all things unto himself."

## **Introduction: From Mortality to Glory**

The transfiguration of believers—also known as **glorification**—is the final stage of salvation, when those who belong to Christ will receive **resurrected**, **glorified bodies**, made like His. This transformation completes the process begun in justification and sanctification. It is the moment when **our physical bodies** are **redeemed**, and we are conformed fully to the image of Christ, both in spirit and in body.

This divine event will take place at the Rapture (for Church-age saints) and at the final resurrection for all other believers, marking our entrance into the fullness of eternal life, free from sin, death, and decay.

#### 1. The Promise of Transformation

## 1.1 Philippians 3:20–21 – A Heavenly Citizenship and a Glorious Body

Paul assures believers that:

- Our true citizenship is in heaven.
- We eagerly await Jesus 'return.
- At His coming, He will **change (transform)** our current "vile" (humble, lowly) bodies.
- Our new bodies will be fashioned like unto His glorious body.

This is not a symbolic change, but a literal **physical transformation** into bodies suited for eternal life.

### 1.2 1 Corinthians 15:51–53 – The Mystery Revealed

Paul calls this transformation a "mystery":

- Not all believers will die, but all will be changed.
- It will happen in a moment, in the twinkling of an eye.
- Our mortal must put on immortality, and the corruptible must put on incorruption.

This reveals the suddenness, completeness, and divine nature of our glorification.

#### 2. The Nature of Our Glorified Bodies

### 2.1 Like Christ's Resurrected Body

After His resurrection, Jesus had a real, physical body:

- He could eat (Luke 24:42-43),
- Be touched (John 20:27),
- Yet pass through doors and ascend to heaven (John 20:19; Acts 1:9).

Our glorified bodies will be:

• **Incorruptible** – no longer subject to aging or decay (1 Cor. 15:42),

- Glorious radiating the beauty of God's holiness (v. 43),
- **Powerful** free from weakness and limitation (v. 43),
- **Spiritual** perfectly aligned with the Spirit, not bound by the sinful flesh (v. 44).

### 2.2 No More Sickness, Sin, or Death

- Revelation 21:4 "There shall be no more death, neither sorrow, nor crying, neither shall there be any more pain..."
- Romans 8:23 Our bodies will be **redeemed**, free from sin's corruption.
- Glorification ends the believer's struggle with the flesh once and for all.

## 3. The Timing of Our Transfiguration

## 3.1 At the Rapture (for Church-Age Saints)

- 1 Thessalonians 4:16-17 The dead in Christ rise first; the living are caught up and transformed together.
- This is when believers 'bodies are glorified and reunited with their spirits.

## 3.2 At the Final Resurrection (for Tribulation and Old Testament Saints)

- Daniel 12:2-3 Old Testament believers will awake to everlasting life and shine like the stars.
- Revelation 20:4–6 Those martyred in the Tribulation are raised to reign with Christ.

## 4. The Purpose of Our Glorification

### 4.1 Full Conformity to Christ

- Romans 8:29–30 We are predestined to be conformed to the image of His Son.
- This is the fulfillment of that purpose—spiritually and physically transformed to be like Christ.

### 4.2 Entrance into the Eternal Kingdom

- 2 Peter 1:11 Our glorified state is necessary to enter the everlasting kingdom of God.
- We are made fit for eternity—able to dwell in God's presence forever.

## 5. Our Response to This Glorious Hope

### 5.1 Live in Holiness and Readiness

- 1 John 3:2–3 "When He shall appear, we shall be like Him... and every man that hath this hope purifieth himself."
- The promise of glorification is a motivation for **daily sanctification**.

### **5.2 Persevere Through Suffering**

- Romans 8:18 "The sufferings of this present time are not worthy to be compared with the glory which shall be revealed in us."
- Our current pain is temporary and preparing us for **eternal glory**.

## 5.3 Worship and Anticipation

- **2 Corinthians 4:17** "For our light affliction... worketh for us a far more exceeding and eternal weight of glory."
- This truth leads to worship, endurance, and longing for our eternal home.

## **Conclusion: The Glory That Awaits Us**

Our transfiguration is the **culmination of our salvation**, when we will see Christ and be like Him forever. It is the hope of every believer, the crown of God's redemptive plan, and the doorway into **eternal**, **sinless**, **resurrected life** in the presence of God.

"Beloved, now are we the sons of God... but we know that, when He shall appear, we shall be like Him; for we shall see Him as He is." (1 John 3:2)

Let us therefore walk in hope, stand firm in faith, and long for the day when mortality is swallowed up by **life everlasting**.

# 44. The Golden Censer and the Prayers of the Saints (Revelation 8:3–5)

Biblical Commentary on "The Golden Censer and the Prayers of the Saints"

The imagery of the **golden censer** and the **prayers of the saints** appears powerfully in **Revelation 8:3–5**, positioned between the opening of the seventh seal and the sounding of the seven trumpets. This scene occurs in the heavenly temple, emphasizing the intimate connection between **divine judgment** and **the intercession of God's people**. John writes, "Another angel came and stood at the altar with a golden censer, and he was given much incense to offer with the prayers of all the saints on the golden altar before the throne." This moment reveals that the cries of the faithful are **not forgotten**, but are central to the unfolding of God's final actions in history.

The **golden censer** was a vessel used in the Old Testament tabernacle and temple for burning incense (cf. Leviticus 16:12–13). In Revelation, the incense represents the **prayers of the saints**, mingled with heavenly incense, rising before God. This holy act signifies that **God hears and treasures** the petitions, cries for justice, and worship offered by His people—especially those who have suffered for His name. The altar in heaven mirrors the altar of incense in the earthly temple (Exodus 30), showing that **true worship and intercession have always been central to God's covenantal relationship with His people**.

What follows is striking: the angel fills the censer with fire from the altar and hurls it to the earth, resulting in "peals of thunder, rumblings, flashes of lightning, and an earthquake"

(Revelation 8:5). This act marks a **transition from divine hearing to divine action**. The prayers of the saints are not just heard—they are **answered through judgment**. The symbolic message is clear: God responds to the suffering and pleas of His people by initiating justice upon the earth. Their prayers are not powerless; they are, in fact, part of the mechanism that brings about the fulfillment of God's sovereign purposes.

Theologically, this passage reinforces the truth that **prayer matters in the heavenly realm**. In a world where evil often seems unchallenged and justice delayed, Revelation shows that **heaven listens**. The golden censer becomes a symbol of both intercession and impending judgment. God's timing may appear slow, but it is purposeful. The saints' prayers are preserved, sanctified, and then returned to the earth in the form of righteous action. This connection between prayer and judgment teaches believers to pray with **faith, hope, and reverence**, knowing that their words are heard by the Judge of all the earth.

## **Spiritual Reflection:**

The scene of the golden censer and the prayers of the saints is a beautiful reminder that **our prayers are not in vain**. Every whispered plea, every tearful intercession, every word of worship rises before God's throne like incense. In due time, those prayers become part of His great response—bringing justice, delivering the faithful, and establishing His kingdom. This passage encourages believers to **persevere in prayer**, especially in times of persecution or discouragement, trusting that heaven hears and that **God will act, in power and righteousness, at the appointed time**.

# III. Tribulation Period (Seven Years Total)

# 45. Tribulation Begins (Matthew 24:21)

Matthew 24:21 marks a turning point in Jesus 'Olivet Discourse, where He warns of a unique and unprecedented period of suffering known as the "Great Tribulation." The verse reads: "For then there will be great tribulation, such as has not been since the beginning of the world until this time, no, nor ever shall be." Jesus speaks these words in response to His disciples' questions about the end of the age and the signs of His coming. The phrase "great tribulation" (thlipsis megalē in Greek) refers to a time of global distress that surpasses all previous calamities in intensity and scope. According to the timeline given in Matthew 24, this period begins after the abomination of desolation (v.15), which occurs at the midpoint of Daniel's 70th week (Daniel 9:27), marking the final 3½ years before Christ's Second Coming.

The Tribulation is not merely a time of political unrest or natural disasters—it is a divinely appointed period of judgment, deception, persecution, and cosmic upheaval. In the first half of Matthew 24, Jesus outlines wars, famines, earthquakes, false

prophets, and spiritual deception as "the beginning of sorrows" (v.8). However, verse 21 signals a transition into something far more severe: direct and escalating divine judgments poured out upon a rebellious world. This period corresponds with the seal, trumpet, and bowl judgments described in Revelation chapters 6–16. It is also the time when the Antichrist exerts his full power, breaks his covenant with Israel, desecrates the temple, and launches unprecedented persecution against Jews and Christians (cf. Revelation 13:5–7; Daniel 12:1).

Jesus 'use of the phrase "such as has not been since the beginning of the world" underscores the unparalleled severity of this time. Unlike previous national judgments or even world wars, the Great Tribulation is uniquely global in scope and spiritual in nature. It combines Satan's fury—unleashed through the Antichrist and False Prophet—with God's righteous wrath poured out on the earth. Yet even in the midst of judgment, God's redemptive plan is active. A multitude will come to faith during this time (Revelation 7:9–14), and the gospel will continue to be preached to all nations (Matthew 24:14). The Tribulation will also serve as a catalyst for Israel's eventual national repentance and spiritual awakening (Zechariah 12:10; Romans 11:26), fulfilling long-awaited prophetic promises.

For the Church today, Matthew 24:21 stands as a solemn warning and a call to readiness. While views differ on whether the Church will go through the Tribulation (Pre, Mid-, or Post-Trib), Jesus 'teaching makes clear that this future period will test the faith of many and reveal the hearts of humanity. Believers are called not to speculate idly about dates, but to remain spiritually alert, grounded in Scripture, and devoted to Christ. Jesus later warns, "Watch therefore, for you do not know what hour your Lord is coming" (Matthew 24:42). The onset of the Tribulation will come with deception, signs, and suffering—but it will also end with the glorious return of Christ to establish His righteous kingdom. Until then, the Church is called to endure, proclaim the truth, and await her King.

## 46. The Four Horsemen of the Apocalypse (Revelation 6:1–8)

**Biblical Commentary on "The Four Horsemen of the Apocalypse"** 

The **Four Horsemen of the Apocalypse**, found in **Revelation 6:1–8**, appear at the opening of the first four of the **Seven Seals** that Jesus breaks from the scroll in heaven. These four horsemen are symbolic agents of divine judgment, unleashed upon the earth during the early phases of the Great Tribulation. Each rider is introduced with a commanding voice: "Come!" as one of the living creatures summons them forth. They are not random figures of chaos, but serve under **God's sovereign authority**, sent forth as part of His judgment upon a rebellious world. These horsemen represent **war, conquest, famine, and death**—realities that will intensify during the end times.

### 1. The First Horseman: White Horse (Conquest or Deception)

Revelation 6:2 describes a rider on a white horse, holding a bow and wearing a crown, who rides out "as a conqueror bent on conquest." The white horse is often associated with righteousness and victory, but this rider is **not Christ** (who appears on a white horse in Revelation 19) because this horseman appears as part of God's judgments, not redemption. Many interpret this rider as **symbolizing false peace or political deception**, possibly representing the rise of the **Antichrist**, who will initially appear as a man of peace, uniting nations and gaining control without open warfare. His conquest is strategic and misleading, laying the groundwork for the devastation that follows.

### 2. The Second Horseman: Red Horse (War)

The second seal unleashes a rider on a red horse, granted the power to "take peace from the earth and to make men slay each other" (Revelation 6:4). He carries a great sword, representing **bloodshed and conflict**. This horseman brings **global war and violent uprisings**, following the false peace of the first. His arrival marks a dramatic shift to **chaos**, **instability**, **and violent rebellion**. In the prophetic sequence, this reveals that worldly promises of unity and peace—especially those made by deceptive leaders—will quickly unravel, giving way to widespread conflict.

### 3. The Third Horseman: Black Horse (Famine)

The rider on the black horse (Revelation 6:5–6) carries a pair of scales, and a voice cries out, "A quart of wheat for a denarius, and three quarts of barley for a denarius, but do not damage the oil and the wine." This imagery depicts a time of **economic collapse and severe food shortages**. A denarius was a full day's wage, meaning that during this time, a person will work all day just to afford enough food for one. Famine often follows war, and this judgment reflects **economic injustice**, **inflation**, **and survival-level scarcity**. The preservation of oil and wine may suggest that the rich are untouched while the poor suffer—highlighting **inequality and social collapse** during the Tribulation.

### 4. The Fourth Horseman: Pale Horse (Death and Hades)

The final rider appears on a pale (ashen/greenish) horse, and his name is Death, followed closely by Hades (Revelation 6:8). They are given authority over a fourth of the earth to kill by sword, famine, plague, and wild beasts. This grim figure represents death on a massive scale, incorporating the effects of the previous horsemen and amplifying them with disease and terror. Hades following Death symbolizes that both physical and spiritual consequences are in view—those who die without Christ enter not only physical death but eternal separation. This fourth judgment confirms the devastating cost of rebellion against God and the unraveling of human civilization under divine judgment.

### **Eschatological and Theological Significance:**

The Four Horsemen represent **progressive stages of divine judgment** unleashed during the first half of the Tribulation. They mirror the warnings Jesus gave in Matthew

24:6–8—wars, famines, and plagues—as the "beginning of birth pains." These riders are not merely symbolic of general human suffering, but specific prophetic markers of the **coming apocalypse**, designed to wake the world to its need for repentance. They expose the **frailty of man's systems**, the illusion of peace apart from Christ, and the inevitable collapse of human power when divorced from God.

For the believer, these judgments are a call to spiritual readiness, watchfulness, and hope in Christ alone. While the Church may be spared from these events depending on one's view of the rapture, the message is clear: **God is holy and just**, and He will not delay judgment forever. The Four Horsemen are a sobering but vital part of Revelation's message—warning the world of what is to come, and reminding the Church that the only security lies in the Lamb who is worthy to open the scroll.

### 47. Seal Judgments Released (Revelation 6)

Revelation 6 introduces the opening of the first six of the seven seals by the Lamb, unveiling a series of divine judgments that initiate the Tribulation period. As each seal is broken, John witnesses symbolic yet vivid scenes that reveal God's sovereign control over the unfolding end-time events. These seal judgments mark the commencement of God's direct intervention in human history to bring justice, call the world to repentance, and execute His righteous wrath on a rebellious planet. The imagery in these judgments is dramatic and often terrifying—riders on horses, cosmic disturbances, and cries of martyrs—each representing escalating calamities affecting humanity on multiple levels.

The first four seals reveal the famous Four Horsemen of the Apocalypse (Revelation 6:1–8), each representing a different aspect of global judgment: conquest, war, famine, and death. The white horse, often interpreted as a figure of deceptive conquest or the Antichrist's rise, introduces the era of conflict and spiritual deception. The red horse symbolizes war and bloodshed, a vivid picture of escalating violence across nations. The black horse's rider holds scales, signifying famine and economic hardship—food scarcity and inflated prices will plague the earth. Finally, the pale horse, whose rider is named Death, followed by Hades, illustrates widespread mortality caused by violence, hunger, plague, and wild beasts. Together, these four judgments depict a rapidly deteriorating world order where human suffering intensifies on a global scale.

The fifth and sixth seals deepen the spiritual and cosmic dimensions of these judgments. The fifth seal (Revelation 6:9–11) reveals the souls of martyrs beneath the altar, symbolizing those who have been slain for their testimony and faith in Christ. Their cry for justice reminds readers that persecution and martyrdom are intrinsic to the Tribulation experience. God's response assures them of vindication and the eventual fulfillment of His justice. The sixth seal (Revelation 6:12–17) unleashes unprecedented cosmic disturbances—earthquakes, darkened sun and moon, falling stars, and the shaking of the heavens. These apocalyptic signs announce the impending coming of the "Son of Man," causing terror among all people, from kings to slaves. This seal powerfully

emphasizes the sovereignty of God and the finality of His judgment, urging humanity to repent before it's too late.

For believers today, the opening of the seals in Revelation 6 serves as a profound warning and a call to faithfulness amid trials. These judgments highlight the certainty of God's justice and the reality that the world will experience great suffering as a consequence of sin and rebellion. However, the presence of the martyrs beneath the altar also provides hope: those who remain faithful, even unto death, are honored by God and will ultimately be vindicated. The unfolding seal judgments challenge the Church to remain spiritually vigilant, grounded in God's promises, and steadfast in witness. They remind believers that God is in control of history's trajectory and that, despite the chaos, His redemptive plan through Christ will be consummated in glory.

## 48. The Seven Seals (Revelation 6; Revelation 8:1)

1st Seal – The White Horse (False Peace / Antichrist)

- Reference: Revelation 6:1–2
- Judgment:
  - A rider on a white horse, wearing a crown, goes out conquering.
  - Often interpreted as the Antichrist, bringing deceptive peace.

#### 2nd Seal – The Red Horse (War)

- Reference: Revelation 6:3–4
- Judgment:
  - A rider on a red horse is given power to take peace from the earth.
  - Result: global war and bloodshed.

### 3rd Seal – The Black Horse (Famine)

- Reference: Revelation 6:5–6
- Judgment:
  - A rider on a black horse carries a pair of scales.
  - Symbolizes famine and economic collapse.
  - A day's wages will only buy enough food for one person.

### 4th Seal – The Pale Horse (Death)

- Reference: Revelation 6:7–8
- Judgment:

- A rider named Death, followed by Hades, on a pale (ashen/greenish) horse.
- They are given power to kill 1/4 of the earth's population by sword, famine, plague, and wild beasts.

### 5th Seal – The Cry of the Martyrs

- Reference: Revelation 6:9–11
- Judgment:
  - Souls of Christian martyrs cry out for justice under the altar in heaven.
  - They are told to wait until the full number of martyrs is complete.

### 6th Seal - Cosmic Disturbances

- Reference: Revelation 6:12–17
- Judgment:
  - A great earthquake, the sun turns black, moon turns blood-red, and stars fall.
  - The sky recedes like a scroll.
  - People hide in fear, crying out, "Who can stand the wrath of the Lamb?"

### Interlude – Sealing of the 144,000 & Great Multitude

- Reference: Revelation 7
- Purpose:
  - Before the 7th seal, 144,000 from the tribes of Israel are sealed.
  - A great multitude from all nations appears in heaven, saved during the Tribulation.

### 7th Seal – Silence and the Beginning of the Trumpet Judgments

- Reference: Revelation 8:1–5
- Judgment:
  - Silence in heaven for about half an hour.
  - Seven angels are given seven trumpets—introducing the next wave of judgments.
  - An angel offers incense with the prayers of the saints; then throws fire to the earth, causing thunder, lightning, and an earthquake.

### Summary Insight:

- The Seven Seals introduce the beginning of God's judgment during the end times.
- They escalate from deception and war to mass death and cosmic chaos.
- The 7th seal leads directly into the 7 Trumpets, creating a sequence of increasing severity.

### **Biblical Commentary on "The Seven Seals"**

The **Seven Seals** in the Book of Revelation (chapters 5–8) are the first of three major series of divine judgments that unfold during the end times—the others being the Seven Trumpets and the Seven Bowls. The sealed scroll appears in **Revelation 5** as being held in the right hand of God, representing His sovereign plan for judgment and redemption. Only the **Lamb—Jesus Christ—who was slain yet lives** is worthy to open it. As each seal is broken, a judgment is released on the earth, initiating the Great Tribulation period. These events are not random; they are **deliberate acts of divine justice and fulfillment of prophecy**, revealing God's control over history and His commitment to purging evil and establishing righteousness.

- 1. First Seal White Horse (False Peace or Deception) When the first seal is opened (Revelation 6:1–2), a rider on a white horse emerges, wearing a crown and carrying a bow. He rides out "as a conqueror bent on conquest." This figure likely represents a false messiah or political leader, often associated with the Antichrist, who initiates a deceptive peace or gains control through diplomacy and persuasion rather than war. This aligns with Christ's warnings in Matthew 24:4–5, about false messiahs appearing in the end times. Though he resembles the returning Christ (Revelation 19), this rider is a counterfeit, beginning the Tribulation with worldwide deception.
- 2. Second Seal Red Horse (War and Bloodshed) The second seal (Revelation 6:3–4) reveals a red horse, whose rider is permitted to "take peace from the earth," leading people to slay one another. He wields a great sword, symbolizing war, civil unrest, and violent conflict. This judgment follows the first seal, demonstrating that false peace inevitably collapses, giving way to war. Nations rise against each other, and human sin intensifies. This also echoes Jesus 'words in Matthew 24:6–7: "You will hear of wars and rumors of wars..."
- 3. Third Seal Black Horse (Famine and Economic Collapse) The third seal (Revelation 6:5–6) reveals a black horse, whose rider holds a pair of scales. A voice speaks of inflated prices—"a quart of wheat for a denarius"—indicating severe food scarcity. A denarius, a full day's wage, could barely buy enough for one person. While basic luxuries like oil and wine are spared, the poor suffer greatly, showing economic inequality and global famine. This judgment aligns with the natural consequences of global conflict: disrupted supply chains, inflation, and poverty.
- 4. Fourth Seal Pale Horse (Death and Hades) The fourth seal (Revelation 6:7–8) introduces a pale (ashen, greenish) horse, and its rider is Death, followed by

Hades. They are given authority over a fourth of the earth to kill by sword, famine, plague, and wild beasts. This is a comprehensive judgment—a combination of the previous three—culminating in mass death. The phrase "given authority" emphasizes that even these catastrophic judgments occur under God's sovereignty. Hades following Death implies not just physical death but spiritual separation, a preview of the second death.

- 5. Fifth Seal Souls Under the Altar (Martyrdom and Cry for Justice) When the fifth seal is opened (Revelation 6:9–11), the scene shifts to heaven, where the souls of martyrs cry out from beneath the altar. These are believers who have been slain "for the word of God and the testimony they had maintained." They cry, "How long, O Lord... until You judge?" This seal emphasizes that while God delays final judgment, He is not ignoring the suffering of His people. Instead, they are told to rest "a little longer" until the full number of martyrs is complete. This judgment highlights persecution in the end times and God's commitment to avenge His saints.
- 6. Sixth Seal Cosmic Disturbances and Worldwide Fear The sixth seal (Revelation 6:12–17) brings massive cosmic upheaval: a great earthquake, the sun turns black, the moon becomes like blood, stars fall, and the sky recedes like a scroll. Every mountain and island is moved. These are literal and symbolic signs pointing to the imminent judgment of God. Humanity reacts with terror: kings, generals, and common people hide in caves and cry for the rocks to fall on them, saying, "Hide us from the face of Him who sits on the throne and from the wrath of the Lamb." For the first time, the world openly acknowledges divine wrath, yet still does not repent.
- 7. Seventh Seal Silence in Heaven and Prelude to the Trumpets The seventh seal (Revelation 8:1–5) results in silence in heaven for about half an hour, a dramatic pause before the final wave of judgments. This seal introduces the Seven Trumpets, which intensify the plagues on the earth. The silence represents awe, anticipation, and the gravity of what is to come. It also marks the transition from warnings and limited judgments to more direct and devastating actions. An angel offers incense with the prayers of the saints on the heavenly altar, and then hurls fire to the earth, causing thunder, lightning, and more earthquakes.

### **Eschatological and Theological Significance:**

The Seven Seals set in motion the **end-time judgment of the world**, as God begins to reclaim creation from sin and rebellion. These judgments are not random disasters but **purposeful acts of divine justice**, unfolding according to the scroll that only Christ is worthy to open. They expose the futility of trusting in human systems and false saviors, and they emphasize the **need for repentance** before God's wrath is fully unleashed. For believers, the Seven Seals are a call to **perseverance**, **purity**, **and readiness**. They show that God is not indifferent to evil, and He will act in His perfect time. For the world.

these judgments are a final warning that the **day of the Lord is near**, and now is the time to turn to the Lamb, who alone can save from the coming wrath. The Seven Seals ultimately reveal that **Jesus is not only Savior but also Judge**, and His authority extends over history, nations, and eternity.

## 49. The Seven Trumpets (Revelation 8–11)

### 1st Trumpet - Hail and Fire Mixed with Blood

- Reference: Revelation 8:7
- Judgment:
  - Hail and fire mixed with blood are thrown to the earth.
  - 1/3 of the earth is burned up.
  - 1/3 of the trees and all green grass are burned.

### 2nd Trumpet – A Great Mountain Thrown into the Sea

- Reference: Revelation 8:8–9
- Judgment:
  - Something like a great burning mountain is cast into the sea.
  - 1/3 of the sea becomes blood.
  - 1/3 of sea creatures die.
  - 1/3 of ships are destroyed.

### 3rd Trumpet - The Star Called Wormwood

- Reference: Revelation 8:10–11
- Judgment:
  - A great star (called Wormwood) falls from heaven.
  - It poisons 1/3 of the rivers and springs.
  - Many people die from the bitter, toxic water.

### 4th Trumpet – Striking of Sun, Moon, and Stars

- Reference: Revelation 8:12
- Judgment:
  - 1/3 of the sun, 1/3 of the moon, and 1/3 of the stars are darkened.
  - This results in 1/3 less light both day and night.

### 5th Trumpet – First Woe: Demonic Locusts from the Abyss

- Reference: Revelation 9:1–12
- Judgment:
  - A star (angel) falls and is given the key to the bottomless pit.
  - Demonic locusts come out and torment people for 5 months.
  - They only target those without the seal of God.
  - People will seek death but not find it.
  - (First Woe)

### 6th Trumpet – Second Woe: Four Angels and an Army from the Euphrates

- Reference: Revelation 9:13–21
- Judgment:
  - Four angels are released from the Euphrates River.
  - They lead an army of 200 million.
  - 1/3 of mankind is killed.
  - Despite the devastation, survivors refuse to repent of idolatry, murders, sorceries, and immorality.
  - (Second Woe)

### 7th Trumpet – Third Woe: The Kingdom Proclaimed

- Reference: Revelation 11:15–19
- Judgment:
  - Loud voices in heaven proclaim, "The kingdom of the world has become the kingdom of our Lord and of His Christ."
  - Temple of God in heaven is opened; the Ark of the Covenant is seen.
  - There are lightnings, noises, thunder, an earthquake, and great hail.
  - Signals the final stage of God's wrath and introduces the seven bowl judgments.
  - (Third Woe)

### **The Seven Trumpets**

### **Biblical Commentary on "The Seven Trumpets"**

The **Seven Trumpets** of Revelation (chapters 8–11) are a series of escalating judgments from God poured out upon the earth during the **Great Tribulation**. They follow the **Seven Seals** and precede the **Seven Bowls**, forming the central portion of the divine judgments described in the Book of Revelation. These trumpet judgments serve a dual purpose: they

are God's response to the persistent rebellion of humanity and also serve as a final call to repentance before even more severe wrath is released. Each trumpet blast is sounded by an angel, unleashing a distinct form of divine judgment, affecting both the natural world and mankind in ways that are both physical and spiritual.

- 1. The First Trumpet (Revelation 8:7) brings hail and fire mixed with blood, which are thrown upon the earth. A third of the earth, trees, and all green grass are burned up. This judgment recalls the plagues on Egypt (Exodus 9:23–25) and shows how creation itself is being struck in response to mankind's sin. It is a clear sign that the natural order is under divine judgment and no longer functioning as it was designed.
- 2. The Second Trumpet (Revelation 8:8–9) reveals something like a great mountain burning with fire thrown into the sea. A third of the sea becomes blood, a third of sea creatures die, and a third of the ships are destroyed. This catastrophic event may be either a literal asteroid-like object or symbolic of a massive upheaval, such as war or ecological collapse. In either case, it portrays judgment upon commerce and oceanic life, key elements of global sustenance and trade.
- 3. The Third Trumpet (Revelation 8:10–11) describes a great star named Wormwood falling from heaven and poisoning a third of the freshwater sources. Many people die from drinking the bitter water. This trumpet targets human survival by striking at a basic necessity—clean water. Wormwood represents spiritual and physical corruption, emphasizing the bitter consequences of rejecting God.
- 4. The Fourth Trumpet (Revelation 8:12) strikes the heavens—a third of the sun, moon, and stars are darkened, reducing light by a third. This supernatural event disrupts the day-night cycle and echoes the plague of darkness in Egypt (Exodus 10:21–23). Symbolically, it shows that God is withdrawing His light and order, allowing increased spiritual darkness and confusion to fall on the earth.

Before the fifth trumpet sounds, an angel (or eagle) flies through the heavens, crying, "Woe, woe, woe" (Revelation 8:13), signaling that the next three trumpet judgments are especially severe and directed at mankind itself, not just nature.

- 5. The Fifth Trumpet (First Woe) (Revelation 9:1–12) releases demonic locusts from the bottomless pit. Led by a king named Abaddon (Hebrew) or Apollyon (Greek), meaning "Destroyer," these creatures torment people who do not have the seal of God on their foreheads. Their torment lasts five months and is so severe that people will seek death but will not find it. This trumpet reveals a spiritual dimension of judgment—demonic forces are allowed to afflict the unrepentant, exposing the terror of rejecting divine protection.
- 6. The Sixth Trumpet (Second Woe) (Revelation 9:13–21) unleashes four bound angels at the Euphrates River, who lead an army of 200 million. This results in the death of a third of mankind. Despite this massive loss of life, verse 20 notes that the rest of mankind still does not repent of their idolatry, sorcery,

immorality, or thefts. This judgment highlights the **hardness of the human heart** in the last days and the refusal to turn to God, even when faced with terrifying consequences.

Before the final trumpet, Revelation 10 presents a powerful interlude featuring a mighty angel and the "little scroll", followed by the measuring of the temple and the ministry of the **Two Witnesses** (Revelation 11:1–14), which leads into the climax.

7. The Seventh Trumpet (Third Woe) (Revelation 11:15–19) signals the final phase of God's judgment and the inauguration of His eternal Kingdom. Loud voices in heaven proclaim, "The kingdom of the world has become the kingdom of our Lord and of His Christ, and He shall reign forever and ever." This trumpet marks a turning point—it both concludes the trumpet judgments and initiates the bowl judgments that follow. It is eschatologically climactic, announcing the soon return of Christ, the final judgment of the wicked, and the reward of the righteous.

### **Eschatological Significance:**

The Seven Trumpets represent **God's escalating warnings** before the outpouring of full wrath in the bowls. They display His patience, giving time for repentance, while also revealing the seriousness of sin and the certainty of judgment. The trumpets parallel the judgments on Egypt but now occur on a **global scale**, pointing to the final showdown between the kingdom of God and the kingdom of darkness. For believers, the trumpet judgments are a call to spiritual vigilance and faithfulness. For the world, they are a final wake-up call before the return of the King.

## 50. The Seven Thunders (Revelation 10:3–4)

The episode of the Seven Thunders in Revelation 10:3–4 is one of the most mysterious and intriguing moments in the apocalyptic narrative, emphasizing both the divine authority of God's revelation and the limits of human understanding. John describes hearing "seven thunders uttering their voices," a powerful and aweinspiring sound that evokes the majesty and severity of God's judgment. The number seven throughout Revelation symbolizes completeness and perfection, suggesting that these thunders represent a complete and divine message or series of judgments. Yet, unlike other prophetic declarations in the book, John is explicitly told not to write down what the seven thunders said—indicating that some divine mysteries remain sealed and hidden from human knowledge until God's appointed time.

The act of silence regarding the Seven Thunders serves several theological purposes in the book of Revelation. First, it underscores the sovereignty of God over revelation—He decides what is revealed and what remains concealed. This reminds readers that, although God has revealed much about the end times, not all details are meant for immediate disclosure or human speculation. The withholding of the seven thunders 'message contrasts with the openness of the rest of the prophetic visions, heightening the sense of awe and reverence for divine mysteries. It also invites humility

among believers, encouraging trust in God's timing and wisdom rather than attempting to pry into things not yet revealed.

The Seven Thunders can also be seen as a symbolic representation of divine judgment and intervention that is imminent yet partly veiled. Just before this episode, the mighty angel with the little scroll (Revelation 10:1–2) stands with one foot on the sea and one on the land, symbolizing God's dominion over the whole earth. The thunderclaps could represent the impending outpouring of the remaining judgments or the final stages of God's plan for history. The fact that the message is not recorded may indicate that these judgments or events will be so overwhelming or complex that their full understanding will only be realized after their fulfillment. Thus, the seven thunders embody both the certainty of God's justice and the mystery surrounding its full unfolding.

For contemporary believers, the Seven Thunders challenge us to trust in God's sovereignty even when His plans and timings are not fully disclosed. This passage encourages a posture of faithful waiting and spiritual readiness. Though the exact content of the thunders is hidden, the repeated emphasis on their power and divine origin warns that God's final actions will be decisive and complete. Believers are reminded to focus on the revealed truths of Scripture, live faithfully, and resist the temptation to obsess over speculative or secret knowledge. In this way, the silence of the Seven Thunders becomes a call to faith, perseverance, and reverence as God's ultimate purposes in history unfold according to His perfect will.

## 51. Midpoint / Abomination of Desolation (Revelation 11:2–3; Daniel 9:27)

The "Abomination of Desolation" marks the prophetic midpoint of the seven-year Tribulation and serves as a crucial turning point in end-time events. In Daniel 9:27, we read: "Then he shall confirm a covenant with many for one week; but in the middle of the week he shall bring an end to sacrifice and offering. And on the wing of abominations shall be one who makes desolate..." This passage refers to a "week" of seven years, with the "middle" (3½ years in) marked by the Antichrist's betrayal of a peace agreement and the defilement of the Jewish temple. The phrase "abomination of desolation" refers to a blasphemous act that desecrates what is holy—most likely involving the Antichrist setting up an image of himself to be worshiped in the temple (cf. 2 Thessalonians 2:4). Jesus references this same event in Matthew 24:15, signaling it as the catalyst for the Great Tribulation, the final and most intense phase of judgment and persecution.

Revelation 11:2–3 provides a parallel time marker, describing a 42-month (3½-year) period that matches Daniel's "middle of the week." John is instructed not to measure the outer court of the temple because "it has been given to the Gentiles. And they will tread the holy city underfoot for forty-two months." Meanwhile, God's two witnesses are said to prophesy for 1,260 days, which is also 3½ years. These synchronized time periods reinforce that this midpoint is not only a chronological marker but a theological one: it

divides the Tribulation into two distinct halves. The first half includes relative peace and the ministry of the two witnesses, while the second half is dominated by severe persecution, the reign of the Antichrist, and divine judgment. The Gentiles "treading the holy city" indicates the spiritual and political domination of Jerusalem by hostile forces, fulfilling Jesus 'warning in **Luke 21:24** that Jerusalem would be trampled until the times of the Gentiles are fulfilled.

The Abomination of Desolation is more than a historical or symbolic event—it is the climactic expression of human rebellion under satanic influence. When the Antichrist sets himself up in God's temple and demands worship, he becomes the embodiment of man's desire to dethrone God and exalt himself (cf. Isaiah 14:13–14; 2 Thessalonians 2:3–4). This act triggers divine fury, marking the beginning of the Great Tribulation, a period described as unparalleled in distress (Matthew 24:21). At this stage, God's protective hand is partially lifted, and the Antichrist is allowed to exercise power over the saints and the nations (Revelation 13:5–7). This event is not merely political but deeply spiritual—it represents Satan's final attempt to counterfeit Christ's kingdom, leading millions into deception.

For modern believers, the Abomination of Desolation stands as a prophetic warning and a call to discernment. Though the exact timing and mechanics of the end-time temple remain debated, the clear warning is this: a future figure will arise who will desecrate what is holy and demand global worship. Christians are called to watch and be wise (Matthew 24:15–25), recognizing that the Antichrist's reign will be marked by spiritual deception, persecution, and global rebellion against God. However, Scripture also assures that this reign is limited and temporary. Christ will return shortly after this period to judge the Antichrist, rescue His people, and establish His everlasting kingdom (Revelation 19:11–21). In the meantime, this prophecy invites the Church to remain faithful, rooted in God's Word, and alert to the spiritual currents that foreshadow the coming end-time drama.

### 52. Israel Flees into the Wilderness (Revelation 12:6,14)

Revelation 12 portrays a dramatic and symbolic narrative in which Israel, represented as a woman, is divinely protected by God during the most intense phase of the Tribulation. In Revelation 12:6, John writes: "Then the woman fled into the wilderness, where she has a place prepared by God, that they should feed her there one thousand two hundred and sixty days." Later, in verse 14, it is restated: "But the woman was given two wings of a great eagle, that she might fly into the wilderness to her place, where she is nourished for a time and times and half a time, from the presence of the serpent." This "woman" is best understood as national Israel, based on the earlier description in Revelation 12:1–2, which echoes the imagery of Genesis 37:9–11, where Joseph describes a vision of the sun, moon, and stars as symbols of his family—Jacob (Israel), Rachel, and the twelve tribes.

The flight into the wilderness occurs after Satan is cast out of heaven and begins persecuting Israel in fury, knowing his time is short (Revelation 12:12-13). The

1,260 days—or "time, times, and half a time" (3½ years)—clearly places this event during the second half of the seven-year Tribulation, also called the Great Tribulation (cf. Matthew 24:15–21; Daniel 7:25; 9:27). This is the same period initiated by the **Abomination of Desolation**, when the Antichrist desecrates the temple and unleashes severe persecution upon the Jewish people. Jesus warned of this in **Matthew 24:16**: "Then let those who are in Judea flee to the mountains." This divine command and the woman's flight mirror each other, pointing to a future time when a faithful Jewish remnant will heed God's warning and escape into a protected place—likely in or near the wilderness regions east or south of Israel, possibly Petra in modern Jordan (though the exact location is not specified in Scripture).

God's provision for Israel during this flight is both physical and supernatural, highlighting His covenant faithfulness even amid judgment. The phrase "a place prepared by God" shows intentional divine orchestration. The mention of being nourished suggests daily sustenance, much like Israel's experience in the Exodus, when God fed His people with manna in the wilderness (Exodus 16). The "two wings of a great eagle" symbolize swift and miraculous deliverance, echoing God's own words in **Exodus 19:4**: "I bore you on eagles 'wings and brought you to Myself." Meanwhile, the wilderness functions as a refuge, not of comfort, but of preservation—away from the reach of the "serpent," a clear symbol of Satan. This remnant will survive, protected by God, as He works to fulfill His promises of national restoration and redemption (cf. Zechariah 13:8–9; Romans 11:26).

For readers today, Israel's flight into the wilderness serves as a profound testimony to God's sovereignty, covenant faithfulness, and redemptive purpose for His people. Though Satan's rage and the Antichrist's persecution will be intense, they are not ultimate. God preserves a remnant, as He always has, and prepares a way even in the wilderness. For the Church, this prophecy is a reminder of God's unchanging character and His detailed orchestration of end-time events. It also challenges believers to trust that even in times of chaos, God is actively preserving His people, fulfilling prophecy, and moving history toward the return of Christ and the establishment of His kingdom. Israel's flight, though terrifying in context, is ultimately an act of divine mercy and prophetic fulfillment.

### 53. Global Evangelism by Angel (Revelation 14:6–7)

In Revelation 14:6–7, John witnesses an extraordinary and unique act of divine proclamation: an angel flying through the sky to deliver the eternal gospel to every person on earth. The passage reads: "Then I saw another angel flying in the midst of heaven, having the everlasting gospel to preach to those who dwell on the earth—to every nation, tribe, tongue, and people—saying with a loud voice, 'Fear God and give glory to Him, for the hour of His judgment has come; and worship Him who made heaven and earth, the sea and springs of water." This event is striking in its scope and method: rather than relying solely on human witnesses, God commissions a supernatural messenger to proclaim His unchanging truth universally. The "everlasting gospel" (or

"eternal gospel") is a call to turn from idolatry and rebellion, to fear and glorify the Creator before final judgment falls.

This angelic evangelism occurs at a critical point in the Tribulation, just before the final and most severe judgments begin. Revelation 14 serves as a pause or interlude before the outpouring of the seven bowl judgments in chapters 15–16. Amid widespread deception, persecution, and worship of the beast, this angel proclaims a clear and unambiguous message: fear the one true God, not the Antichrist. The urgency of his announcement—"the hour of His judgment has come"—indicates that time is short. It is a final global invitation to repentance before irreversible wrath is unleashed. This moment represents God's mercy even in judgment, offering people yet another opportunity to respond to truth, even in the darkest hour of human history.

The phrase "to every nation, tribe, tongue, and people" emphasizes the universal scope of this divine evangelism. Throughout Scripture, God's redemptive plan has always aimed at the nations (cf. Genesis 12:3; Psalm 67; Matthew 28:19). What makes Revelation 14 unique is the supernatural means employed—an angel, visible and audible to the entire world, delivers the gospel without limitation or interference. This may occur through miraculous perception or be broadcast globally. Some interpreters suggest that this reflects not just an angelic proclamation, but the culmination of all worldwide evangelism efforts, including those of the 144,000 witnesses (Revelation 7), the two witnesses (Revelation 11), and possibly modern digital outreach. However, the text is clear: this angel directly fulfills the global declaration of the gospel just before the end.

For the modern believer, Revelation 14:6–7 serves as both a sobering reminder and a powerful encouragement. It reminds us that God is just, patient, and relentlessly redemptive—even in judgment. He will not leave the world without witness. The "everlasting gospel" being preached to all peoples reveals God's heart for the lost and underscores the urgency of evangelism today. Though the Church is God's primary instrument of witness in the present age, this passage affirms that even after the Church's removal (if one holds to a Pre-Tribulation view), God's message will still go forth powerfully. For us, it is a call to remain faithful in proclaiming Christ now, knowing that the gospel will indeed reach the ends of the earth—whether through human or angelic means—before the return of the King.

### 54. The Seven Bowls (Revelation 16)

1st Bowl - Painful Sores

Reference: Revelation 16:2

- Judgment:
  - Foul and painful sores break out on people who have the mark of the beast and worship his image.

2nd Bowl – Sea Turns to Blood

- Reference: Revelation 16:3
- Judgment:
  - The sea becomes like the blood of a dead man,
  - Every living creature in the sea dies (not just 1/3 like in the Trumpets).

### 3rd Bowl – Rivers and Springs Turn to Blood

- Reference: Revelation 16:4–7
- Judgment:
  - All freshwater sources become blood.
  - Angel declares it is just, since the wicked shed the blood of saints and prophets.

### 4th Bowl – Scorching Sun

- Reference: Revelation 16:8–9
- Judgment:
  - The sun's heat intensifies, scorching people with great fire.
  - Instead of repenting, they curse God.

### 5th Bowl - Darkness on the Beast's Kingdom

- Reference: Revelation 16:10–11
- Judgment:
  - Total darkness covers the kingdom of the Beast (Antichrist).
  - People gnaw their tongues in agony but still refuse to repent.

### 6th Bowl – Drying of the Euphrates River

- Reference: Revelation 16:12–16
- Judgment:
  - The Euphrates River dries up, preparing the way for the kings of the east.
  - Demonic spirits gather the world's armies to Armageddon.

### 7th Bowl – Earthquake and Hail

- Reference: Revelation 16:17–21
- Judgment:
  - A massive earthquake, the greatest in history, splits cities.
  - Babylon (symbol of global rebellion) is judged.

- 100-pound hailstones fall from the sky.
- Humanity still blasphemes God.

### Summary Insights:

- These judgments are universal, not partial (as with the Trumpets).
- They target the unrepentant, especially followers of the Beast.
- The 7th Bowl sets the stage for Christ's return and final victory.

### **Biblical Commentary on "The Seven Bowls"**

The **Seven Bowls** (or vials) of God's wrath, described in **Revelation 16**, represent the final and most intense series of judgments poured out upon the earth before the return of Jesus Christ. These judgments follow the Seven Seals and the Seven Trumpets, and they are **swift**, **global**, **and irreversible**. Unlike earlier judgments that affected only a third of creation or were limited in scope, the bowls are total in effect and mark the **completion of God's fury** against unrepentant humanity and the kingdom of the beast. Revelation 15:1 introduces them as "the seven last plagues," and with them, "the wrath of God is finished."

- 1. The First Bowl (Revelation 16:2) is poured out upon the earth, resulting in painful and loathsome sores on all who bear the mark of the beast and worship his image. This parallels the sixth Egyptian plague (boils) and targets those who have deliberately aligned themselves with the Antichrist, making clear that these judgments are not random but moral and just responses to willful rebellion.
- 2. The Second Bowl (Revelation 16:3) turns the sea into blood, "like that of a dead man," and every living creature in the sea dies. This is a complete judgment, unlike the second trumpet which affected only a third. The sea—representing commerce, life, and global stability—is fully struck, disrupting both economic systems and natural ecosystems.
- 3. The Third Bowl (Revelation 16:4–7) is poured on the rivers and springs, turning them to blood. This judgment affects all freshwater sources, completing the destruction of the world's drinkable water. An angel declares that this is a righteous act: "They have shed the blood of saints and prophets, and you have given them blood to drink. It is what they deserve." God's justice is here affirmed and praised—His wrath is not cruel, but a holy response to persistent violence against His people.
- 4. The Fourth Bowl (Revelation 16:8–9) causes the sun to scorch people with intense heat. This fire from heaven causes great suffering, yet astonishingly, people curse God and refuse to repent. This reflects the hardened hearts of humanity in the end times, even when faced with overwhelming judgment. Rather than soften them, these plagues reveal the depth of their rebellion.
- 5. The Fifth Bowl (Revelation 16:10–11) plunges the kingdom of the beast into darkness. This symbolic and literal darkness mirrors the ninth plague of Egypt and

causes agony so great that people gnaw their tongues. Yet again, "they cursed the God of heaven... and did not repent of their deeds." This shows that the beast's kingdom is not only **materially judged but spiritually exposed**, as false light gives way to true darkness.

- 6. The Sixth Bowl (Revelation 16:12–16) dries up the Euphrates River, preparing the way for the kings of the east and gathering the nations for the final confrontation known as Armageddon. Demonic spirits go out to deceive world leaders and unite them for war against God. This bowl sets the stage for the climactic battle between good and evil. The physical geography is altered to facilitate a spiritual conflict, showing how God sovereignly controls even the plans of His enemies.
- 7. The Seventh Bowl (Revelation 16:17–21) unleashes a cataclysmic upheaval—thunder, lightning, the greatest earthquake in human history, and huge hailstones falling from the sky. The great city (likely Babylon) splits into three parts, and the cities of the nations collapse. Every island and mountain is removed. This final judgment is comprehensive, shattering all that remains of human pride and empire. A voice from the temple declares, "It is done!"—echoing Christ's words on the cross, but this time referring to the completion of judgment.

### **Eschatological and Theological Significance:**

The Seven Bowls represent **God's final and full judgment** on a world that has rejected His grace, persecuted His people, and followed the Antichrist. They demonstrate the **holiness of God**, who does not overlook sin, and the **patience of God**, who delayed final judgment through previous warnings (seals and trumpets). Now, however, the time for mercy is over. These judgments emphasize the seriousness of human rebellion and the justice of divine wrath.

For the believer, the bowls are not a cause for fear but for hope, as they signal the imminent **return of Christ** and the **vindication of the righteous**. They remind the Church to remain faithful, to reject the systems of the beast, and to live with eyes fixed on eternity. For the unrepentant, they are a final warning of what awaits those who persist in rejecting the gospel. In every bowl, God's sovereignty is evident: He rules over nature, nations, and the final destiny of every soul.

## 55. The Wrath of God Poured Out (Revelation 15–16)

### **Biblical Commentary on "The Wrath of God"**

The wrath of God is a deeply serious and often misunderstood theme in Scripture, yet it is essential to understanding God's justice, holiness, and redemptive plan. Unlike human anger, which is often impulsive and tainted by sin, God's wrath is His righteous and measured response to evil. It flows from His holy character and His unwavering

opposition to sin, rebellion, and all that defies His will. In the Old Testament, God's wrath is frequently revealed in response to idolatry, injustice, and covenant-breaking among His people (Exodus 32:10; Deuteronomy 29:23–28). The prophets often warned of coming judgment—referred to as "the day of the Lord"—when God would pour out His wrath on unrepentant nations. Importantly, His wrath is never arbitrary. It is consistently tied to moral violations and always tempered by patience and mercy. God is "slow to anger and abounding in steadfast love" (Exodus 34:6), yet He will by no means leave the guilty unpunished.

In the New Testament, the wrath of God continues to be a major theme, especially in the writings of the apostle Paul. In Romans 1:18, Paul declares, "The wrath of God is being revealed from heaven against all ungodliness and unrighteousness of men." This is not merely future wrath, but a present reality seen in God "giving people over" to the consequences of their sin. Paul goes on to describe all of humanity—Jew and Gentile alike—as guilty before God and deserving of wrath (Romans 2:5, 3:23). Yet the message of the gospel is that, through Jesus Christ, sinners can be saved from that wrath. Romans 5:9 affirms that believers are "justified by His blood" and therefore "saved from God's wrath through Him." This makes clear that God's wrath is not opposed to His love; rather, His love provides the only way of rescue from the wrath that justice requires.

The cross of Christ is where God's wrath and mercy meet. On the cross, Jesus bore the penalty of sin on behalf of His people, becoming a "propitiation" (Romans 3:25; 1 John 2:2)—a sacrifice that absorbs and satisfies divine wrath. This is not God venting anger indiscriminately, but rather God the Son willingly enduring judgment so that sinners could be forgiven and reconciled. Without understanding the wrath of God, the cross loses its meaning and the gospel loses its urgency. God's wrath is not His failure to love, but His refusal to allow evil to go unpunished. In this sense, wrath highlights the perfection of God's justice and the depths of His grace, because it shows what we have been saved from and what it cost to save us.

The final expression of God's wrath will occur at the return of Christ, when unrepentant sinners face judgment. Revelation speaks of the "winepress of the fury of the wrath of God" (Revelation 14:19) and describes the end of history as a time when divine justice is poured out without restraint. Those whose names are not written in the Lamb's Book of Life will face the "lake of fire" (Revelation 20:15), the ultimate consequence of rejecting God's grace. Yet even in this sobering truth, Scripture maintains that God takes no pleasure in the death of the wicked (Ezekiel 33:11). His desire is that all come to repentance (2 Peter 3:9). The reality of God's wrath, therefore, is a call to humility, repentance, and faith. It should lead not to despair, but to gratitude—for in Jesus Christ, the wrath we deserve has been turned away, and peace with God has been secured forever.

God will pour out His wrath in the last days upon all who reject His love and saving grace through Jesus Christ, because they have chosen to remain in their sinful ways and did not want to be reconciled back into good fellowship with God.

God is a merciful and loving God, and hopes none would perish, however He is also a very just God and gives every man and woman a free will. Any sincere believer and follower of Jesus Christ will never experience God's wrath because God forgives all their sins.

The wrath of God will bring both physical and spiritual destruction to all those who choose not to repent and to receive Jesus Christ as their Lord and Savior.

#### **KEY SCRIPTURES**

**John 3:36** He who believes in the Son has eternal life, but he who does not obey the Son shall not see life, but the wrath of God abides on him.

**Revelation 6:15** And the kings of the earth and the great men and the commanders and the rich and the strong and every slave and free man, hid themselves in the caves and among the rocks of the mountains;

6:16 and they said to the mountains and to the rocks,' Fall on us and hide us from the presence of Him who sits on the throne, and from the wrath of the lamb.

6:17 for the great day of their wrath has come; and who is able to stand?

REV 15:7 And one of the four living creatures gave to the seven angels seven golden bowls full of the wrath of God, who lives forever and ever.

The wrath of God is a recurring truth and warning throughout the Bible, reflecting God's righteous anger and judgment against sin. The biblical narrative presents God as both loving and just, with His wrath being expressed in response to human rebellion and disobedience.

The Old Testament provides numerous examples of God's wrath, often in the context of the Israelites' disobedience and idolatry. In Exodus 34:6-7, God reveals His character to Moses: "The Lord passed before him and proclaimed, 'The Lord, the Lord, a God merciful and gracious, slow to anger, and abounding in steadfast love and faithfulness, keeping steadfast love for thousands, forgiving iniquity and transgression and sin, but who will by no means clear the guilty, visiting the iniquity of the fathers on the children and the children, to the third and the fourth generation."

The book of Nahum vividly describes God's wrath against the city of Nineveh, a powerful Assyrian capital known for its cruelty. Nahum 1:2-3 declares, "The Lord is a jealous and avenging God; the Lord is avenging and wrathful; the Lord takes vengeance on his adversaries and keeps wrath for his enemies. The Lord is slow to anger and great in power, and the Lord will by no means clear the guilty."

The prophets, including Jeremiah, Ezekiel, and Isaiah, frequently warned of God's impending judgment and the consequences of disobedience. Jeremiah 25:15-17 serves as an example: "Thus the Lord, the God of Israel, said to me: 'Take from my hand this cup of the wine of wrath, and make all the nations to whom I send you drink it. They shall drink and stagger and be crazed because of the sword that I am sending among them.'"

The New Testament also addresses the concept of God's wrath. In Romans 1:18, the apostle Paul asserts, "For the wrath of God is revealed from heaven against all ungodliness and unrighteousness of men, who by their unrighteousness suppress the truth." Paul further explains in Romans 2:5-6 that God's righteous judgment is based on individuals' deeds.

The book of Revelation portrays the final outpouring of God's wrath during the eschatological events leading up to the establishment of His eternal kingdom. Revelation 16 describes the seven bowls of God's wrath, symbolizing divine judgment on a rebellious world. Revelation 19:15 depicts Christ, the conquering King, as having a sharp sword with which to strike down the nations.

While the wrath of God is a profound and weighty theme in the Bible, it is complemented by the overarching narrative of God's love, mercy, and redemptive plan. The Apostle John encapsulates this tension in 1 John 4:16-17: "So we have come to know and to believe the love that God has for us. God is love, and anyone who abides in love abides in God, and God abides in them. Love has been perfected among us in this: that we may have boldness on the day of judgment, because as he is, so are we in this world."

In summary, the concept of the wrath of God is an integral part of the biblical narrative, reflecting God's holiness, justice, and response to human sin. It serves as a reminder of the serious consequences of rebellion against God's moral order. However, this concept is balanced within the broader biblical framework by God's love, mercy, and the redemptive work accomplished through Jesus Christ.

The New Testament further elaborates on the relationship between humanity's sinfulness and God's wrath, emphasizing the need for salvation through Jesus Christ. In Romans 3:23-25, Paul states, "for all have sinned and fall short of the glory of God, and are justified by his grace as a gift, through the redemption that is in Christ Jesus, whom God put forward as a propitiation by his blood, to be received by faith."

The term "propitiation" in this context refers to Christ's atoning sacrifice that appeases God's wrath. The idea is that Jesus, by shedding His blood on the cross, becomes the means by which God's righteous anger against sin is satisfied, making a way for forgiveness and reconciliation.

The urgency of recognizing God's wrath and turning to Him for salvation is emphasized in John 3:36: "Whoever believes in the Son has eternal life; whoever does not obey the Son shall not see life, but the wrath of God remains on him." This verse underscores the importance of faith in Jesus as the way to escape the wrath of God.

Ephesians 2:3-5 highlights God's mercy and love in delivering believers from the consequences of sin: "among whom we all once lived in the passions of our flesh, carrying out the desires of the body and the mind, and were by nature children of wrath, like the rest of mankind. But God, being rich in mercy, because of the great love with which he loved us, even when we were dead in our trespasses, made us alive together with Christ—by grace you have been saved."

The concept of God's wrath is not only about judgment but also serves as a motivation for believers to live in a manner pleasing to God. Colossians 3:5-6 instructs, "Put to death therefore what is earthly in you: sexual immorality, impurity, passion, evil desire, and covetousness, which is idolatry. On account of these, the wrath of God is coming."

In the book of Hebrews, the author warns about neglecting the salvation offered through Christ and facing judgment: "How shall we escape if we neglect such a great salvation?" (Hebrews 2:3). The overarching message is that God's wrath is averted through faith in the atoning work of Jesus.

Revelation 6:16-17 provides a vivid depiction of people recognizing the impending judgment and seeking to hide from the wrath of God: "calling to the mountains and rocks, 'Fall on us and hide us from the face of him who is seated on the throne, and from the wrath of the Lamb, for the great day of their wrath has come, and who can stand?'"

In summary, the biblical narrative on the wrath of God underscores the seriousness of sin, the need for redemption through Jesus Christ, and the urgency of responding to God's offer of salvation. While the concept of God's wrath is a sobering one, it is inseparable from the broader biblical themes of love, mercy, and the redemptive work accomplished through the person and sacrifice of Jesus Christ.

## 56. Widespread Death (Revelation 6:8; Revelation 9:6; Revelation 16:3)

Revelation 6:8 introduces death on a global scale through the fourth seal judgment, embodied by the Pale Horse and its rider named "Death," with Hades following closely behind. The passage says: "So I looked, and behold, a pale horse. And the name of him who sat on it was Death, and Hades followed with him. And power was given to them over a fourth of the earth, to kill with sword, with hunger, with death, and by the beasts of the earth." This is one of the most alarming early judgments, where approximately 25% of the world's population perishes through war, famine, plague, and wild beasts. It reveals the breakdown of society and the unleashing of divine retribution against persistent rebellion. The use of the term "Hades" implies not only physical death but spiritual peril, emphasizing that these events are not merely natural disasters but part of God's sovereign and moral response to evil.

Revelation 9:6, during the fifth trumpet judgment, presents a paradoxical agony: people long for death but are unable to find it. The verse reads: "In those days men will seek death and will not find it; they will desire to die, and death will flee from them." This occurs when demonic locusts are unleashed from the abyss to torment humanity for five months. Their stings cause such intense suffering that people yearn for death as a release, but death eludes them. This judgment reflects a form of psychological and physical torment unlike anything previously experienced, where God allows extreme suffering but delays death as a form of judgment and perhaps a final call to repentance. It is a sobering demonstration that escaping life does not mean escaping God's justice, and that true peace cannot be found apart from reconciliation with Him.

Revelation 16:3, part of the bowl judgments, depicts ecological and biological death on a vast scale as the second bowl is poured out. It says: "Then the second angel poured out his bowl on the sea, and it became blood as of a dead man; and every living creature in the sea died." This judgment escalates the earlier second trumpet

judgment (Revelation 8:8–9), which killed a third of sea life. Now, **the entire marine ecosystem is destroyed**, turning the oceans into a putrid, lifeless mass. The sea, often symbolic of nations and commerce, becomes a source of death and decay. This judgment severely impacts global food supply, trade, and the balance of life on earth. It reflects not only the literal collapse of the natural world but also the symbolic death of the world's systems and comforts that humanity has relied upon instead of God.

Together, these passages reveal that widespread death during the Tribulation is both physical and spiritual, rooted in divine justice and the rebellion of mankind. Each judgment builds in severity, showing the escalating nature of sin and the increasing urgency of repentance. Yet even amid these catastrophic events, there is a sense of divine control—God limits each judgment in duration or scope, offering space for response. For believers, these texts serve as a sober warning of what lies ahead for a world that refuses God's mercy, but they also affirm the righteousness of God's justice. They call the Church to proclaim the gospel with urgency, knowing that the time of grace is not unlimited and that God's warnings, though terrifying, are ultimately rooted in His desire that none should perish (2 Peter 3:9).

## IV. Second Coming & Final Tribulation Events

## 57. Armageddon (Revelation 16:16; Revelation 19:17–21) Biblical Commentary on "Armageddon"

The term *Armageddon* appears only once in the Bible—in Revelation 16:16—yet it represents a central event in prophetic Scripture: the final battle between the forces of God and the forces of evil. The verse states, "And they assembled them at the place that in Hebrew is called Armageddon." The name comes from the Hebrew *Har-Megiddo*, meaning "Mount of Megiddo." Megiddo was an ancient city in northern Israel known for decisive battles (Judges 5:19; 2 Kings 23:29), symbolizing a strategic location where powers clashed. However, Revelation uses *Armageddon* not merely as a physical location, but as a symbol of the climactic confrontation at the end of the age between Christ and the rebellious powers led by Satan, the Beast, and the kings of the earth.

In Revelation 16, Armageddon is the setting for the gathering of the nations under demonic deception in preparation for the "great day of God Almighty" (v. 14). This is not simply a geopolitical conflict—it is spiritual warfare manifested in global rebellion. Evil powers, represented by unclean spirits from the dragon (Satan), the beast (the Antichrist), and the false prophet, perform signs to deceive the rulers of the world into aligning against God. These nations are drawn by divine allowance to fulfill prophecy, as God uses even their defiance to bring about His final judgment. The assembling at Armageddon sets the stage for divine intervention, signaling that humanity, apart from God, will always move toward chaos and conflict.

The actual battle is not described in detail in Revelation 16, but its outcome is revealed in subsequent chapters. In Revelation 19:11–21, Christ returns as the conquering King, riding a white horse, and "with justice he judges and wages war." The armies of heaven follow Him, and with the sword of His mouth—symbolizing His word and authority—He strikes down the nations. The beast and the false prophet are captured and thrown alive into the lake of fire, and the armies gathered against Christ are utterly destroyed. Thus, Armageddon is not a prolonged or uncertain war; it is the overwhelming triumph of God's Son over every force of evil. The battle demonstrates that human power, no matter how united or forceful, cannot stand against the Lord.

Theologically, Armageddon represents more than just the end of military rebellion—it is the final showdown between righteousness and wickedness, truth and deception, the kingdom of Christ and the kingdoms of this world. For believers, it is a moment of great vindication, when justice is done and Christ is revealed as King of kings and Lord of lords (Revelation 19:16). For the unrepentant, it is the collapse of every false hope and the beginning of eternal judgment. Armageddon is therefore both a warning and a promise: a warning to those who resist God, and a promise of hope to those who belong to Him. It reminds us that evil, though powerful and persistent, will have an end—and Christ will reign forever in righteousness and peace.

# 58. Second Coming of Jesus Christ (Revelation 19:11–16; Matthew 24:30)

**Second Coming of Jesus Christ** 

Text: Revelation 22:12 (AKJV)

"And, behold, I come quickly; and my reward is with me, to give every man according as his work shall be."

### Introduction: The Sovereignty of God in the Return of Jesus Christ

### **Biblical Commentary on "Jesus 'Second Coming"**

The Second Coming of Jesus Christ is one of the most definitive and hope-filled teachings in all of Scripture. It marks the culmination of God's redemptive plan and the fulfillment of Jesus' own promises. In John 14:3, Jesus assures His disciples, "If I go and prepare a place for you, I will come again and will take you to myself." His return is not symbolic or metaphorical—it is a real, visible, and glorious event that will be witnessed by all humanity. Acts 1:11 confirms this when the angels tell the disciples that Jesus will return "in the same way" they saw Him ascend into heaven. The Second Coming is not just a closing chapter in history; it is the unveiling of Christ as King, Judge, and Savior, who will bring about the final restoration of all things.

Jesus Himself gave detailed teachings about His return, particularly in the Olivet Discourse (Matthew 24–25). He warns that many will be deceived by false messiahs and signs, but His return will be unmistakable—like lightning that flashes across the sky (Matthew 24:27). The Second Coming will be sudden and unexpected, likened to the days of Noah when people were caught off guard by the flood. Jesus 'return will involve the resurrection of the dead, the gathering of His elect, and the final separation between the righteous and the wicked (Matthew 25:31–46). These teachings emphasize both the certainty of His return and the necessity of being spiritually ready. Watchfulness, faithfulness, and endurance are recurring commands for those who await His appearing.

The apostle Paul offers significant insight into the Second Coming, especially in his letters to the Thessalonians. In 1 Thessalonians 4:16–17, Paul describes how "the Lord himself will descend from heaven with a cry of command," and that the dead in Christ will rise first. Then, living believers will be caught up with them to meet the Lord in the air. This is not a hidden or secret event—it is public and triumphant, accompanied by the voice of the archangel and the trumpet of God. In 2 Thessalonians 1:7–10, Paul expands the picture, describing Christ's return as a time of relief for the faithful and retribution for those who reject the gospel. Jesus will come "in flaming fire," bringing justice and revealing His glory in His saints. For the unbeliever, it is a day of reckoning; for the believer, it is the day of ultimate hope and joy.

The book of Revelation vividly portrays the Second Coming in apocalyptic imagery. Revelation 19 presents Christ as a warrior on a white horse, called "Faithful and True," who judges and makes war in righteousness. His eyes are like blazing fire, and on His head are many crowns. He returns not in humility but in glory, to defeat evil once and for all. His coming ushers in the final judgment, the defeat of Satan, and the establishment of the new heavens and new earth (Revelation 20–21). This moment is not merely the end of history—it is the beginning of eternity, where God will dwell with His people and every tear will be wiped away. The Second Coming is the hope that sustains believers through suffering, the warning that calls sinners to repentance, and the guarantee that God's justice and mercy will ultimately prevail. Therefore, the Church cries out in expectation and longing: "Come, Lord Jesus!" (Revelation 22:20).

The Second Coming of Jesus Christ is one of the most anticipated and pivotal events in Christian eschatology. Revelation 22:12 is a declaration from Christ Himself, affirming His imminent return with divine recompense. This verse reflects the Sovereign Will of God—His authority over time, justice, and redemption. Just as Romans 8:28 assures us that all things work for the good of those who love God, so too does Revelation 22:12 assure believers that history is moving toward a divinely orchestrated culmination: the visible and glorious return of Jesus Christ.

Understanding the Second Coming in light of God's Sovereign Will brings both comfort and urgency. Comfort, because it reveals that God's justice and promises will be fulfilled. Urgency, because it reminds us to live in readiness, walking faithfully according to His

purpose. The Sovereign Will of God not only governs the affairs of history and salvation—it also guarantees the consummation of His Kingdom through the return of Christ.

### 1. The Biblical Foundation of the Second Coming

The Second Coming is not a peripheral doctrine but a central promise that flows from God's eternal purpose. It is grounded in the prophetic word, affirmed by Christ, and anticipated by the apostles.

#### 1.1 Promises of His Return in the Old and New Testaments

The Old Testament prophets spoke of a coming "Day of the Lord" (Joel 2:31, Zechariah 14:4), a day of both judgment and deliverance. In the New Testament, Jesus Himself repeatedly promised His return (John 14:3; Matthew 24:30-31). Acts 1:11 records the angelic proclamation: "This same Jesus, which is taken up from you into heaven, shall so come in like manner..." These scriptures form a cohesive testimony to God's unchanging plan.

#### 1.2 Christ's Return as the Fulfillment of Redemption

God's redemptive plan does not end with the crucifixion or resurrection—it reaches its fulfillment in the return of Christ. Hebrews 9:28 states, "Unto them that look for him shall he appear the second time without sin unto salvation." Just as the first coming brought salvation, the second coming will bring final deliverance for believers and righteous judgment for the world.

### 1.3 The Sovereignty of God Over Time and History

Christ's return is not delayed because of uncertainty, but because of God's merciful and sovereign timing. 2 Peter 3:9 reminds us, "The Lord is not slack concerning his promise... but is longsuffering to us-ward." God's sovereign control ensures that Christ will return at the appointed time, known only to Him (Matthew 24:36).

### 2. The Nature of the Second Coming

Christ's return will not be symbolic or secret—it will be visible, powerful, and final. It will express both the directive and permissive aspects of God's will.

### 2.1 The Directive Will of God in Christ's Return

The return of Christ is a direct act of divine will. Jesus is not returning as a passive observer but as the reigning King and Judge. Revelation 19:11-16 describes Him coming on a white horse, clothed in glory and power. This is not merely a spiritual event—it is a sovereign, global, visible intervention in history.

### 2.2 The Permissive Will of God and the Delay

While God sovereignly ordains the return of Christ, He permits time for repentance. The current delay is a manifestation of God's mercy. As Peter explains, God is "not willing that any should perish, but that all should come to repentance" (2 Peter 3:9). The permissive will of God allows the Gospel to be preached to all nations before the end comes (Matthew 24:14).

### 2.3 The Tension Between Readiness and Delay

Believers are called to live in readiness, though the exact time is unknown. Jesus warned, "Therefore be ye also ready: for in such an hour as ye think not the Son of man cometh" (Matthew 24:44). God's sovereignty and our responsibility meet here: though the time is His, our response must be faithful preparedness.

### 3. The Assurance of the Second Coming

The promise of Christ's return provides believers with assurance—of justice, of hope, and of eternal reward.

### 3.1 Assurance of Justice and Judgment

Revelation 22:12 speaks of reward, but also implies judgment. Christ will "give every man according as his work shall be." This underscores the moral accountability that all humans bear. God's sovereignty ensures that justice will be executed in perfect righteousness (2 Corinthians 5:10).

### 3.2 Assurance of Hope and Restoration

For believers, the Second Coming is not a threat but a blessed hope (Titus 2:13). It signals the end of suffering, the resurrection of the dead, and the renewal of all creation (Romans 8:18-21). It is the moment when faith becomes sight and God's promises are visibly fulfilled.

### 3.3 Assurance of God's Presence and Reign

At His return, Christ will reign forever as King. Revelation 21:3 proclaims, "Behold, the tabernacle of God is with men..." God's presence will be fully manifest, and His Kingdom will have no end. The Second Coming is the full unveiling of the sovereign reign of God.

### 3.4 The Certainty of Divine Reward and Judgment

When Jesus declares, "My reward is with me, to give every man according as his work shall be," He reveals both the justice and the grace of God's Sovereign Will. The word "reward" in this context (Greek: misthos) denotes a wage or recompense, something earned or due based on action. Christ's return will bring a final and full evaluation of

**every life**, rewarding each person in exact accordance with their deeds—whether good or evil.

### 3.4.1 A Reward for the Righteous

For those who love God and live according to His will, this reward is one of **grace-filled joy and eternal blessing**. 2 Timothy 4:8 says, "Henceforth there is laid up for me a crown of righteousness, which the Lord, the righteous judge, shall give me at that day." Believers are not saved by their works, but their faith is **demonstrated and rewarded** through their faithful works. These include acts of love, obedience, perseverance, and service (1 Corinthians 3:13-14). Jesus said even a cup of cold water given in His name will not go unrewarded (Matthew 10:42).

This truth reminds us that **nothing done for Christ is ever wasted**. Every act of sacrifice, every faithful step, every moment of quiet obedience is remembered and rewarded by our Lord. This reward is not just compensation—it is a manifestation of Christ's **delight in His faithful servants**.

### 3.4.2 A Warning for the Unfaithful

On the other hand, this phrase also contains a sobering warning: **there will be judgment for every deed**. Revelation 20:12-13 affirms this reality: "And the dead were judged out of those things which were written in the books, according to their works." Those who have rejected Christ and lived in rebellion to God's will shall receive the just consequence of their choices. Jesus will reward everyone according to their work—not arbitrarily, but with perfect righteousness (Romans 2:6-8).

This judgment is **just**, **personal**, **and final**. There will be no injustice, no partiality, no mistake. Every hidden motive, every thought, every deed will be laid bare (Hebrews 4:13), and each person will stand before the Righteous Judge, Jesus Christ.

#### 3.4.3 The Reward Is with Him

It is crucial to note that Jesus says, "My reward is with Me." This implies immediacy, certainty, and authority. Christ will not delegate this task. As the Sovereign King, He alone will dispense reward and judgment. His reward is not merely future—it is as good as present, secured by His promise, and certain to be fulfilled. Just as Christ came once in humility to save, He will come again in glory to judge and reward. This is not speculation—it is divine guarantee.

### **Application: Living in Light of the Coming Reward**

• **Examine your life:** Are your works in alignment with the will of God? Are you investing your time, energy, and resources in what matters eternally?

- Endure faithfully: When discouraged, remember that Christ sees your labor. "Be steadfast, unmovable, always abounding in the work of the Lord, forasmuch as ye know that your labor is not in vain in the Lord" (1 Corinthians 15:58).
- **Encourage others:** Use this truth to inspire fellow believers to remain faithful, knowing that one day we will hear, "Well done, thou good and faithful servant..." (Matthew 25:21).

### 4. Our Response to the Promise of Christ's Return

Believers are not called to speculate about the time, but to live in light of the promise with trust, obedience, and worship.

### 4.1 Trusting in God's Timing

We are to trust that Christ will return according to God's perfect timetable. Jesus Himself said, "It is not for you to know the times or the seasons..." (Acts 1:7). Rather than being anxious, we are to be confident in the certainty of His promise.

### 4.2 Obeying Until He Comes

Faithfulness is the call of every believer. Jesus commended the servant who was found faithful when his master returned (Luke 12:42-44). Obedience to God's Word and the faithful stewardship of our lives is how we prepare for His return.

### 4.3 Worshiping the Coming King

The return of Christ inspires awe and worship. Revelation 5:13 envisions all creation worshiping the Lamb who is worthy. Anticipating the Second Coming should lead us to lives of reverent worship and joyful expectation.

### 5. The Comfort of the Second Coming in Suffering

The Second Coming is a source of deep comfort, especially in times of suffering, persecution, and injustice.

#### 5.1 God's Justice Will Prevail

When faced with evil and oppression, believers can take heart that God's justice is not forgotten. Revelation 6:10 records the cry of the martyrs: "How long, O Lord... dost thou not judge and avenge our blood?" The answer is found in the sure promise of Christ's return.

### 5.2 Suffering Will Be Redeemed

Romans 8:18 reminds us that "the sufferings of this present time are not worthy to be compared with the glory which shall be revealed." Christ's return brings the full redemption of the body and the end of sorrow (Revelation 21:4).

### 5.3 The Hope of Eternal Glory

For believers, the Second Coming marks the beginning of eternal life in God's presence. 1 Thessalonians 4:17 promises, "So shall we ever be with the Lord." This is the great hope of every Christian—that we shall see Christ, be like Him, and dwell with Him forever.

### Conclusion: Resting in the Sovereign Promise of Christ's Return

Revelation 22:12 reminds us that Christ's return is certain, imminent, and full of divine justice and mercy. Just as Romans 8:28 assures us of God's sovereign work in our lives, so this verse affirms that all of history is moving toward the glorious return of our Lord. As believers, we can rest in the knowledge that God's plan is unfolding perfectly. In every season—whether of joy or suffering—we look forward with faith, live with obedience, and worship in hope.

Let us live as those who await His appearing, confident that "He who shall come will come, and will not tarry" (Hebrews 10:37), and that His reward is with Him.

# 59. Overthrow of the Beast and False Prophet (Revelation 19:20)

### Biblical Commentary on "The Overthrow of the Beast and the False Prophet"

The overthrow of the Beast (Antichrist) and the False Prophet is one of the climactic moments in the Book of Revelation, marking the end of satanic dominion over the earth and the beginning of Christ's visible reign. This dramatic event is recorded in Revelation 19:11–21, following the return of Jesus Christ in power and glory. The Beast, representing a final world ruler empowered by Satan, and the False Prophet, a deceptive religious figure, together form the core of the unholy trinity described in Revelation. Their downfall is not gradual or uncertain—it is swift, final, and executed directly by the Lord Jesus Christ.

In Revelation 19, Christ returns as the **Faithful and True** warrior on a white horse, with eyes like fire and a robe dipped in blood. He comes not as a suffering servant, but as **a conquering King**. At His return, the Beast and the kings of the earth gather their armies to wage war against Him. This is the battle often referred to as **Armageddon** (Rev. 16:16; 19:19). But there is no prolonged struggle—Christ defeats them by the **sword that** 

**proceeds from His mouth**, symbolizing the power of His word. The Beast and the False Prophet are **seized alive**—not killed—and are immediately thrown into the **lake of fire**, a place of eternal torment prepared for the devil and his angels (Revelation 19:20).

The False Prophet is condemned for performing deceptive signs and leading people to worship the image of the Beast (Rev. 13:13–15). His judgment reflects the seriousness of religious deception and spiritual corruption in the last days. The Beast, who once ruled the nations with apparent invincibility, is shown to be completely powerless before the Lord. His overthrow fulfills earlier prophecies in Daniel, where the fourth beast (symbolizing the final world empire) is destroyed by a kingdom not made by human hands (Daniel 2:44; 7:11). The **lake of fire** is the final, irreversible destination for these two agents of evil—eternal separation from God in conscious judgment.

This event signals a turning point in **eschatology**. With the Beast and False Prophet destroyed, their global empire of deception, persecution, and rebellion collapses. Satan himself is not yet cast into the lake of fire at this point but is **bound and sealed in the Abyss for a thousand years** (Revelation 20:1–3), initiating the **Millennial Kingdom**—Christ's thousand-year reign of peace and righteousness on earth. The fall of these two figures affirms the absolute **sovereignty of God** and the certainty of Christ's victory. It also reinforces that all human and demonic opposition to God will be judged.

### **Theological and Pastoral Reflection:**

The overthrow of the Beast and the False Prophet is not merely a dramatic scene of judgment—it is a declaration that **evil will not prevail**. These two figures represent all that opposes God: corrupt power, deception, false worship, and persecution of the saints. Their destruction shows that **no system, empire, or leader can withstand the authority of Christ**. For believers, this is a source of deep assurance. Though the powers of darkness may seem dominant for a season, **the return of Christ will bring justice, vindication, and restoration**. It is also a call to endure in faith, knowing that those who remain loyal to the Lamb will share in His triumph and reign with Him forever.

## 60. The Marriage Supper of the Lamb (Revelation 19:7–9) Biblical Commentary on "The Marriage Supper of the Lamb"

The Marriage Supper of the Lamb is a profoundly joyful and prophetic event described in Revelation 19:6–9, where the redeemed people of God are united eternally with Jesus Christ, the Lamb of God. It is the culmination of redemptive history—a celebration of love, faithfulness, and victory. The apostle John writes, "Let us rejoice and be glad and give Him glory! For the wedding of the Lamb has come, and His bride has made herself ready" (Revelation 19:7). This imagery draws from ancient Jewish marriage customs, where a formal betrothal was followed by a waiting period and then a wedding feast. In this spiritual sense, the Church, often called the **bride of Christ** (Ephesians 5:25–27; 2 Corinthians 11:2), has been betrothed to Christ and now, at this climactic moment, enters into the fullness of her union with Him.

The guest list for the marriage supper includes all who have been redeemed by the blood of the Lamb—those whose names are written in the Book of Life and who have been made ready through salvation and sanctification. Revelation 19:8 notes, "Fine linen, bright and clean, was given her to wear," and adds, "Fine linen stands for the righteous acts of God's holy people." This is not a righteousness of self-effort, but of lives transformed by Christ, bearing the fruit of holiness and devotion. The Church is not merely an observer but the honored bride, adorned and prepared for this eternal communion. Her readiness is a sign of purity, devotion, and spiritual fidelity—traits cultivated in anticipation of her Bridegroom's return.

The setting of the marriage supper occurs after the judgment of Babylon (Revelation 18) and just before the return of Christ to earth to defeat the Antichrist and establish His millennial reign. This timing highlights a beautiful contrast: while the rebellious world mourns its downfall, the saints rejoice in their union with Christ. The angel proclaims in Revelation 19:9, "Blessed are those who are invited to the marriage supper of the Lamb." This beatitude underscores the joy and honor of being part of this divine celebration. The supper itself symbolizes the fullness of salvation, the beginning of eternal fellowship, and the reward of enduring faith. It is the fulfillment of Jesus 'promise at the Last Supper when He said, "I will not drink again of the fruit of the vine until that day when I drink it new with you in My Father's kingdom" (Matthew 26:29).

Theologically, the Marriage Supper of the Lamb is a picture of **consummated redemption**. Christ, the Bridegroom, who laid down His life for His bride, now receives her to Himself forever (John 14:3). It marks the end of separation, suffering, and preparation—and the beginning of eternal intimacy and joy. This event also serves as an invitation today: to be spiritually ready, to live as those awaiting their Lord, and to cling to the hope of a future far greater than anything this world can offer. The Marriage Supper is not just a future feast—it is a divine promise that our relationship with Christ will one day reach its perfect fulfillment in glory, joy, and everlasting communion.

### 61. The Sheep and Goat Judgment (Matthew 25:31–46)

The "Sheep and Goat Judgment," found in Matthew 25:31–46, is one of Jesus 'most vivid and sobering teachings about the final judgment of the nations at His Second Coming. Jesus begins, "When the Son of Man comes in His glory, and all the holy angels with Him, then He will sit on the throne of His glory" (v.31). This scene clearly points to Christ's return to earth in power and majesty to establish His Millennial Kingdom (cf. Revelation 20:4). Unlike the Great White Throne Judgment (Revelation 20:11–15), which occurs after the Millennium and involves unbelievers, this judgment takes place at the beginning of Christ's earthly reign and involves "all the nations" (Greek: ta ethnē)—likely referring to Gentile survivors of the Tribulation. They are gathered before Christ for evaluation based on their treatment of "the least of these My brethren," a phrase most scholars associate with faithful Jews or believers during the Tribulation.

Jesus divides the people into two groups—sheep on His right hand and goats on His left—symbolizing the righteous and the unrighteous. The sheep are welcomed into the kingdom with the words: "Come, you blessed of My Father, inherit the kingdom prepared for you from the foundation of the world" (v.34). Their commendation is based on acts of mercy: feeding the hungry, clothing the naked, visiting the sick, and showing hospitality. These actions were done, often unknowingly, unto Christ Himself: "Inasmuch as you did it to one of the least of these My brethren, you did it to Me" (v.40). The goats, on the other hand, are condemned for neglecting these same acts, demonstrating that their lack of compassion revealed a hardened heart and spiritual blindness. Their fate is "everlasting fire prepared for the devil and his angels" (v.41), indicating eternal separation from God.

This judgment does not teach salvation by works but rather reveals that genuine faith expresses itself through love, especially under persecution. During the Tribulation, when identifying with Christ or aiding His followers comes at great personal risk, acts of mercy are profound evidence of a person's heart posture toward God. The sheep, through their compassionate response to Christ's suffering people, demonstrate that their lives have been transformed by God's grace. The goats, by their neglect, show their rejection of Christ and His messengers. The criteria are not mere humanitarian efforts but how individuals responded to Christ as represented in His people—especially during the most trying circumstances.

The Sheep and Goat Judgment challenges all believers to examine the authenticity of their faith and calls the world to recognize the eternal consequences of their response to Christ and His people. It emphasizes that Christ's return will bring not only glory and restoration but also justice and separation. This passage reminds the Church that Christ identifies deeply with His followers—especially the marginalized and persecuted—and that our treatment of them reflects our relationship with Him. It also shows that no one will stand neutral before the King of kings; all will be judged. The faithful will inherit the kingdom prepared from eternity past, while the unrepentant face eternal punishment. This judgment serves as both a warning and an encouragement, assuring believers that their suffering and righteousness will not be overlooked, and that justice will ultimately be done by the returning Judge.

# V. The Millennial Reign of Christ (One Thousand-Year Kingdom)

## 62. Satan Bound for One Thousand Years (Revelation 20:1–3)

Sometime after the battle of Armageddon Satan will be bound for a thousand years while Jesus rules and reigns here on earth.

#### **KEY SCRIPTURES**

**Revelation 20:1** And I saw an angel coming down from heaven, having the key of the abyss and a great chain in his hand.

20:2 And he laid hold of the dragon, the serpent of old, who is the devil and Satan, and bound him for a thousand years,

20:3 and threw him into the abyss and shut it and sealed it over him so that he should not deceive the nations any longer, until the thousand years were completed after these things he must be released for a short time.

### The binding of Satan.

Revelation 20:1-3 mentions that Satan will be bound during a thousand-year period often referred to as the millennium.:

"Then I saw an angel coming down from heaven, holding in his hand the key to the bottomless pit and a great chain. And he seized the dragon, that ancient serpent, who is the devil and Satan, and bound him for a thousand years, and threw him into the pit, and shut it and sealed it over him so that he might not deceive the nations any longer, until the thousand years were ended. After that, he must be released for a little while."

This passage is part of the broader context of Revelation, where various visions are revealed to the apostle John concerning the end times. The binding of Satan is associated with the beginning of a thousand-year period during which Christ reigns, and believers who have suffered and died for their faith share in His rule. This period is often referred to as the millennium.

Different theological traditions interpret the binding of Satan in various ways. Some hold to a premillennial view, understanding the thousand years as a literal reign of Christ on Earth after a period of tribulation. Others interpret it allegorically, viewing the millennium as symbolic of the church age, during which Christ reigns spiritually through His followers. There is also the postmillennial perspective, suggesting that the millennium represents a period of increasing Christian influence in the world before Christ's return.

After the thousand years, Revelation 20:7-10 describes the release of Satan for a short time, during which he deceives the nations once again. However, his rebellion is ultimately crushed, and he is thrown into the lake of fire, along with those who follow him.

Outside of Revelation, the New Testament portrays Satan as a powerful adversary who seeks to undermine God's purposes and deceive humanity (e.g., 1 Peter 5:8; Ephesians 6:11). The binding of Satan in Revelation 20 is a specific event within the apocalyptic framework of the book, highlighting a period during which his deceptive influence is restrained.

Satan being bound and the associated events in Revelation 20 are significant elements in Christian eschatology. While Revelation 20 is the primary passage that

explicitly mentions the binding of Satan, other biblical texts provide additional insights into the character and activities of Satan.

In the Gospels, particularly in the accounts of Jesus' temptation in the wilderness, Satan is depicted as a tempter and adversary. Matthew 4:1-11 describes Satan tempting Jesus, and Jesus responds with Scripture, affirming His allegiance to God alone. This narrative underscores Satan's deceptive nature and Jesus' victory over temptation.

Throughout the New Testament, various epistles warn believers about the schemes of Satan and the need for spiritual vigilance. Ephesians 6:11-12, for example, instructs believers to put on the whole armor of God to stand against the schemes of the devil: "For we do not wrestle against flesh and blood, but against the rulers, against the authorities, against the cosmic powers over this present darkness, against the spiritual forces of evil in the heavenly places."

In 2 Corinthians 4:4, Paul describes Satan as the "god of this world" who blinds the minds of unbelievers to keep them from seeing the light of the gospel of the glory of Christ. This emphasizes the spiritual battle that believers face and the need for the light of Christ to overcome the darkness.

The apostle Peter also warns about the adversary, stating, "Be sober-minded; be watchful. Your adversary the devil prowls around like a roaring lion, seeking someone to devour" (1 Peter 5:8). This imagery portrays Satan's predatory nature, seeking to undermine and destroy the faith of believers.

Revelation 12:9 describes Satan as the ancient serpent, identified as the devil and Satan, who deceives the whole world. This chapter provides a broader context for understanding the ongoing spiritual battle between Satan and the followers of Christ.

While Revelation 20 speaks specifically about Satan being bound for a thousand years, other passages emphasize the ongoing struggle against the forces of evil. James 4:7 exhorts believers to resist the devil, and he will flee from them. The book of Job also portrays Satan as the accuser, challenging the faithfulness of Job.

### In summary,

Satan being bound in Revelation 20 is part of the broader biblical narrative that highlights the spiritual battle between good and evil. Other passages provide additional perspectives on Satan's character, activities, and the ongoing need for believers to be vigilant, resist temptation, and stand firm in their faith.

The binding of Satan, as described in Revelation 20, is a significant eschatological event associated with the millennium—a period during which Christ reigns, and Satan's ability to deceive the nations is curtailed. Different theological perspectives exist regarding the interpretation of this vision, but it is part of the broader biblical narrative that portrays the ultimate triumph of God's purposes and the defeat of evil in the end times.

# 63. One Thousand-Year Reign with Jesus Christ (Revelation 20:4–6)

### The 1000 Year Reign with Jesus Christ

"The 1000 Year Reign, with Jesus Christ also known as the Millennial Kingdom holds a place in theology as an important eschatological concept. It refers to a period described in Revelation 20;4 6 where Christ will reign on earth for a thousand years bringing about peace, justice and righteousness. This era is believed to follow the culmination of the end times signifying Christs victory over evil and the establishment of His kingdom on earth. The 1000 Year Reign carries meaning in theology as it represents the fulfillment of Gods promises and the triumph of His redemptive plan for humanity.

The significance of the 1000 Year Reign with Jesus Christ lies in its role, in fulfilling God's covenant promises to His people. Revelation 20;4 6 highlights how Christ and His saints will reign during this time emphasizing an era characterized by justice and righteousness. This passage underscores the importance of the Millennial Kingdom as it fulfills Gods promise of a renewed creation where Christ rules as a righteous and just King while His saints share in His authority and glory."The 1000 Year Reign holds significance as it represents the culmination of Gods plan, for redemption. It symbolizes the victory of His kingdom over evil and the establishment of an righteous era on earth.

One crucial aspect of the 1000 Year Reign with Jesus Christ is its role in defeating Satan and the forces of darkness. According to Revelation 20;2 3 Satan will be bound during this period, which means his deceptive influence and reign of terror will temporarily cease. This highlights the Millennial Kingdoms role in defeating evil as Christ establishes His dominion and subdues all opposing forces. The 1000 Year Reign stands as a testament to Christs triumph over darkness signifying the victory of His kingdom and ushering in an era characterized by peace, righteousness and justice.

Moreover the 1000 Year Reign with Jesus Christ plays a part in fulfilling promises of restoration and renewal, for both humanity and the earth itself. Isaiah 11;6 9 offers a vision of the Messianic Kingdom where creation is restored bringing forth peace and harmony among all living beings.

This passage highlights the impact of the Millennial Kingdom in bringing about the restoration of the earth and the reconciliation of all creation, to God. The 1000 Year Reign is seen as the realization of Gods promise for a renewed and redeemed world, where peace, justice and righteousness prevail under Christs rule.

Furthermore the significance of the 1000 Year Reign with Jesus Christ lies in its role in rewarding and involving believers in Christs reign. Revelation 20;4 emphasizes how saints participate in the Millennial Kingdom underscoring their co heirship with Christ during his righteous rule. This passage underscores that faithful endurance and perseverance are crucial in this age since believers are assured of sharing Christs authority and glory during this period. The 1000 Year Reign represents believers ultimate

hope fulfilled as they are rewarded for staying steadfastly committed, to Gods purposes while joyfully experiencing the blessings of Christs reign.

In conclusion the idea of the 1000 Year Reign, with Jesus Christ holds significance in theology. It represents the fulfillment of Gods promises the defeat of evil and the renewal of creation. It also symbolizes the reward and participation of believers in Christs reign. Essentially it marks the culmination of Gods plan for humanity. Signifies the establishment of His kingdom on earth—a kingdom characterized by peace and righteousness. The 1000 Year Reign stands as a testament to Christs triumph over darkness and His establishment of an righteous reign that will last for eternity.

On another note during this period there will be judgment and restoration for all nations. Isaiah 2;4 speaks about a time when nations will no longer engage in warfare but instead strive for peace. This verse highlights how the Millennial Kingdom brings about transformation by promoting peace and reconciliation under Christs rule. The 1000 Year Reign serves as a time when divine judgment is carried out leading to restoration as nations align, with Gods purposes and justice prevails throughout society.

Moreover the significance of the 1000 Year Reign, alongside Jesus Christ lies in its role in fulfilling the promises of a renewed covenant and a restored relationship between God and His people. In Ezekiel 37;26 28 there is a portrayal of a vision that encompasses this renewed covenant and restored connection emphasizing the establishment of a covenant of peace and Gods perpetual presence among His people. This passage highlights how the Millennial Kingdom plays a part in bringing about the fulfillment of Gods promises concerning restoration and reconciliation. During this period He establishes a covenant marked by peace and communion with His people.

Additionally another significant aspect of the 1000 Year Reign with Jesus Christ is its contribution to fulfilling the promises of a heaven and earth. Revelation 21;1 4 provides insight into this vision illustrating the renewal and restoration of creation under Christs reign. The passage underscores how the Millennial Kingdom holds transformative power in realizing Gods promises, for a brand creation—a realm where death, mourning, crying and pain will be no more—and where God will dwell eternally among His people. The 1000 Year Reign plays a role, as a precursor to the establishment of Gods kingdom. In this kingdom peace, righteousness and joy will prevail for all eternity.

Furthermore the significance of the 1000 Year Reign with Jesus Christ lies in its fulfillment of the promises found in the Old Testament. Micah 4;1 4 presents a vision of the Messianic Kingdom highlighting how Gods reign will be established from Zion and how all nations will submit to His authority and laws. This passage emphasizes how the Millennial Kingdom brings about change by fulfilling these promises. Through Christs dominion over nations during this period a new era of peace, justice and righteousness is ushered in. The 1000 Year Reign represents the realization of Gods plan for redemption as all nations come under Christs just rule for eternity.

To conclude within theology the concept of the 1000 Year Reign with Jesus Christ holds importance as it encompasses various promises such as global peace and reconciliation a renewed covenant and restored relationship with God, a new heaven and earth along with fulfilling prophetic promises, from the Old Testament.

It acts as a forerunner, to the formation of Gods kingdom, where eternal peace, righteousness and joy will reign under Christs fair leadership. The 1000 Year Reign represents the pinnacle of Gods plan to redeem humanity as He establishes His kingdom of tranquility and justice on Earth.

The concept of the 1,000-year reign with Jesus Christ, often referred to as the millennium, is primarily derived from the book of Revelation, specifically from Revelation 20:4-6. This passage describes a period during which Christ reigns with believers who have been resurrected. The text reads:

"Then I saw thrones, and seated on them were those to whom the authority to judge was committed. Also, I saw the souls of those who had been beheaded for the testimony of Jesus and for the word of God, and those who had not worshiped the beast or its image and had not received its mark on their foreheads or their hands. They came to life and reigned with Christ for a thousand years. The rest of the dead did not come to life until the thousand years were ended. This is the first resurrection. Blessed and holy is the one who shares in the first resurrection! Over such the second death has no power, but they will be priests of God and of Christ, and they will reign with him for a thousand years."

Several key elements emerge from this passage:

**Resurrection and Reigning with Christ:** Those who participate in the first resurrection are described as coming to life and reigning with Christ for a thousand years. This is often understood as a period of blessedness for believers who have been faithful to Christ, especially those who may have suffered persecution for their faith.

**Authority to Judge:** The text mentions thrones and those to whom the authority to judge is committed. This suggests a role of judgment and authority granted to those who reign with Christ during the millennium.

**Priesthood and Exemption from the Second Death:** Those who share in the first resurrection are blessed and holy, and they will be priests of God and of Christ. The passage emphasizes that over such individuals, the second death has no power.

The interpretation of the millennium varies among Christian traditions:

**Premillennialism:** Some interpret the millennium as a literal 1,000-year period during which Christ will reign on Earth after His Second Coming. This reign is often seen as a time of peace and righteousness, fulfilling Old Testament promises to Israel.

**Postmillennialism:** Others view the millennium symbolically, representing a period of increasing Christian influence and righteousness in the world before Christ's return. This perspective often emphasizes the role of the church in shaping society.

**Amillennialism:** Some interpret the thousand years symbolically, seeing the reign of Christ as ongoing through the church age. The number "thousand" is often understood as a symbol of completeness or perfection.

While the specifics of the millennium are a topic of theological debate, the common thread is the expectation of a future period when Christ will reign, believers will share in His rule, and justice will be administered. The concept is intricately tied to broader discussions of eschatology and the ultimate fulfillment of God's redemptive plan.

# The 1000-Year Reign of Jesus Christ (The Millennial Kingdom)

Text: Revelation 20:4 (AKJV)

"And I saw thrones, and they sat upon them, and judgment was given unto them: and I saw the souls of them that were beheaded for the witness of Jesus, and for the word of God... and they lived and reigned with Christ a thousand years."

# Introduction: The Promised Reign of the Messiah

The 1000-Year Reign of Jesus Christ, commonly called the Millennial Kingdom, is a period described in Revelation 20 in which Christ rules the earth in righteousness, justice, and peace. This reign is the fulfillment of numerous Old Testament prophecies and New Testament promises, where Jesus, the risen King, exercises His authority visibly over the nations.

This time marks a transition between human history and the eternal state, when God's kingdom is fully manifested on earth. It is a period of victory, restoration, and divine governance, when Satan is bound, and the saints reign with Christ.

## 1. The Scriptural Basis for the Millennial Reign

#### 1.1 Revelation 20:1-6 - The Primary Text

Revelation 20 explicitly mentions a 1000-year reign six times (vv. 2–7). Key events:

- Satan is bound and cast into the bottomless pit (v. 2).
- The martyrs and faithful saints are resurrected and reign with Christ (v. 4).
- This is called the "first resurrection" (v. 5).
- The rest of the dead (unbelievers) do not live again until the 1000 years are finished (v. 5).
- It concludes with **Satan's release and final rebellion**, which is swiftly defeated (v. 7–10).

# 1.2 Old Testament Prophecies of the Kingdom

Numerous Old Testament passages describe a **future earthly reign of the Messiah**:

- **Isaiah 11:4–9** The Messiah rules with justice; the earth is full of the knowledge of the Lord.
- **Zechariah 14:9** "And the LORD shall be king over all the earth..."

• **Psalm 2:6–9** – God installs His King on Zion to rule the nations with a rod of iron.

These prophecies speak of a time of universal peace, restoration of Israel, and worldwide worship of the Lord, which aligns with the millennial reign.

#### 1.3 New Testament Affirmation

- **Luke 1:32-33** The angel told Mary that Jesus would reign over the house of Jacob **forever**.
- Acts 1:6-7 The disciples asked about the restoration of the kingdom to Israel, showing this was still an expected future event.
- 1 Corinthians 15:24-25 Christ must reign until He has put all enemies under His feet, then comes the final handover of the kingdom to God the Father.

# 2. The Nature of the Millennial Kingdom

# 2.1 Christ's Visible, Sovereign Rule

Jesus Christ will **reign physically and visibly from Jerusalem**, as King of kings and Lord of lords.

- **Isaiah 2:2–4** All nations come to Jerusalem to learn God's ways.
- Micah 4:1–3 Nations beat swords into plowshares; war ceases under Messiah's reign.

# 2.2 The Binding of Satan

Revelation 20:1–3 states that Satan will be bound and rendered incapable of deceiving the nations during the millennium. This results in:

- Global peace and truth, unhindered by demonic deception.
- A time of **true justice**, as Christ governs in righteousness.

### 2.3 Resurrection and Reign of the Saints

Those who suffered for Christ and were faithful to Him will reign with Him.

- Revelation 20:4 "They lived and reigned with Christ a thousand years."
- This includes the faithful church, tribulation martyrs, and Old Testament saints (cf. Daniel 12:2; 1 Thess. 4:16).

They will serve as **priests and kings** (Revelation 1:6) under the authority of Christ.

#### 2.4 Restoration of the Earth

- **Isaiah 35** The land blooms, the lame walk, the deaf hear; creation is renewed.
- Romans 8:19-21 Creation itself will be liberated from bondage and share in the glory of God's children.

# 3. The Purpose of the Millennium

#### 3.1 Fulfillment of God's Covenants

The Millennium fulfills **unconditional biblical covenants**, including:

- Abrahamic Covenant Land and nation promises (Genesis 12:1-3).
- Davidic Covenant An eternal throne for David's descendant (2 Samuel 7:12-16).
- **New Covenant** A time when God's law is written on hearts and Israel is fully restored (Jeremiah 31:31-34).

# 3.2 Demonstration of Christ's Kingship

The Millennium is God's answer to the **long rebellion of mankind**. Jesus will demonstrate His righteous rule in real time over real nations.

#### 3.3 Transition to the Eternal State

After the 1000 years:

- Satan is released for one final deception (Revelation 20:7-9).
- God defeats the rebellion with fire from heaven.
- Final judgment of all the dead takes place (Revelation 20:11-15).
- Then comes the New Heavens and New Earth (Revelation 21:1).

# 4. Our Response to the Promise of the Millennium

# 4.1 Anticipation and Hope

- The Millennium reminds believers that **God's promises are literal and sure**.
- It fuels our **expectation for justice**, **peace**, **and glory** to be fully revealed.

### 4.2 Faithfulness in Suffering

- Revelation 20:4 highlights those who **were faithful unto death**. They reign because they stood for Christ when it was costly.
- We are called to **endure in faith, knowing that reign with Christ awaits** (2 Timothy 2:12 "If we suffer, we shall also reign with Him.")

# 4.3 Urgency of the Gospel

- Those who reject Christ will not inherit the kingdom. Now is the time of salvation.
- The Millennium precedes the final judgment—therefore, the call to repentance is urgent and essential.

### **Conclusion: The Reign of Christ Is Certain**

The 1000-Year Reign of Jesus Christ is a glorious and literal future reality. It is the time when:

- God's promises are fulfilled,
- Christ is glorified,
- Creation is restored, and
- The saints are rewarded.

This truth should shape our lives today—giving us hope in suffering, strength in obedience, and passion for the kingdom to come.

"Blessed and holy is he that hath part in the first resurrection: on such the second death hath no power, but they shall be priests of God and of Christ, and shall reign with Him a thousand years." (Revelation 20:6)

# 64. The Millennial Saints Reign (Revelation 20:4–6)

**Biblical Commentary on "The Millennial Saints"** 

The **Millennial Saints** refer to those believers who reign with Christ during the **Millennium**, the thousand-year period described in **Revelation 20:4–6**. This reign follows Christ's Second Coming and the overthrow of the Beast, False Prophet, and Satan's initial binding. The Millennium is a unique era in God's redemptive timeline when Christ establishes His kingdom on earth, and the saints—those who remained faithful through the Tribulation and those resurrected at Christ's return—share in His reign. The "Millennial Saints" are distinct from the general Church age believers and represent a victorious, glorified people who participate actively in God's righteous government during this time.

In **Revelation 20:4**, John sees thrones and those seated on them who are given authority to judge. These are "the souls of those who had been beheaded for their testimony of Jesus and for the word of God," as well as those who "had not worshiped the beast or its image and had not received its mark on their foreheads or their hands." This group includes **martyrs and faithful believers** who endured persecution without compromise during the Tribulation. Their resurrection or transformation at Christ's coming grants them a place of honor and authority. The passage notes that they "came to life and reigned with Christ for a thousand years." This resurrection is often called the **first resurrection**, and those who partake in it are considered **blessed and holy**, spared from the "second death" (Revelation 20:6).

The Millennial reign of these saints is characterized by **justice**, **peace**, **and righteousness** under Christ's sovereign rule. This is not a passive reign but an active participation in governing the earth according to God's will. Scripture implies that these saints assist Christ in administering judgment and restoring creation (Psalm 149:5–9; Daniel 7:22, 27). Their reign fulfills Old Testament promises of the Messiah's kingdom where the faithful will share in His glory and authority (Isaiah 32:1; Daniel 7:18). It is a time of unprecedented blessing and restoration, in stark contrast to the Tribulation period that preceded it.

Theologically, the Millennial Saints affirm the **bodily resurrection of believers** and the continuity of the kingdom of God in a tangible, earthly form. Their reign demonstrates God's faithfulness in rewarding perseverance and faithfulness even through severe trials. It also underscores the hope Christians have beyond this present age—that death is not the end, and suffering is temporary. The Millennial Kingdom is a foretaste of the eternal

new heavens and new earth, where righteousness dwells, and the faithful live in intimate fellowship with God.

#### Reflection:

The identity and role of the Millennial Saints remind believers today of the **hope and reward of faithfulness**. In a world filled with trials and temptations, the promise of reigning with Christ offers motivation to endure and remain steadfast. It assures Christians that suffering is neither wasted nor forgotten; God honors those who refuse compromise and persevere until the end. As participants in the first resurrection, the Millennial Saints symbolize victory over sin, death, and evil—a victory secured by Christ and shared with His people. This truth inspires worship, perseverance, and a forward-looking faith anchored in the sure hope of eternal life and reigning with the King.

# 65. The Overcomers (Revelation 2:26; Revelation 3:21)

# **The Overcomers**

# **Biblical Commentary on "The Overcomers"**

In the Book of Revelation, the term "Overcomers" refers to those who remain faithful to Jesus Christ in the face of sin, persecution, deception, and spiritual warfare. Derived from the Greek word *nikaō*—meaning "to conquer" or "to be victorious"—the overcomer is not one who lives a perfect life, but one who endures in faith, holds fast to Christ, and lives by the Spirit rather than the flesh. Jesus Himself uses this word repeatedly in His letters to the seven churches in Revelation 2–3, offering unique and eternal rewards to those who overcome. These individuals represent true believers who persevere in loyalty to Christ, particularly through trials, opposition, and the pressures of a fallen world.

In Revelation 2–3, each church receives a promise to "him who overcomes," and these promises are rich with eschatological meaning. Overcomers are promised access to the tree of life (Ephesus, Rev. 2:7), freedom from the second death (Smyrna, Rev. 2:11), hidden manna and a white stone with a new name (Pergamum, Rev. 2:17), authority over the nations (Thyatira, Rev. 2:26), white garments and an unblotted name in the Book of Life (Sardis, Rev. 3:5), a pillar in God's temple (Philadelphia, Rev. 3:12), and a seat with Christ on His throne (Laodicea, Rev. 3:21). These are not mere symbolic blessings—they reflect eternal realities: intimate fellowship with God, eternal security, ruling authority in the Kingdom, and sharing in Christ's victory.

The **ultimate picture of the overcomer** appears again in **Revelation 12:11**, where those who triumph over Satan are described this way: "They overcame him by the blood of the Lamb and by the word of their testimony, and they did not love their lives even unto death." This verse reveals the threefold foundation of the overcomer's victory: **the finished work of Christ**, **faithful witness**, and **sacrificial devotion**. Overcomers do not triumph by their own strength, but through **faith in the Lamb** and obedience to the truth, even when it

costs them their lives. Their victory is not merely survival—it is **spiritual faithfulness** in the midst of temptation, fear, and persecution.

Eschatologically, the identity of the overcomer becomes even more crucial. As deception increases in the last days, and as persecution intensifies under the rule of the Antichrist, only those truly rooted in Christ will endure. **Revelation 21:7** gives a final and eternal promise: "The one who conquers will inherit all these things, and I will be his God and he will be My son." But the next verse issues a sharp contrast: the cowardly, faithless, and immoral will face the second death. Thus, the calling to overcome is **not optional for the believer**; it is the mark of true salvation. It is not a legalistic demand, but the result of genuine, Spirit-empowered faith. Overcomers are those who, though tempted, pressed, and afflicted, remain loyal to Jesus—trusting in His blood, proclaiming His truth, and looking to His coming. Their reward is everlasting life, reigning with Christ, and unbroken fellowship with God forever.

# 66. Resurrection of Old Testament Saints and Tribulation Martyrs (Revelation 20:4–6)

Resurrection of Old Testament Saints and Tribulation Martyrs (Revelation 20:4–6)

Revelation 20:4–6 describes the "first resurrection," which includes the resurrection of Tribulation martyrs and, by implication, the Old Testament saints, marking the beginning of Christ's 1,000-year Millennial reign. The passage states: "Then I saw thrones, and they sat on them, and judgment was committed to them. Then I saw the souls of those who had been beheaded for their witness to Jesus and for the word of God... and they lived and reigned with Christ for a thousand years" (v.4). These resurrected individuals include those who refused to worship the beast or receive his mark during the Tribulation. They are raised to life, rewarded for their faithfulness, and given the privilege of co-reigning with Christ. The phrase "they lived" indicates bodily resurrection, not just spiritual life, and it marks their transition from death into glorified existence within God's kingdom.

Though Old Testament saints are not explicitly named in Revelation 20:4–6, many scholars understand their resurrection to occur at this same point—at the Second Coming and prior to the Millennium. This conclusion is based on prophetic texts like Daniel 12:2, which speaks of a future resurrection for the righteous: "Many of those who sleep in the dust of the earth shall awake, some to everlasting life…" This resurrection is connected to the time of Israel's deliverance and the end-time distress (Daniel 12:1), which aligns with the Great Tribulation and Christ's return. Similarly, Job and Isaiah express hope in a future bodily resurrection (Job 19:25–27; Isaiah 26:19). Together, these passages support the view that both Old Testament saints and Tribulation martyrs are raised to life in glorified bodies after Christ returns, but before the Millennial Kingdom begins.

Revelation 20:5 draws a sharp distinction between this resurrection of the righteous and a later resurrection of the wicked: "The rest of the dead did not live again until the thousand years were finished." This clarifies that the "first resurrection" is exclusive to believers—both Old Testament and New Testament—who are raised to eternal life, while the resurrection of the unsaved (to judgment and the second death) happens after the Millennium at the Great White Throne Judgment (Revelation 20:11–15). Verse 6 affirms this by saying, "Blessed and holy is he who has part in the first resurrection. Over such the second death has no power." These resurrected saints are priests of God and of Christ and will reign with Him—a reference to their honored, active role in God's restored kingdom on earth.

For believers today, the resurrection of Old Testament saints and Tribulation martyrs reveals the consistency and faithfulness of God's redemptive plan throughout all ages. Whether saved before the cross (like Abraham and David) or during the darkest days of the Tribulation (those who reject the Antichrist and pay with their lives), all the righteous are united in resurrection and rewarded with eternal life in God's kingdom. This truth reinforces the doctrine of bodily resurrection, affirms God's justice in vindicating the faithful, and offers enduring hope. For the Church, it serves as a call to perseverance and trust in God's promises, knowing that He has appointed a time to raise His people and restore all things under Christ's righteous rule.

# 67. Rebuilding of the Millennial Temple (Ezekiel 40–48)

Rebuilding of the Millennial Temple (Ezekiel 40–48)

Ezekiel 40–48 contains one of the most comprehensive and detailed visions in all of Scripture, describing the future Millennial Temple that will be established during Christ's 1,000-year reign on earth. The vision begins in Ezekiel 40 with the prophet being transported to Israel in the 25th year of his exile, where he is shown a new temple by a heavenly guide. This temple is unlike any previous structure in size, design, and function. The exact measurements, intricate architectural details, and strict ordinances surrounding worship point to its literal nature. This temple does not match Solomon's, Zerubbabel's, or Herod's temples—leading many scholars to conclude that it refers to a yet future, physical temple to be built after Christ returns and establishes His kingdom (cf. Zechariah 6:12–13).

The Millennial Temple will serve as the spiritual and political center of Christ's earthly kingdom, symbolizing God's restored presence among His people. In Ezekiel 43:2–5, the prophet sees the glory of the Lord return and fill the temple—a profound reversal of Ezekiel 10, where the glory departed from the earlier temple due to Israel's sin. Now, God once again dwells among His people, fulfilling the repeated covenantal promise: "I will dwell in their midst forever" (Ezekiel 43:7). The temple becomes the epicenter of worship, justice, and instruction for the nations (cf. Isaiah 2:2–4; Zechariah 14:16–17). Its sacrificial system, outlined in Ezekiel 44–46, is not for atonement—since Christ's once-for-all sacrifice has already accomplished that—but may

serve as **a memorial**, a teaching tool, and a form of covenant renewal during the Millennium.

The restored land, priesthood, and tribal inheritance described in Ezekiel 47–48 emphasize God's faithfulness to His promises to Israel. Ezekiel sees a miraculous river flowing from the temple, bringing life and healing wherever it goes (Ezekiel 47:1–12). This river symbolizes spiritual renewal and literal transformation of the land, echoing the Edenic themes of restoration. Each tribe is allotted territory in a symmetrical, divinely ordered way (chapter 48), showing that Israel's national identity and covenantal promises are not abolished but fulfilled in the Messianic age. The presence of the **Prince**, likely a representative Messianic figure or Davidic ruler under Christ's kingship (cf. Ezekiel 34:23–24), underscores a restored leadership structure and points to the order and peace of the coming Kingdom.

For believers today, Ezekiel's vision of the Millennial Temple offers a glimpse into God's redemptive plan for history and creation. It reminds us that God is not finished with Israel and that His promises are literal, specific, and trustworthy. The temple stands as a symbol of holiness, order, and divine presence—a contrast to the confusion, rebellion, and judgment described earlier in Ezekiel. Though the Church presently serves as the temple of the Holy Spirit (1 Corinthians 3:16–17), this future temple reflects God's plan to dwell bodily among His people in a restored creation. For both Jews and Gentiles, it will be a place of worship, peace, and celebration of God's faithfulness through the ages.

# VI. End of the Millennium

# 68. Satan Released and Deceives the Nations (Revelation 20:7–8)

Satan Released

Satan Released at the End of a Thousand Years and Will Try to Deceive the Nations:

Biblical Commentary on "Satan Released at the End of a Thousand Years and Will Try to Deceive the Nations"

In the book of Revelation, chapter 20 presents a striking and often debated prophetic vision concerning the future judgment of Satan. After Christ's triumphant return and the binding of Satan, the apostle John sees that the devil is confined in the "Abyss" for a period of a thousand years (Revelation 20:1–3). During this millennium, Satan is "bound" so that he can no longer "deceive the nations" as he once did. This thousand-year period is often referred to as the *Millennial Reign of Christ*, during which Christ rules in righteousness, and His saints reign with Him (Revelation 20:4–6). However, Revelation

reveals that this period of peace and divine governance will not end in final peace—Satan will be released once more.

After the thousand years are completed, Satan is loosed "for a little while" (Revelation 20:3, 7). This release serves a distinct purpose in God's sovereign plan: to expose the hearts of men and bring about the final rebellion before ultimate judgment. Despite a millennium of peace under Christ's rule, humanity—still capable of rebellion—follows Satan once again when he is freed. Revelation 20:8 states that Satan "will go out to deceive the nations in the four corners of the earth—Gog and Magog—and to gather them for battle." This reference to *Gog and Magog* echoes Ezekiel 38–39, symbolic of the final, climactic conflict between good and evil. The number of those who join this rebellion is described as "like the sand of the sea," revealing the depth of human depravity and the necessity of God's final intervention.

The deception Satan orchestrates is not new, but it is worldwide and widespread. Despite the visible rule of Christ, the hearts of the unregenerate are still vulnerable to Satan's lies. This illustrates a core biblical truth: without inward transformation, no external conditions—even a perfect reign of justice—can change the human heart. Just as in the garden of Eden, Satan deceives by sowing rebellion, leading people to defy God's authority. The nations gather for battle against "the camp of God's people, the city He loves," but they are swiftly and decisively defeated. "Fire came down from heaven and devoured them" (Revelation 20:9), ending the final uprising with divine judgment.

Immediately following this rebellion, the Bible declares Satan's ultimate fate. "The devil, who deceived them, was thrown into the lake of fire and sulfur, where the beast and the false prophet were, and they will be tormented day and night forever and ever" (Revelation 20:10). This is not temporary punishment or annihilation—it is eternal separation from God and the end of all satanic influence. The release of Satan and the rebellion he leads serve as the final demonstration of God's justice, the seriousness of sin, and the absolute necessity of salvation through Christ. No rebellion will go unanswered, and no evil will survive. With Satan's final defeat, the stage is set for the last judgment and the renewal of all things, where righteousness will dwell forever in the new heavens and new earth (Revelation 21:1–4). This passage reminds believers that even in the most deceptive times, God's power will triumph, and His truth will prevail.

#### **KEY SCRIPTURES**

**Revelation 20:7** And when the thousand years area completed Satan will be released from his prison

20:8 and will come out to deceive the nations which are in the four corners of the earth, Gog and Magog, to gather them together for the war; the number of them is like the sand of the seashore.

20:9 and they came up on the broad plain of the earth and surrounded the camp of the saints and the beloved city, and fire came down from heaven and devoured them.

### **DEVIL THROWN INTO THE LAKE OF FIRE KEY SCRIPTURES**

**Revelation 20:10** And the devil who deceived them was thrown into the lake of fire and brimstone where the beast, and the false prophet are also and they will be tormented day and night forever and ever.

The mention of Satan being released at the end of the thousand years is found in Revelation 20:7-10, which continues the apocalyptic vision described in the previous verses about the millennium. This passage reads:

"And when the thousand years are ended, Satan will be released from his prison and will come out to deceive the nations that are at the four corners of the earth, Gog and Magog, to gather them for battle; their number is like the sand of the sea. And they marched up over the broad plain of the earth and surrounded the camp of the saints and the beloved city, but fire came down from heaven and consumed them, and the devil who had deceived them was thrown into the lake of fire and sulfur where the beast and the false prophet were, and they will be tormented day and night forever and ever."

Key points in this passage include:

**Release of Satan:** After the thousand years, Satan is released from his prison. The reason for this release is not explicitly stated in the passage, but it serves as a test or trial for those living during that time.

**Deception of the Nations:** Satan's release is followed by his attempt to deceive the nations, gathering them for battle against the camp of the saints and the beloved city. This imagery portrays a final rebellion against the reign of Christ.

**Divine Intervention:** The rebellion is swiftly dealt with as fire comes down from heaven and consumes the gathered armies. The devil, who had deceived them, is thrown into the lake of fire and sulfur, where the beast and the false prophet also reside.

This portion of Revelation raises theological questions and has led to various interpretive approaches:

**Premillennialism:** Some premillennialists interpret this passage literally, viewing the release of Satan as a future event after a literal 1,000-year earthly reign of Christ. The rebellion is seen as an actual historical occurrence.

**Amillennialism:** Amillennialists often interpret the thousand years symbolically, representing the entire church age. In this view, Satan's release symbolizes a period of increased spiritual deception and conflict at the end of history, leading to Christ's final victory.

**Postmillennialism:** Postmillennialists see the release of Satan as a metaphor for spiritual conflict, believing that the gospel will gradually triumph in history, leading to a period of peace and righteousness. The final rebellion is seen as a symbolic representation of opposition to God's rule.

Regardless of the interpretive approach, the common thread is the acknowledgment of a final confrontation between the forces of evil and the sovereignty of God. The ultimate outcome, as described in Revelation, is the defeat of Satan and the eternal punishment of those who rebel against God's authority. This narrative contributes to the broader

biblical theme of God's final triumph over evil and the establishment of His eternal kingdom.

# 69. Final Battle – Gog and Magog (Revelation 20:8–9) Biblical Commentary on "The Battle of Gog and Magog"

The Battle of *Gog and Magog* is a significant eschatological event described in both the Old and New Testaments. It represents one of the final rebellions against God, and its imagery carries profound theological meaning about divine justice, the sovereignty of God, and the destiny of evil. The name "Gog and Magog" first appears in Ezekiel 38–39, where Gog is depicted as a leader from the land of Magog and other distant nations who gathers a vast army to attack Israel. This invasion is not simply a geopolitical threat—it is a prophetic picture of a last-ditch attempt by evil forces to overthrow God's people and purposes. Ezekiel's vision portrays Gog's coalition being decisively defeated by God's supernatural intervention, through earthquakes, torrential rain, hailstones, fire, and brimstone (Ezekiel 38:19–22). The result is a complete and unmistakable demonstration of God's glory and power.

In Ezekiel's prophecy, the identity of Gog remains mysterious. He is described as "the chief prince of Meshech and Tubal" (Ezekiel 38:2), regions believed to be in Asia Minor or modern-day Turkey. The nations allied with Gog—Persia, Cush, Put, Gomer, and others—symbolize a global alliance against God's people. The attack comes when Israel is "dwelling securely" (Ezekiel 38:11), suggesting a time of peace that is suddenly shattered by aggression. Yet the purpose of the battle is not simply military defeat; it is theological. God says, "I will magnify myself and sanctify myself, and will be known in the eyes of many nations" (Ezekiel 38:23). The battle becomes a stage upon which God displays His holiness, wrath, and faithfulness to protect His people.

The Book of Revelation echoes this prophecy in its depiction of the final rebellion after the Millennium. Revelation 20:7–9 states that "when the thousand years are ended, Satan will be released from his prison and will go out to deceive the nations in the four corners of the earth—Gog and Magog—to gather them for battle." This symbolic use of *Gog and Magog* represents the collective hostility of the nations against God and His saints. Unlike Ezekiel's localized imagery, John presents a universal rebellion. The people Satan deceives are "as numerous as the sand of the sea," and they surround "the beloved city," referring to God's people. But just as in Ezekiel, the victory belongs entirely to God: "fire came down from heaven and consumed them" (Revelation 20:9). Satan is then thrown into the lake of fire forever (Revelation 20:10), marking the absolute end of his power.

Theologically, the Battle of Gog and Magog reveals the futility of resisting God. Even after a thousand years of Christ's reign, the human heart—without transformation—remains susceptible to deception and rebellion. It also affirms that God's justice will not be rushed but will be perfect in timing and execution. These texts together convey a dual message: while evil may gather strength and even appear to triumph, God remains in control and will ultimately prevail. The battle serves as a final separation between the righteous and

the wicked, leading into the great white throne judgment (Revelation 20:11–15) and the dawn of the new heaven and new earth. For believers, this is a source of assurance and courage: no matter how vast the opposition, the final victory belongs to God.

# VII. Final Judgment & Eternal State

# 70. Great White Throne Judgment (Revelation 20:11–15)

**Biblical Commentary on "The Great White Throne Judgment"** 

The **Great White Throne Judgment** is the final and most solemn judgment described in Scripture, found in **Revelation 20:11–15**. It takes place **after** the thousand-year reign of Christ (the Millennium) and **after** Satan's final defeat and eternal punishment in the lake of fire. This judgment scene is marked by absolute majesty and divine authority: "Then I saw a great white throne and Him who was seated on it. Earth and sky fled from His presence, and there was no place for them" (Revelation 20:11). The "great" nature of the throne speaks to its significance, while "white" represents purity, righteousness, and justice. The One seated on it is none other than **God**, though some interpret this as **Jesus Christ**, to whom the Father has entrusted all judgment (John 5:22; Acts 17:31).

This judgment is **not for believers**, who are already justified by faith in Christ and whose names are written in the **Book of Life** (Romans 8:1; John 5:24). Instead, the Great White Throne Judgment is reserved for **the wicked dead**—all those from all ages who died in unbelief. Revelation 20:12 says, "And I saw the dead, great and small, standing before the throne, and books were opened." These individuals are resurrected for this final judgment, not to receive life, but to face their eternal sentence. The "books" likely symbolize the full record of each person's deeds—every thought, word, and action done apart from Christ. God's justice is not arbitrary; it is based on truth and perfect knowledge. "And the dead were judged according to what they had done, as recorded in the books."

Another book is mentioned—the Book of Life—which contains the names of all those who have been redeemed through faith in Jesus Christ (Philippians 4:3; Revelation 3:5). Those whose names are **not found** in this book are cast into the **lake of fire** (Revelation 20:15). This is described as the "second death," a state of eternal separation from God. The finality of this moment cannot be overstated. No appeals will be made, no second chances offered. The verdict is eternal. This truth underscores the seriousness of sin and the urgency of salvation. God is not unjust; He is patient and desires that none should perish (2 Peter 3:9), but He will not overlook sin forever.

The Great White Throne Judgment marks the **end of history** as we know it and the beginning of the **eternal state**. After this judgment, there will be no more rebellion, no more evil, and no more death. All who have rejected God's grace will be eternally separated from Him, while those in Christ will dwell with Him forever in the **new heavens** 

and new earth (Revelation 21:1–4). This final judgment vindicates God's holiness and demonstrates His perfect justice. It also magnifies the glory of salvation through Jesus Christ, who took upon Himself the judgment of sin for all who would trust in Him. The Great White Throne is a sobering reminder that every soul will one day stand before the Judge—and only those covered by the righteousness of Christ will stand justified.

# 71. Earth and Sky Flee from God's Presence (Revelation 20:11)

Biblical Commentary on "The Earth and Sky Fleeing from God's Presence"

The imagery of the earth and sky fleeing from God's presence appears in the dramatic scene of the Great White Throne Judgment, found in Revelation 20:11. The apostle John writes: "Then I saw a great white throne and Him who was seated on it. From His presence earth and sky fled away, and no place was found for them." This stunning moment signals the end of the current created order and the beginning of eternal realities. It is a scene filled with awe and holy terror, where the majesty and purity of God's presence cause the physical universe itself to retreat—symbolizing the dissolution of the old world in preparation for the new.

This phrase is not mere poetic flourish; it reflects the **total unraveling of the cosmos** in light of God's holiness and judgment. The "earth and sky" represent the entire physical realm—what was once firm and enduring is now fleeing, unable to withstand the presence of the One who sits on the throne. This echoes Peter's prophecy in **2 Peter 3:10**, where he writes that "the heavens will pass away with a roar, and the heavenly bodies will be burned up and dissolved." Together, these passages portray the **cosmic consequences** of God's final judgment: the created world as we know it will not last into eternity in its current form.

Theologically, this moment signifies the **absolute authority of God over creation and time**. The Judge who sits on the great white throne is not just a divine ruler, but the eternal King who transcends creation. His holiness is so intense that even the heavens and the earth cannot remain in His presence. It is a reminder that all created things—no matter how stable or vast—are **subject to the Creator** and must give way to His eternal purpose. This vision strips away any illusion of permanence in the physical world and brings all attention to the reality of God's unshakable rule and the eternal destiny of every soul.

Eschatologically, the fleeing of earth and sky marks the transition between the **Millennial Kingdom** and the **New Heavens and New Earth** (Revelation 21:1). It underscores the finality of the Great White Throne Judgment, after which the wicked are cast into the lake of fire, and the righteous are ushered into the eternal state. This is not merely the end of history—it is the **end of the old creation**. A new, undefiled reality awaits, where God's presence will dwell fully with His redeemed people. Until then, this moment serves as a sobering warning that all who cling to the things of this present world rather than to Christ will find no place to stand when all creation flees before Him.

# **Spiritual Reflection:**

The flight of the earth and sky before God's throne is a vivid reminder that **nothing in this world is eternal except God Himself**. The structures of human pride, the confidence in the material world, and all created things will vanish before the holiness of our Creator. It calls us to set our hope not in what is passing away but in the One who will remain forever. For the believer, this vision is not just one of judgment, but of **promise**—that beyond the dissolution of this world lies the eternal dwelling of God with His people, where all things are made new.

# 72. Final Judgment at the Judgment Seat of Christ (Second Corinthians 5:10)

What Will Take Place at the Final Judgment

# **Biblical Commentary on the Judgment Seat of Christ (Bema Seat)**

The **Judgment Seat of Christ**, often referred to as the *Bema Seat*, is primarily drawn from passages such as Romans 14:10–12, 2 Corinthians 5:10, and 1 Corinthians 3:10–15. Unlike the Great White Throne Judgment, which pertains to the eternal fate of unbelievers (Revelation 20:11–15), the Bema Seat is specifically for believers. The term *bema* originates from the Greek word used for a raised platform where officials would reward athletes or pronounce judicial decisions. In a biblical context, it refers to the evaluation of a believer's life, not for condemnation but for rewards based on faithfulness and service. The purpose is not punitive but purifying and rewarding, demonstrating God's desire to honor His servants for their work in Christ.

At the Bema Seat, Christ evaluates the lives of believers after the resurrection or rapture, not to determine salvation (which is by grace through faith alone), but to assess works done "in the body" (2 Corinthians 5:10). These works include actions, attitudes, motives, and stewardship. Paul's illustration in 1 Corinthians 3:12–15 describes believers building on the foundation of Christ with materials that either endure (gold, silver, precious stones) or perish (wood, hay, straw). Those whose works endure will receive rewards, while others will "suffer loss," though they themselves will be saved. This underscores the sobering reality that believers can be saved yet miss out on eternal rewards if their lives are characterized by carnal, selfish, or fruitless living.

Rewards at the Judgment Seat of Christ include crowns (e.g., the Crown of Righteousness, 2 Timothy 4:8; the Incorruptible Crown, 1 Corinthians 9:25; the Crown of Life, James 1:12), commendation from Christ (1 Corinthians 4:5), and responsibilities in the coming kingdom (Luke 19:17). These are not rewards in a worldly sense but acknowledgments of faithfulness, often symbolized in Scripture by crowns or positions of trust. Importantly, these rewards will be used to glorify Christ, not elevate the individual, as Revelation 4:10 suggests when the elders cast their crowns before the throne. Thus,

the Bema Seat becomes an opportunity for Christ to express His approval and for believers to participate in His glory.

In light of this judgment, the New Testament exhorts believers to live with eternal perspective. Romans 14:10–12 encourages self-examination and humility, reminding Christians that all will give account to God. Paul's teachings press toward the goal of faithful, Spirit-empowered living, not to earn salvation but to please Christ (2 Corinthians 5:9–10). The Bema Seat should motivate believers to pursue holiness, good works, and spiritual maturity, knowing that even seemingly small acts of faithfulness are not forgotten by God (Hebrews 6:10). Far from promoting fear, the doctrine of the Bema Seat cultivates hope, responsibility, and joyful anticipation of meeting Christ face to face, where grace will be fully revealed and every hidden act of obedience will be rewarded in the light of His glorious presence.

Scripture reveals **two distinct judgments** in the end times, but it's important to clarify that **only one judgment** directly applies to **Christians (believers in Jesus Christ)**—the **Judgment Seat of Christ (Bema Seat)**. The other, the **Great White Throne Judgment**, is reserved for **unbelievers**. Let's break it down:

# 1. The Judgment Seat of Christ (Bema Seat) - For Christians

- **Key Scriptures**: Romans 14:10–12, 2 Corinthians 5:10, 1 Corinthians 3:10–15.
- **Purpose**: To evaluate believers 'lives, works, motives, and service to Christ *after* salvation.
- **Result**: Rewards (or loss of rewards)—not punishment or loss of salvation.
- **Timing**: Most scholars place this after the Rapture or at Christ's return for His Church (before the Millennial Kingdom).
- **Nature**: It is a judgment *of works*, not *for sin*. Jesus already bore believers 'sins on the cross (Romans 8:1).

# 2. The Great White Throne Judgment - For Unbelievers

- Key Scripture: Revelation 20:11–15.
- Purpose: To judge those who rejected God's salvation through Christ.
- Result: Eternal separation from God in the lake of fire.
- Timing: After the Millennial Kingdom and final rebellion.
- **Nature**: It is a judgment *of condemnation*, as names not found in the Book of Life are cast into the lake of fire.

# Why the Confusion?

Sometimes people refer to "two judgments" for Christians because:

- All believers must appear at the Bema Seat (2 Corinthians 5:10), and
- Our works will be tested, possibly in more than one aspect (e.g., quality vs. motive), leading some to speak loosely of "multiple judgments."

However, there is no second, punitive judgment for believers. Jesus clearly stated in John 5:24:

"Whoever hears my word and believes him who sent me has eternal life. He does not come into judgment but has passed from death to life."

Scripture reveals two distinct judgments in the end times, but it is important to clarify that only one judgment applies directly to Christians—namely, the Judgment Seat of Christ, also known as the Bema Seat. The other major judgment described in the Bible is the Great White Throne Judgment, which is reserved for unbelievers. These two events differ in timing, purpose, audience, and outcome.

The Judgment Seat of Christ is specifically for believers in Jesus Christ. This judgment is not about salvation, which is secured by grace through faith, but about rewards based on how the believer lived in response to that salvation. Key passages include Romans 14:10–12, 2 Corinthians 5:10, and 1 Corinthians 3:10–15. At this judgment, Christ will evaluate each believer's life, examining motives, faithfulness, service, and obedience. While some will receive rewards, others may suffer loss (of reward), but all who stand at the Bema Seat are eternally saved. This judgment occurs after the resurrection or rapture of the Church and is meant to prepare believers for their roles in the coming Kingdom.

The Great White Throne Judgment, on the other hand, is described in Revelation 20:11–15. This judgment is for the unbelieving dead of all ages and occurs after the millennial reign of Christ. At this judgment, individuals are judged according to their deeds because their names are not found in the Book of Life. The result is eternal separation from God in the lake of fire. This judgment confirms the final and irreversible fate of those who rejected God's provision of salvation through Christ. Christians, whose names are written in the Lamb's Book of Life, do not appear at this judgment.

Sometimes people mistakenly speak of two judgments for Christians, perhaps thinking of both the Bema Seat and some future event of accountability. However, Scripture clearly teaches that those who are in Christ are not condemned (Romans 8:1) and will not face judgment for sin (John 5:24). Their sin was judged at the cross. While believers will indeed give an account of their lives and be rewarded accordingly, they are not subject to God's final judgment of wrath. Thus, Christians face one judgment—the Bema Seat—intended to assess their faithfulness and reward them, not to determine their eternal destiny.

#### What about the exception the unfaithful Christian servant - Luke 12:46

"The master of that servant will come on a day he does not expect him and at an hour he is not aware of. He will cut him to pieces and assign him a place with the unbelievers."

# Isn't he placed and judged with the unbelievers at the great throne judgement?

The central question here is whether this "servant" represents a genuine Christian who is severely disciplined, or a nominal, false believer who is ultimately lost. Let's look at the possibilities carefully.

# 1. Interpretation 1: The Unfaithful Servant Is Not a True Believer

Some interpreters argue that although the individual is called a "servant," he is not truly regenerated. In the context of the parable, being a "servant" may merely indicate outward association with the Master (Jesus), such as professing Christians or religious leaders, but without a true relationship. These individuals appear to be part of the household of God, but their actions (abuse, hypocrisy, unfaithfulness) reveal their true nature. In this view, the "cutting to pieces" and being "assigned a place with the unbelievers" is literal judgment—meaning this servant ends up at the Great White Throne, judged as an unbeliever. This would align with other passages like Matthew 7:21–23, where Jesus says, "I never knew you," to those who did many things in His name but lacked true faith and obedience.

# 2. Interpretation 2: The Unfaithful Servant Is a True Believer Under Severe Discipline

Other scholars argue that the "servant" genuinely belongs to the Master, suggesting a real believer who is severely disciplined—perhaps even with physical death and great loss of reward (cf. 1 Corinthians 3:15; 1 John 5:16–17). The language "cut him to pieces" could be metaphorical, indicating shame, suffering, or extreme loss, and "assign him a place with the unbelievers" may refer to being excluded from reward or fellowship, not eternal damnation. In this case, the servant is still saved (as in 1 Corinthians 3:15: "he himself will be saved, but only as through fire"), but experiences severe consequences for his unfaithfulness. This view tries to preserve the security of salvation while taking seriously the gravity of disobedience and judgment for believers.

# 3. Contextual Clue: The Broader Teaching of Luke 12

In Luke 12, Jesus gives multiple parables and exhortations about being ready for His return. The faithful servant is rewarded (vv. 42–44), while others are disciplined to varying degrees depending on their knowledge and responsibility (vv. 47–48). This gradation suggests that Jesus is describing different kinds of servants—some faithful, some lazy,

and some outright wicked. It may imply both categories: true believers who are rewarded or disciplined, and false believers who are judged as unbelievers.

# **Final Thoughts**

Luke 12:46 is meant to provoke sober reflection, not theological confusion. It emphasizes the seriousness of stewardship, obedience, and readiness for Christ's return. Whether the unfaithful servant is a false believer or a real one under judgment, the outcome is serious. However, based on the totality of Scripture—including clear assurances of salvation for those who trust in Christ—it is most consistent to interpret this passage as a warning to those who merely *appear* to be Christ's servants but ultimately prove false through their lives. True believers may be disciplined, even severely, but they are not cast into final judgment alongside unbelievers.

So to answer your original question: **No, a true Christian will not appear at the Great White Throne Judgment.** If the servant in Luke 12:46 ends up with the unbelievers in judgment, it likely reveals he was never truly saved, despite outward appearances.

# **Judgment of Believers: The Judgment Seat of Christ (Bema Seat)**

While believers will **not be condemned** (Romans 8:1), they **will be judged**. This is often called the **Judgment Seat of Christ** (Greek: *bēma*), as described in:

**2 Corinthians 5:10 (AKJV)**" – For we must all appear before the judgment seat of Christ; that every one may receive the things done in his body, according to that he hath done, whether it be good or bad."

Here's what this means:

- Believers will be judged based on both their faith and their deeds.
  - Faith in Jesus Christ secures salvation (John 5:24), but true saving faith produces fruit—acts of obedience, love, service, and holiness (James 2:17).
  - At the Final Judgment, Christ will evaluate how believers lived out their faith.
- Our works will be tested by fire:1 Corinthians 3:13-15" Every man's work shall be made manifest... the fire shall try every man's work of what sort it is. If any man's work abide... he shall receive a reward. If any man's work shall be burned, he shall suffer loss: but he himself shall be saved; yet so as by fire."
  - This means **salvation is secure**, but rewards can be lost if a believer lived selfishly, carelessly, or unfaithfully.

- Some will receive eternal rewards for faithful service (Matthew 6:19-21; 2 Timothy 4:7-8).
- Others will enter eternity "as through fire"—saved, but with a life of missed opportunity.
- Jesus will evaluate motives, not just actions:
  - **1 Corinthians 4:5**" ...the Lord... will bring to light the hidden things of darkness, and will make manifest the counsels of the hearts: and then shall every man have praise of God."
    - Not all good deeds are rewarded—only those done out of sincere love, faith, and obedience.

# Genuine Faith Will Be Evidenced by Works

Salvation is by **faith alone**, but **true faith is never alone**—it is always accompanied by works.

James 2:17" – Even so faith, if it hath not works, is dead, being alone."

Jesus affirmed this at the Final Judgment scene in **Matthew 25:31–46**, where He separates the sheep from the goats based on how they lived out their faith in service to "the least of these."

- Those who **fed the hungry, clothed the naked, visited the sick**—not to earn salvation but as an expression of love for Christ—inherit the kingdom.
- Those who ignored others 'needs reveal a **faithless heart** and face judgment.

**Matthew 7:21–23**" – Not every one that saith unto me, Lord, Lord, shall enter into the kingdom of heaven..."

True belief in Jesus must be more than words; it must transform our lives.

# The Final Judgment: The Ultimate Revelation of Reconciliation

### **5.1 The Setting of the Final Judgment**

The Final Judgment is depicted vividly in Revelation 20:11-15. John sees a "great white throne" and One who sits on it, before whom "the earth and the heaven fled away." This signifies the unshakeable authority and purity of God. The dead—*great and small*—stand before God, and "books were opened." One of these is the Book of Life, containing the names of those who are reconciled to God through Christ.

# 5.2 What Will Take Place at the Final Judgment

- Universal Appearance: All humanity will be resurrected and appear before God (Daniel 12:2, John 5:28-29). Believers will face the Judgment Seat of Christ (2 Corinthians 5:10), while unbelievers will stand before the Great White Throne (Revelation 20:11–15).
- **Review of Life**: The "books" contain records of deeds (Ecclesiastes 12:14). Every action, word, and motive will be judged (Matthew 12:36, Romans 2:16).

#### Two Destinies:

- The Righteous: Those whose names are in the Book of Life enter eternal joy (Revelation 21:1-4). Jesus will say, "Well done, good and faithful servant" (Matthew 25:21).
- The Unrighteous: Those who rejected God's offer of reconciliation are judged according to their deeds and cast into the lake of fire (Revelation 20:15), a place of eternal separation from God (2 Thessalonians 1:9).
- Jesus Christ as Judge: Acts 17:31 affirms that God "has appointed a day in which
  he will judge the world in righteousness by that man whom he hath ordained."
  Christ, the Savior, will also be the Judge—perfectly just and perfectly merciful.

# Conclusion: Embracing the Ministry of Reconciliation in Light of Judgment

The Final Judgment is a reality every soul must face. It is not only the final separation of good and evil but also the ultimate vindication of God's righteousness and mercy.

God, in His mercy, has provided a way of reconciliation through Jesus Christ. Those who accept Him are not only spared from condemnation but are given the ministry of reconciliation to call others to repentance.

#### As Christians, we must:

- Live in constant readiness for that Day.
- Proclaim the urgency of the gospel, knowing the eternal stakes.
- Embody the character of Christ, showing forgiveness, humility, and peace.
- Pursue reconciliation daily, because our lives will testify on that Day.

Let us proclaim with hope and urgency: Be reconciled to God—before the Day when every knee will bow, and every tongue confess that Jesus Christ is Lord (Philippians 2:10-11).

# 73. The Second Death (Revelation 20:14)

# **Biblical Commentary on "The Second Death"**

The **Second Death** is a solemn and final reality described in the Book of Revelation, referring to **eternal separation from God in the lake of fire**. While the first death is physical—the separation of body and soul—the second death is **spiritual and eternal**, reserved for all who reject God's grace and remain unrepentant. The term appears explicitly in **Revelation 2:11**, **20:6**, **20:14**, and **21:8**, and it is closely connected with the final judgment and the destiny of the wicked after the Millennium and the Great White Throne Judgment. This doctrine underscores the seriousness of sin and the eternal consequences of unbelief.

In **Revelation 20:14–15**, John writes, "Then Death and Hades were thrown into the lake of fire. This is the second death, the lake of fire. And anyone whose name was not found written in the Book of Life was thrown into the lake of fire." This moment comes after Satan's final rebellion and defeat, when all the dead—great and small—are judged according to their deeds. Those not redeemed through Christ are condemned. The lake of fire is not merely annihilation or symbolic destruction; it is the **conscious, everlasting judgment** where the devil, the beast (Antichrist), and the false prophet are also cast (Revelation 20:10). The second death is thus the culmination of God's just wrath against sin.

Theologically, the second death is not arbitrary but the **righteous consequence of persistent rebellion against God's holiness**. It is contrasted sharply with the promises given to the faithful. In **Revelation 2:11**, Jesus says, "He who overcomes shall not be hurt by the second death." And again in **Revelation 20:6**, "Blessed and holy is the one who shares in the first resurrection; over such the second death has no power." Those who are in Christ—who are born again and sealed by the Spirit—are delivered from the second death. This is not because of their own merit but because Christ Himself **took the wrath** of God upon Himself at the cross. The redeemed experience only the first death, if at all, and are raised to eternal life with God.

In **Revelation 21:8**, the second death is applied specifically to "the cowardly, the unbelieving, the abominable, murderers, sexually immoral, sorcerers, idolaters, and all liars." This list represents unrepentant lifestyles that persist outside of Christ's redemption. These are not simply people who sinned, but people who **refused to be saved**, choosing darkness over light. Thus, the second death serves as a **sobering warning** to all who resist God's call to repentance and new life in Christ. At the same time, it highlights the depth of **God's justice and holiness**—He will not allow sin to go unpunished, nor will He permit evil to dwell in His eternal kingdom.

# **Eschatological Summary:**

The second death is the **final judgment and eternal consequence for all who reject Christ**. It stands in contrast to the eternal life promised to the overcomers. This reality gives weight to the urgency of the gospel, the call to endure in faith, and the ultimate hope

of the believer: that through Jesus Christ, we are **delivered from wrath and destined for life eternal** in the presence of God. As such, the second death is not just a future event—it is a present warning and motivation to turn to the Lamb who was slain, that we might escape judgment and be written in the **Lamb's Book of Life**.

# 74. The Lamb's Book of Life (Revelation 20:12; Revelation 21:27)

Biblical Commentary on "The Lamb's Book of Life"

The Lamb's Book of Life is a divine record mentioned throughout Scripture, especially in the Book of Revelation, which contains the names of those who belong to Jesus Christ—the Lamb of God—and who will inherit eternal life. This sacred register symbolizes both God's intimate knowledge of His people and His sovereign choice in salvation. Revelation 13:8 refers to it as "the book of life of the Lamb who was slain," connecting it directly to the sacrificial death of Christ. The inclusion of one's name in this book is not based on human merit but on the redemptive work of Jesus. Those whose names are written in it have received salvation through faith in Him and are secured for eternity.

The significance of the Book of Life is made especially clear in **Revelation 20:12, 15**, during the **Great White Throne Judgment**. There, the dead are judged by what is written in the books of their deeds, but another book—the Book of Life—is opened. "If anyone's name was not found written in the Book of Life, he was thrown into the lake of fire." This moment shows that the Book of Life is the **final and ultimate standard** for eternal destiny. While all people are accountable for their actions, it is only those whose names are found in the Lamb's Book of Life who escape final judgment and inherit everlasting life. Their salvation is not earned but secured by grace through faith in Christ.

Throughout Revelation, the Book of Life is used as a **source of encouragement and warning**. In Revelation 3:5, Jesus promises the overcomer: "I will never blot his name out of the book of life." This affirms the eternal security of those who remain faithful to Christ, highlighting God's unwavering commitment to His people. In contrast, Revelation 17:8 speaks of those who will marvel at the beast, whose names "were not written in the book of life from the foundation of the world." This implies divine foreknowledge and sovereignty, showing that salvation is part of God's eternal plan. Likewise, Revelation 21:27 says that nothing unclean will enter the New Jerusalem—only "those who are written in the Lamb's Book of Life."

Theologically, the Lamb's Book of Life reflects the **intimacy of God's relationship with His redeemed people**. Just as earthly records confirm citizenship, this heavenly book declares the names of those who are citizens of God's Kingdom. It is a book of grace, written not with ink but with the blood of the Lamb. It represents the eternal assurance of those who have trusted in Jesus—sealed by the Holy Spirit, kept by the power of God, and destined to reign with Christ. For believers, the joy is not merely in escaping judgment, but in knowing that their names are written in heaven (Luke 10:20). The Lamb's

Book of Life is therefore not only a record—it is a testimony to the saving love, mercy, and victory of Jesus Christ.

# VIII. Eternity – Forever With or Without God

# 75. New Heavens and New Earth (Revelation 21:1; 2 Peter 3:13)

Text: Revelation 21:1 (AKJV)

"And I saw a new heaven and a new earth: for the first heaven and the first earth were passed away; and there was no more sea."

# Biblical Commentary on the "New Heavens and New Earth"

The promise of a "new heavens and a new earth" is one of the most profound declarations of hope in the Bible, signaling not just the restoration of creation but its complete renewal. This promise first appears in Isaiah 65:17 and 66:22, where God speaks through the prophet to reveal a future reality in which the former things—suffering, sin, and sorrow—will be forgotten. Isaiah presents a vision of peace and righteousness, where Jerusalem is a joy, lifespans are long, and creation is in harmony: "The wolf and the lamb shall feed together" (Isaiah 65:25). This prophetic language was both a comfort to the exiled Israelites and a foreshadowing of a more glorious fulfillment to come. It laid the foundation for a hope that extends beyond national restoration to cosmic transformation, where God's purposes for creation are fully realized.

The New Testament brings greater clarity and depth to this vision, particularly through the writings of the apostles Peter, Paul, and John. In 2 Peter 3:13, Peter affirms, "We are looking forward to a new heaven and a new earth, where righteousness dwells," in contrast to the present world, which is destined for judgment and renewal. The apostle Paul likewise speaks of creation's groaning under the weight of sin, longing to be set free into the "glorious liberty of the children of God" (Romans 8:19-21). These teachings emphasize that the new creation is not merely an escape from the physical world but the redemption of it. God does not abandon His creation but purifies and restores it, making it a suitable dwelling place for His redeemed people. The promise of the new heavens and new earth is inseparably tied to the resurrection of the body and the full renewal of all things under Christ's lordship.

The culmination of this promise is most vividly portrayed in Revelation 21–22, where John, exiled on the island of Patmos, is granted a vision of the final state of the redeemed. He writes, "Then I saw a new heaven and a new earth, for the first heaven and the first earth had passed away..." (Revelation 21:1). In this new creation, the holy city—the New Jerusalem—descends from heaven, not only as a dwelling place but as the symbolic union of God with His people. God declares, "Behold, the dwelling place of God is with

man" (Revelation 21:3), a reversal of Eden's exile and the full realization of God's covenant promise: "I will be their God, and they will be my people." Death, mourning, crying, and pain are eradicated, and God makes "all things new" (v.5). The imagery is both spiritual and physical, pointing to a world where God's presence is fully manifest and where creation is no longer tainted by sin or decay.

Theologically, the doctrine of the new heavens and new earth affirms the goodness of creation and the victory of God's redemptive plan. It serves as the ultimate hope for believers, assuring them that God's justice will prevail, and that His purposes will be fulfilled not just in individual salvation, but in the complete renewal of all creation. It corrects any notion of a purely spiritual afterlife detached from the material world; instead, it envisions a redeemed cosmos where heaven and earth are united, where God reigns visibly, and where His people live in eternal peace and joy. This future reality shapes Christian living in the present, calling believers to holiness, perseverance, and a longing for the day when righteousness will dwell not in part, but in fullness.

# **Introduction: God's Eternal Restoration of All Things**

God's future creation of the New Heavens and New Earth stands as the culminating vision of God's redemptive plan—a complete renewal of creation in righteousness, glory, and eternal peace. The promise of a new creation is not a mere metaphor, but a tangible, physical, and eternal reality that God has prepared for His people. As Revelation 21:1 declares, the old order—marked by sin, death, and decay—will pass away, giving rise to a **renewed cosmos where God's presence dwells with His people forever**.

This is the **ultimate hope** of the believer: not only to escape the corruption of this world but to live in **a restored**, **glorified world where God's original design is fulfilled eternally**. This is the future promised to those in Christ—a future of perfect harmony between God, humanity, and creation.

### 1. The Promise of a New Creation

# 1.1 Prophetic Foundations in the Old Testament

The hope for a renewed world is deeply rooted in the Old Testament prophetic vision:

- **Isaiah 65:17** "For, behold, I create new heavens and a new earth: and the former shall not be remembered, nor come into mind."
- **Isaiah 66:22** "For as the new heavens and the new earth, which I will make, shall remain before Me, saith the LORD, so shall your seed and your name remain."

These prophecies revealed that God's plan was not only to redeem individuals but to **restore the entire cosmos**. The new creation will be permanent, holy, and saturated with God's glory.

#### 1.2 Fulfillment in the New Testament

The New Testament reveals that this new creation is **inaugurated in Christ** and will be fully manifested at His return.

- **2 Peter 3:13** "Nevertheless we, according to His promise, look for new heavens and a new earth, wherein dwelleth righteousness."
- Romans 8:21 "The creation itself also shall be delivered from the bondage of corruption into the glorious liberty of the children of God."

Just as our bodies will be resurrected and glorified, so too will the creation be **transformed**, **not annihilated**, into a new state of eternal perfection.

#### 2. The Character of the New Heavens and New Earth

# 2.1 A Physical, Glorious Reality

The new creation is not an abstract spiritual realm—it is **a real**, **physical world** renewed by God's power. Just as Jesus rose in a glorified body, so the new earth will be a **material yet perfected** world.

- Revelation 21:10–27 paints a vivid picture of the New Jerusalem, adorned with beauty and filled with God's glory.
- There are **nations**, **kings**, **rivers**, **trees**, **streets**, **and gates**, all illustrating that this is a **place of real life**, **culture**, **and beauty**—but without sin or sorrow.

# 2.2 A World Without Sin, Death, or Curse

- Revelation 21:4 "And God shall wipe away all tears from their eyes; and there shall be no more death, neither sorrow, nor crying, neither shall there be any more pain."
- Revelation 22:3 "And there shall be no more curse: but the throne of God and of the Lamb shall be in it."

This is a world where the effects of the Fall are **completely reversed**:

- No sin,
- No suffering,

No decay or frustration in creation.

Perfect peace—shalom—will reign forever.

# 3. God's Dwelling with Humanity

The heart of the new creation is **God's eternal presence with His people**.

- Revelation 21:3 "Behold, the tabernacle of God is with men, and He will dwell with them."
- No longer will there be a temple or a mediator between God and man—the Lord God and the Lamb **are the temple** (Revelation 21:22).

#### In the new creation:

- We will see God face to face (Revelation 22:4).
- There will be no separation, no veil, no fear.
- Perfect communion with God will be the center of all life.

#### 4. The River and the Tree of Life: Restored Eden

The imagery of Eden reappears in Revelation 22, but now glorified and permanent.

#### 4.1 The River of Life

• Revelation 22:1 – "And he shewed me a pure river of water of life, clear as crystal, proceeding out of the throne of God and of the Lamb."

#### This river signifies:

- Eternal life flowing directly from God,
- Unbroken fellowship,
- Complete satisfaction for the soul.

#### 4.2 The Tree of Life

• Revelation 22:2 – "In the midst... was the tree of life... which bare twelve manner of fruits... and the leaves of the tree were for the healing of the nations."

Unlike in Eden where access to the tree was restricted after the Fall, in the New Earth the Tree of Life is **freely accessible** to all who are in Christ. It represents:

- Eternal nourishment,
- Healing and peace among the nations,
- The completion of God's promise to restore what was lost.

# 5. A World of Eternal Righteousness and Peace

The New Heavens and New Earth will be a place where **righteousness dwells** (2 Peter 3:13). Every citizen of this kingdom will be holy, glorified, and joyful.

- No injustice, no impurity, no rebellion will enter this city (Revelation 21:27).
- God's people will live in perfect harmony with each other and the creation.

#### There will be:

- **Eternal purpose**, as His servants shall serve Him (Revelation 22:3).
- **Eternal worship**, as all creation gives glory to God and the Lamb.
- **Eternal light**, as "the Lord God giveth them light" (Revelation 22:5).

# **Conclusion: Living in Anticipation of the New Creation**

The promise of the New Heavens and New Earth is not a distant myth—it is a **guaranteed future** for all who belong to Christ. As believers, we do not simply look forward to "going to Heaven"—we await the **full renewal of all things**, when Christ returns and establishes **His eternal kingdom in a renewed world**.

#### Until then:

- We live as citizens of that kingdom (Philippians 3:20),
- We pursue righteousness and holiness (2 Peter 3:11),
- And we proclaim the hope of restoration to a world that is passing away.

"He that sat upon the throne said, Behold, I make all things new." (Revelation 21:5)

Let us live in hope, holiness, and eager expectation for the day when the former things are passed away, and the eternal kingdom of God is revealed in fullness.

# 76. Heaven (Revelation 21:3; Revelation 22:5)

#### **Heaven: Our Eternal Home**

**Text: John 14:2-3** (AKJV): "In my Father's house are many mansions: if it were not so, I would have told you. I go to prepare a place for you. 3And if I go and prepare a place for you, I will come again, and receive you to myself; that where I am, there you may be also."

# **Biblical Commentary on "Heaven"**

Heaven, throughout the Bible, is portrayed as the dwelling place of God, the seat of His authority, and the ultimate destination for the redeemed. In the Old Testament, heaven is often depicted as the high and holy realm above the earth, where God reigns in majesty (Deuteronomy 26:15; Isaiah 66:1). While God's presence is not limited by space, heaven is described as His throne, indicating His transcendence over all creation. The psalmists speak of God looking down from heaven to observe humanity (Psalm 33:13-14), and the prophets often appeal to God to act from heaven on behalf of His people. Although the focus in much of the Old Testament is on God's rule from heaven rather than human residence there, glimpses of individuals being taken into God's presence—such as Enoch (Genesis 5:24) and Elijah (2 Kings 2:11)—foreshadow a deeper reality that would be more fully revealed in the New Testament.

In the teachings of Jesus, heaven is not only the abode of God but also the promised home of those who belong to Him. Jesus frequently speaks of the "kingdom of heaven" (particularly in Matthew), indicating both the rule of God and the realm in which His will is perfectly done. He describes heaven as a place of reward (Matthew 5:12), of eternal treasure (Matthew 6:20), and of the Father's dwelling (Matthew 6:9). Yet heaven is not merely a location; it is the environment of God's presence, holiness, and glory. In John 14:2-3, Jesus assures His disciples that He is preparing a place for them in His Father's house, and that He will return to bring them there. This passage emphasizes the personal and relational aspect of heaven—it is where believers will be with Christ forever. In this way, heaven is the fulfillment of all longing, not simply because of its beauty or peace, but because of the unmediated fellowship with God and the Lamb.

The apostle Paul provides further insight into the heavenly hope for believers. In Philippians 3:20, he declares, "Our citizenship is in heaven," indicating that Christians already belong to that realm, even while living on earth. He longs to depart and be with Christ, "which is far better" (Philippians 1:23), and describes being "caught up to the third heaven" in 2 Corinthians 12—a place of indescribable glory and divine presence. Paul's writings affirm that heaven is not a vague or disembodied spiritual realm but the real, glorified dwelling of God, where the saints await the resurrection and the consummation of God's kingdom. For Paul, heaven is not an escape from earth, but a temporary state that will one day give way to the final renewal of all things when Christ returns and establishes His reign over the new heavens and new earth.

In the final chapters of Revelation, heaven comes down to earth in the form of the New Jerusalem, emphasizing that the ultimate goal is not escape to heaven, but the union of heaven and earth under God's reign. God's dwelling will be with humanity (Revelation 21:3), and His people will see His face (Revelation 22:4). Thus, heaven is not only a

present reality where God reigns and Christ intercedes (Hebrews 9:24), but also a future hope that will one day be joined with a renewed creation. The biblical view of heaven, then, is not static or detached, but dynamic, relational, and redemptive. It is the place of ultimate joy, rest, and worship, where the redeemed will glorify God and enjoy His presence forever. Heaven shapes the Christian's life now by drawing the heart upward, strengthening hope, and providing the assurance that, in the end, God will dwell with His people in unending peace and glory.

Revelation 21: 14-27 (AKJV) And the wall of the city had twelve foundations, and in them the names of the twelve apostles of the Lamb. 15And he that talked with me had a golden reed to measure the city, and the gates thereof, and the wall thereof. 16And the city lies foursquare, and the length is as large as the breadth: and he measured the city with the reed, twelve thousand furlongs. The length and the breadth and the height of it are equal. 17And he measured the wall thereof, an hundred and forty and four cubits, according to the measure of a man, that is, of the angel. 18And the building of the wall of it was of jasper: and the city was pure gold, like to clear glass. 19And the foundations of the wall of the city were garnished with all manner of precious stones. The first foundation was jasper; the second, sapphire; the third, a chalcedony; the fourth, an emerald; 20The fifth, sardonyx; the sixth, sardius; the seventh, chrysolyte; the eighth, beryl; the ninth, a topaz; the tenth, a chrysoprasus; the eleventh, a jacinth; the twelfth, an amethyst. 21And the twelve gates were twelve pearls: every several gate was of one pearl: and the street of the city was pure gold, as it were transparent glass. 22And I saw no temple therein: for the Lord God Almighty and the Lamb are the temple of it. 23And the city had no need of the sun, neither of the moon, to shine in it: for the glory of God did lighten it, and the Lamb is the light thereof. 24And the nations of them which are saved shall walk in the light of it: and the kings of the earth do bring their glory and honor into it. 25And the gates of it shall not be shut at all by day: for there shall be no night there. 26And they shall bring the glory and honor of the nations into it. 27And there shall in no wise enter into it any thing that defiles, neither whatever works abomination, or makes a lie: but they which are written in the Lamb's book of life.

#### **Introduction: The Promise of Heaven**

Heaven, often referred to in Scripture as "the Father's house," is the eternal dwelling place of God, where believers are promised to be united with Christ in glory. For Christians, heaven is not just a distant hope or a vague idea of the afterlife, but a tangible, real place prepared by Jesus Himself for those who believe. The idea of heaven offers profound comfort, assurance, and motivation for Christians as they face the trials and challenges of life.

The biblical vision of heaven is not only a promise for the future but a motivation for how we live today. Our hope in heaven shapes our perspectives on earthly suffering, possessions, relationships, and priorities. This commentary will explore the biblical understanding of heaven, its significance for the believer, and how the hope of heaven should impact our daily lives.

# 1. The Reality of Heaven: A Place of God's Presence

Heaven is not merely a state of being but a place, a physical and spiritual realm where God dwells in His fullness. It is a realm characterized by the presence of God, the absence of sin, and the fullness of joy and peace. In heaven, believers will experience perfect communion with God, which is the ultimate fulfillment of human existence.

# 1.1 Heaven is the Dwelling Place of God

From the Old Testament to the New, heaven is depicted as the dwelling place of God. It is where His throne is established and where His glory is fully manifested. Heaven is a holy and sacred place, set apart from the brokenness and corruption of the world.

**Scripture Reference: Isaiah 66:1** (AKJV) "Thus says the LORD, The heaven is my throne, and the earth is my footstool: where is the house that you build to me? and where is the place of my rest? "This verse reminds us that heaven is the throne of God—a place of supreme majesty and holiness, where He reigns in glory and power.

In Revelation 21, John describes the new heaven and new earth, where God will dwell with His people forever, and His presence will illuminate the entire city (Revelation 21:23). Heaven is the place where God's presence will be experienced in its fullness.

# 1.2 A Place of No More Suffering

One of the most beautiful promises of heaven is that it will be a place free from pain, sorrow, and death. In heaven, there will be no more tears, no more mourning, and no more suffering. The effects of sin, which have marred creation and caused human suffering, will be completely eradicated.

**Scripture Reference: Revelation 21:4** (AKJV) "And God shall wipe away all tears from their eyes; and there shall be no more death, neither sorrow, nor crying, neither shall there be any more pain: for the former things are passed away." The reality of heaven brings hope to the weary and afflicted. Whatever trials or burdens we face on earth will be replaced with everlasting peace and joy in God's presence.

#### 2. Heaven as Our Eternal Home

The Bible often speaks of heaven as the ultimate "home" for believers—a place where we are finally and fully at rest, where our true citizenship lies, and where we will experience the fulfillment of all that we were created for. It is not a temporary destination but our eternal home.

# 2.1 A Home Prepared by Jesus

In John 14:2-3, Jesus promises to go and prepare a place for His followers in His Father's house. The implication is that heaven is a place specifically designed for believers, where they will be welcomed by Christ and experience an eternal fellowship with Him. Jesus '

work in preparing a place for us underscores the personal and intimate nature of our relationship with Him.

**Scripture Reference: John 14:2-3** (AKJV) ""In my Father's house are many mansions: if it were not so, I would have told you. I go to prepare a place for you. 3And if I go and prepare a place for you, I will come again, and receive you to myself; that where I am, there you may be also."Jesus' promise is not just about a physical place but also about the intimate, eternal fellowship that we will enjoy with Him. Our eternal home is a place of perfect peace and perfect relationship with God.

#### 2.2 Heaven is a Place of Full Rest

Heaven is not just a place of spiritual rest but also physical rest. In our earthly lives, we experience weariness and burdens, but in heaven, we will find rest from our labors. This rest is not inactivity, but the fulfillment of God's purpose for us, where we will worship, serve, and enjoy the fruits of our labor without the distractions or difficulties of earthly life.

Scripture Reference: Hebrews 4:9-10 "There remains therefore a rest to the people of God. For he that is entered into his rest, he also has ceased from his own works, as God did from his." This rest is described as the ultimate Sabbath rest—an eternal rest in which we will cease from the toil and burdens of sin and live in perfect harmony with God.

# 3. The Rewards and Joys of Heaven

Heaven is not only a place of rest and peace but also a place of reward and joy. The Bible speaks of crowns, rewards, and eternal joys awaiting believers who are faithful to God. These rewards are not just for the afterlife but serve as motivation for living faithfully today.

#### 3.1 Crowns and Rewards for Faithfulness

Throughout the New Testament, believers are promised rewards for their faithfulness in serving Christ. These rewards are often described as crowns that will be given to those who live for God's glory and endure trials with perseverance.

**Scripture Reference: 2 Timothy 4:8** "From now on there is laid up for me a crown of righteousness, which the Lord, the righteous judge, shall give me at that day: and not to me only, but to all them also that love his appearing." The crown of righteousness is a reward for those who have lived faithfully in anticipation of Christ's return. These rewards, while not the ultimate goal of the Christian life, are a testimony to God's grace and a reflection of our faithful service to Him.

#### 3.2 Eternal Joy and Fellowship with God

In heaven, there will be an unending experience of joy, worship, and fellowship with God. The Bible describes heaven as a place of ultimate satisfaction, where every longing is fulfilled, and where the worship of God is constant and perfect.

Scripture Reference: Revelation 22:3-6 (AKJV) "And there shall be no more curse: but the throne of God and of the Lamb shall be in it; and his servants shall serve him: 4And they shall see his face; and his name shall be in their foreheads. 5And there shall be no night there; and they need no candle, neither light of the sun; for the Lord God gives them light: and they shall reign for ever and ever. 6And he said to me, These sayings are faithful and true: and the Lord God of the holy prophets sent his angel to show to his servants the things which must shortly be done. "The ultimate joy of heaven is the presence of God. We will behold His face, serve Him without hindrance, and experience the fullness of His glory forever.

# 4. The Impact of the Hope of Heaven on Our Lives

The hope of heaven is not merely a future promise to look forward to, but it has practical implications for how we live today. The Bible urges believers to live with an eternal perspective, keeping our eyes fixed on heaven as we face the challenges of life.

# 4.1 A Heavenly Perspective on Earthly Struggles

Paul encourages believers to set their minds on heaven, particularly when facing trials. The hope of heaven allows us to endure suffering with patience, knowing that the present struggles are temporary and that eternal glory awaits.

**Scripture Reference: 2 Corinthians 4:17-18** (AKJV) "For our light affliction, which is but for a moment, works for us a far more exceeding and eternal weight of glory; 18While we look not at the things which are seen, but at the things which are not seen: for the things which are seen are temporal; but the things which are not seen are eternal." This perspective allows us to view our suffering in light of eternity, helping us to persevere with hope.

# 4.2 A Call to Live Holy Lives

The hope of heaven also calls us to live lives that honor God and reflect our future home. Because we are citizens of heaven, we are called to live in a manner worthy of our calling.

Scripture Reference: Philippians 3:20-21 "For our conversation is in heaven; from where also we look for the Savior, the Lord Jesus Christ: 21Who shall change our vile body, that it may be fashioned like to his glorious body, according to the working whereby he is able even to subdue all things to himself."Our identity as heavenly citizens should shape how we live today—pursuing holiness, righteousness, and godliness as we await the return of Christ.

# **Conclusion: The Glorious Reality of Heaven**

Heaven is the eternal destination for believers—our ultimate home where we will live in the presence of God, free from pain and suffering, filled with joy and peace. It is a place of reward, fellowship, and eternal joy, and it should shape how we live today. As we fix our eyes on the promise of heaven, we are empowered to live with hope, perseverance, and a passion to reflect the glory of God in all things. Let us live today with heaven in our hearts, eagerly awaiting the day when we will be with the Lord forever.

# 77. Hell (Revelation 21:8)

# **Biblical Commentary on "Hell"**

Hell, as revealed in the Bible, is the ultimate destination of judgment—a place of separation from God, where justice is fully administered against sin, rebellion, and unbelief. The Old Testament contains early indications of divine judgment in the afterlife, though its language is more shadowed. The Hebrew word *Sheol* often refers to the realm of the dead, a place where all people go regardless of their moral standing (e.g., Ecclesiastes 9:10; Psalm 89:48). However, later Old Testament texts begin to distinguish between the fate of the righteous and the wicked. Daniel 12:2, for instance, speaks of a resurrection "some to everlasting life, others to shame and everlasting contempt," laying the groundwork for a more developed doctrine of final judgment. The growing theme is that God's justice extends beyond the grave, and the wicked will not ultimately escape accountability.

In the New Testament, the teaching on hell becomes more explicit and solemn, particularly in the words of Jesus Christ. Jesus frequently warns about the danger of hell (*Gehenna*), describing it as a place of fiery punishment, outer darkness, and weeping and gnashing of teeth (Matthew 5:22, 10:28, 25:30). The term *Gehenna* referred originally to a valley outside Jerusalem associated with idolatry and burning refuse—symbolizing uncleanliness, judgment, and final ruin. Jesus uses this imagery to communicate the horrifying reality of separation from God. Hell, according to Christ, is not merely a metaphor but a real and eternal consequence for those who reject God's mercy and persist in sin. He describes it in stark contrast to the eternal life promised to the righteous, emphasizing both the seriousness of sin and the necessity of repentance.

The apostles reinforce this teaching, warning that hell is the final, irreversible outcome of divine wrath. Paul speaks of "eternal destruction" and being "shut out from the presence of the Lord" (2 Thessalonians 1:9), while Peter refers to the punishment of false teachers as being reserved "for the blackest darkness" (2 Peter 2:17). The book of Hebrews warns of "a fearful expectation of judgment and of raging fire" (Hebrews 10:27) for those who trample underfoot the grace of God. Perhaps the most sobering description comes in the book of Revelation, where hell is depicted as the "lake of fire" (Revelation 20:14-15)—the "second death" for those not found in the Lamb's Book of Life. This vision is intensely graphic and serves to underscore the justice of God against unrepentant evil. Importantly, Scripture presents hell as eternal (Matthew 25:46), not annihilation, reflecting the eternal nature of both God's holiness and His justice.

While the doctrine of hell is undeniably difficult, it is an essential part of the biblical picture of God's moral perfection. Hell reveals the seriousness of sin, the reality of human freedom, and the holiness of God. It is not merely punitive, but also demonstrates that God respects human choices—even the choice to reject Him. At the same time, Scripture

makes clear that God takes no pleasure in the death of the wicked (Ezekiel 33:11) and is patient, "not wanting anyone to perish, but everyone to come to repentance" (2 Peter 3:9). Hell stands in the Bible not only as a warning, but as a backdrop to the beauty and urgency of the gospel. It is precisely because the stakes are so high that the offer of grace through Jesus Christ is so profound. In this way, the doctrine of hell points beyond itself—to the cross, where judgment and mercy meet, and where the way to life is opened for all who believe.

Hell is an already existing place of eternal, unquenchable fire, the place of future punishment for the wicked who choose not to repent and who choose to reject the Love and free gift of salvation of Jesus Christ. It is further describe in the Bible as the Lake of Fire, a place of torment and of outer darkness.

Hell is the final destiny of Satan, all demonic spirits, and all unbelievers, and hypocrites, who have heard the gospel and rejected Jesus Christ as their Lord and Savior, because they loved their sinful ways more.

Hell will be a place of misery, pain, frustration, and anger; Whoever chooses to go to hell will be eternally separated from God and not obtain any of His Blessings. Those who go to hell will have memory, empty sorrow, and unsatisfied thirst. **Anyone who believes** in Jesus and chooses to sincerely repent of their sins, at any time, will be forgiven and Not go to hell, but to heaven.

The unrepented wicked ones will eternally suffer the undiluted righteous wrath and justice of God for their prideful wicked words and actions. Hell was originally prepared for Satan and his evil hosts of angels and one day soon Satan and his demons will be bound there forever, never to hurt man again.

#### **KEY SCRIPTURES**

Matthew 18:8,9 And if your hand or your foot causes you to stumble, cut it off and

throw it from you; it is better for you to enter life crippled or lame, than having two hands or two feet, to be cast into the eternal fire.

And if your eye causes you to stumble, pluck it out, and throw it from you. It is better for you to enter life with one eye, than having two eyes, to be cast into the fiery hell.

**Mark 9:47,48** And if your eye causes you to stumble, cast it out; it is better for you to enter the kingdom of God with one eye, than having two eyes, to be cast into hell, where their worm does not die and the fire is not quenched.

**Revelation 20:14,15** And death and Hades were thrown into the lake of fire. This is the second death, the lake of fire. And if anyone's name was not found written in the book of life, he was thrown into the lake of fire.

**Revelation 14:9,10,11** And another angel, a third one, followed them saying with a loud voice, " If anyone worships the beast and his image and receives a mark on his forehead

or upon his hand, he will also drink the wine of the wrath of God, which is mixed in the full strength in the cup of His anger and he will be tormented with fire and brimstone in the presence of the holy angels and in the presence of the Lamb, And the smoke of their torment goes up forever and ever; and they have no rest day or night, those who worship the beast and his image and whoever receives the mark of the of his name.

**Matthew 22:13,14** Then the king said to the servants, Bind him hand and foot and cast him into the outer darkness in that place there shall be weeping and gnashing of teeth. 'For many are called but few are chosen.

**Matthew 25:30** And cast out the worthless slave into outer darkness, in that place there shall be weeping and gnashing of teeth.

**Matthew 25:45,46** Then He will answer them, saying, 'Truly I say to you, to the extent that you did not do it to one of the least of these, you did not do it to Me.' And these will go away into eternal punishment but the righteous into eternal life.

**Revelation 19:20** And the beast was seized, and with him the false prophet who performed the signs in his presence, by which he deceived those who had received the mark of the beast and those who worshipped his image; these two were thrown alive into the lake of fire which burns with brimstone.

# 78. New Jerusalem Descends from Heaven (Revelation 21:2,10)

New Jerusalem Descends from Heaven (Revelation 21:2,10)

Revelation 21:2–10 describes one of the most awe-inspiring events in all of Scripture: the descent of the New Jerusalem, the eternal dwelling place of God with His redeemed people. John writes, "Then I, John, saw the holy city, New Jerusalem, coming down out of heaven from God, prepared as a bride adorned for her husband" (v.2), and again in verse 10: "And he carried me away in the Spirit to a great and high mountain, and showed me the great city, the holy Jerusalem, descending out of heaven from God." This is not merely a symbolic vision—it is the final and literal fulfillment of God's redemptive plan. The New Jerusalem represents the eternal state, established after the Millennium and final judgment (Revelation 20), when the old heaven and earth have passed away and God makes all things new (Revelation 21:1).

The New Jerusalem is described as a real, physical, yet gloriously transformed city—a place where heaven and earth are permanently united. It is called "holy," emphasizing its purity and separation from sin, and "new," denoting that it is of a different, eternal order. John says it is "prepared as a bride adorned for her husband," connecting it with the Church, the Bride of Christ (cf. Ephesians 5:25–27; Revelation 19:7–9). This bridal imagery speaks of beauty, intimacy, and covenant fulfillment. God Himself is the architect and builder (Hebrews 11:10), and the city descends—not built by man, but given by God—signifying that salvation, restoration, and eternal life are entirely His work.

The descent of the New Jerusalem marks the complete and final restoration of what was lost in Eden—a perfect environment, uninterrupted fellowship with God, and eternal life. Revelation 21:3 declares: "Behold, the tabernacle of God is with men, and He will dwell with them, and they shall be His people." This is the ultimate covenant fulfillment: no more temple is needed, for "the Lord God Almighty and the Lamb are its temple" (Revelation 21:22). The city is described in radiant detail—its foundations adorned with precious stones, streets of gold, gates of pearl, and dimensions symbolizing perfection and divine order (Revelation 21:11–27). The glory of God illuminates it, and the nations of the redeemed walk in its light. There is no more death, sorrow, crying, or pain—everything that sin corrupted has been forever undone (Revelation 21:4–5).

For the believer, the New Jerusalem offers a vision of our eternal hope and inheritance—secure, glorious, and unshakable. It is a real place for a real people, promised by a faithful God. This city is the culmination of all God's promises throughout redemptive history: to dwell among His people (Leviticus 26:11–12), to restore creation (Isaiah 65:17), and to establish an unending kingdom (Daniel 7:14). It invites us to live now with eternity in mind, to long for the "better country" (Hebrews 11:16), and to remain faithful in the present age, knowing our citizenship is in heaven (Philippians 3:20). As we await the New Jerusalem, we do so with joyful anticipation, knowing that the best is not only yet to come—it is already secured in Christ.

# 79. Eternal Life (Revelation 21:4; Revelation 22:1–2; Revelation 22:20)

Text: John 17:3 (AKJV):

"And this is life eternal, that they might know you the only true God, and Jesus Christ, whom you have sent."

#### **Biblical Commentary on "Eternal Life"**

Eternal life is a profound truth promised throughout the word of God, the Bible, with its roots reaching into the Old Testament and its fulfillment fully revealed in the New Testament. In the early scriptures, eternal life is alluded to in poetic expressions and prophetic hope, such as in Job 19:25-27 and Daniel 12:2-3, where those who believe in Jesus Christ and the faithful anticipate a future resurrection and communion with God beyond the grave. However, it is in the teachings of Jesus that eternal life becomes clearly defined and intimately personal. In John 17:3, Jesus states, "Now this is eternal life: that they know you, the only true God, and Jesus Christ, whom you have sent." This shows that eternal life is not simply about endless existence but about a deep, living relationship with God through His Son.

In the Gospel of John, eternal life is portrayed as both a present possession and a future promise. Jesus consistently teaches that those who believe in Him already have eternal life (John 5:24, 6:47), highlighting that it begins now, not just after death. This life is characterized by a spiritual rebirth and a new quality of existence—a life animated by the

Holy Spirit, marked by love, righteousness, and communion with God. What was lost through Adam's sin—fellowship with the Creator—is restored through faith in Christ. Eternal life, then, is not merely about living forever; it is about living in the presence and power of God, beginning in this life and continuing unbroken into eternity.

The writings of the apostle Paul expand the understanding of eternal life, placing it within the broader framework of salvation and grace. Paul emphasizes that eternal life is a gift from God, granted through faith in Jesus Christ. In Romans 6:23, he contrasts the wages of sin, which is death, with the gift of God, which is eternal life through Christ. For Paul, this life is rooted in the resurrection of Jesus and is experienced by those who are spiritually united with Him. It begins now, as believers are raised to new life (Romans 6:4), but also has a future fulfillment when believers are fully glorified and freed from the presence of sin. This forward-looking hope is seen throughout Paul's letters, where eternal life is closely tied to the coming kingdom of God and the final resurrection of the dead.

The book of Revelation offers a final vision of eternal life, showing its completion in the new creation. Those who overcome through faith in Christ are promised access to the tree of life (Revelation 2:7), a powerful symbol of restored paradise. In the new heavens and new earth, God's people dwell with Him forever, where there is no more death, pain, or sorrow (Revelation 21:4). They serve God in a glorified state, with His name on their foreheads and His presence as their eternal light (Revelation 22:3-5). Eternal life, therefore, is not simply an unending future—it is the full restoration of all things, the eternal joy of living in unbroken fellowship with God, and the complete realization of God's purpose for humanity. It is the gospel's highest promise and the believer's ultimate hope.

#### Introduction: The Gift of Eternal Life

Eternal life is one of the central promises of the Christian faith, a gift that transcends the physical realm and offers believers the assurance of life beyond death. In John 17:3, Jesus defines eternal life not just as a future hope but as the intimate, relational knowledge of God the Father and Jesus Christ, His Son. Eternal life, therefore, begins now, not merely after death. It is both a present reality and a future promise, rooted in the personal knowledge of God and the transformative relationship we have with Him through Christ.

This commentary will explore the concept of eternal life as presented in Scripture—what it means to receive eternal life, how it is experienced in the present, and the hope it provides for the future. We will also examine how eternal life is closely tied to a personal relationship with God and the hope that it brings to every believer.

#### 1. The Promise of Eternal Life in Scripture

Eternal life is often mentioned in the New Testament as both a present possession and a future promise. It is a gift from God, granted to those who trust in Jesus Christ as Savior and Lord.

#### 1.1 Eternal Life as a Gift from God

**Text: Romans 6:23** (AKJV): "For the wages of sin is death; but the gift of God is eternal life through Jesus Christ our Lord."

- A Gift, Not Earned The first and most important thing to recognize about eternal life is that it is a gift. It is not something that can be earned through works or human effort. The apostle Paul contrasts eternal life with the wages of sin, which is death. In a fallen world, humanity's sin leads to spiritual death and separation from God. However, God, in His mercy and grace, offers the gift of eternal life through the person and work of Jesus Christ.
- The Cost of the Gift Though eternal life is free to us, it was not without cost. Jesus Christ paid the price for our sin through His death on the cross, enabling God to offer this gift of life to all who believe. Eternal life, therefore, is a gift of grace, purchased by the sacrificial love of Jesus.

#### 1.2 Eternal Life and Belief in Jesus Christ

**Text: John 3:16** (AKJV): "For God so loved the world, that he gave his only begotten Son, that whosoever believes in him should not perish, but have everlasting life."

- The Centrality of Christ in Eternal Life John 3:16 is one of the most well-known verses in the Bible, and it emphasizes that eternal life is available to all who believe in Jesus Christ. This belief is not simply intellectual acknowledgment but a deep, trusting faith in who Jesus is and what He has done for us. Eternal life is not found in religion, philosophy, or good works but in a personal relationship with Jesus Christ, the Son of God, who offers us the way to eternal life.
- The Call to Believe The call to believe in Jesus Christ is central to the gospel. It is through faith in Him that we receive eternal life. The Bible makes it clear that eternal life is not something we can achieve on our own but is a gift from God that comes through Jesus alone.

#### 1.3 Eternal Life as Knowing God

**Text: John 17:3** (AKJV): "And this is life eternal, that they might know you the only true God, and Jesus Christ, whom you have sent."

• Eternal Life as Intimate Relationship Jesus defines eternal life as knowing God, the only true God, and knowing Jesus Christ whom He has sent. This knowledge is not merely intellectual but is relational and intimate. Eternal life is characterized by a deep, personal relationship with God. It is a life of fellowship, where the believer is united with God in spirit and truth. This relationship begins in the here and now and continues throughout eternity.

• The Heart of Eternal Life To know God and Jesus Christ is the heart of eternal life. It's not just about living forever, but about knowing and being known by the Creator. The more we grow in this knowledge, the more we experience the abundant life that Jesus promised (John 10:10).

#### 2. The Present Reality of Eternal Life

Eternal life is not just a future promise; it begins the moment we place our trust in Jesus Christ. This present experience of eternal life is one of transformation, where we are made new in Christ and begin to live according to God's purposes.

#### 2.1 Eternal Life as Transformation

**Text: 2 Corinthians 5:17** (AKJV): "Therefore if any man be in Christ, he is a new creature: old things are passed away; behold, all things are become new."

- New Life in Christ The moment a person places their faith in Christ, they are spiritually reborn. Eternal life begins at that moment, and it is marked by a radical transformation. The old self, bound by sin and death, is replaced by a new self, created in Christ Jesus for good works (Ephesians 2:10). This new life is not just a change in behavior but a fundamental change in the person's nature, heart, and desires.
- Living in the Kingdom of God Eternal life also involves entering the kingdom of God. Jesus taught that the kingdom of God is not just a future reality but a present one. Believers who have received eternal life are now citizens of this kingdom, living under the rule and reign of God. This kingdom is characterized by peace, righteousness, and joy in the Holy Spirit (Romans 14:17).

#### 2.2 Eternal Life as Fellowship with God

**Text: 1 John 1:3** (AKJV): "That which we have seen and heard declare we to you, that you also may have fellowship with us: and truly our fellowship is with the Father, and with his Son Jesus Christ.."

- Fellowship with the Father and the Son Eternal life involves deep fellowship with God the Father and with His Son, Jesus Christ. This fellowship is not just about future communion but present intimacy with the Creator. As believers, we have access to God through prayer, worship, and the study of His Word. We can experience His presence daily and grow in our relationship with Him.
- Living in the Love of God Eternal life is marked by the love of God, both the experience of it and the outworking of it in our lives. As we grow in knowledge of God and in His love, we begin to love others as He has loved us. This love becomes the defining characteristic of our lives (John 13:35).

#### 3. The Future Hope of Eternal Life

While eternal life begins now, it is also a promise for the future. The Bible speaks of a day when eternal life will be fully realized, when believers will be with the Lord forever in a new heaven and new earth.

#### 3.1 The Promise of Resurrection

**Text: John 11:25-26** (AKJV): "Jesus said unto her, I am the resurrection, and the life: he that believes in me, though he were dead, yet will he live: And whosoever lives and believes in me shall never die. Do you Believe this?"

- Victory Over DeathThe hope of eternal life includes the promise of resurrection—both for the body and the soul. Jesus, in His own resurrection, demonstrated His power over death, and He promises that those who believe in Him will experience that same victory over death. Though physical death may come, believers in Christ will live forever with God.
- A New Heaven and New EarthThe final fulfillment of eternal life will come when God creates a new heaven and a new earth, and all things are made new (Revelation 21:1-4). In that day, there will be no more pain, suffering, or death, and believers will dwell with God forever in perfect fellowship and joy.

#### 3.2 Eternal Life as Everlasting Joy

#### Text: Matthew 25:46 (AKJV):

"And these shall go away into everlasting punishment: but the righteous into life eternal."

#### The Joy of the Eternal Kingdom

Eternal life is described as the joy and fulfillment of living forever in the presence of God. It is not just a never-ending existence but a life filled with peace, joy, and glory, as we are united with God in His eternal kingdom. This is the ultimate hope of every believer: to experience eternal life in its fullness, free from the limitations and struggles of this present world.

#### **Other Key Scriptures:**

**John 5:24** (AKJV) "Truly, truly, I say to you, He that hears my word, and believes on him that sent me, has everlasting life, and shall not come into condemnation; but is passed from death to life." In this verse, Jesus gives a definitive statement about the transformational power of belief. The moment someone hears and accepts the message of Jesus, they pass from spiritual death into spiritual life. This is a current, ongoing possession. It speaks to the certainty of salvation; believers no longer stand under judgment but have crossed over into eternal life through faith in Jesus. This promise of no condemnation is echoed by Paul in Romans 8:1.

John 3:13-21- No one has ever gone into heaven except the one who came from heaven—the Son of Man.14 Just as Moses lifted up the snake in the wilderness, so the

Son of Man must be lifted up, 15 that everyone who believes may have eternal life in Him.( Jesus Christ )"16 For God so loved the world that he gave his one and only Son, that whoever believes in him shall not perish but have eternal life. 17 For God did not send his Son into the world to condemn the world, but to save the world through him. 18 Whoever believes in him is not condemned, but whoever does not believe stands condemned already because they have not believed in the name of God's one and only Son. 19 This is the verdict: Light has come into the world, but people loved darkness instead of light because their deeds were evil. 20 Everyone who does evil hates the light, and will not come into the light for fear that their deeds will be exposed. 21 But whoever lives by the truth comes into the light, so that it may be seen plainly that what they have done has been done in the sight of God.

John 6:35-40: Jesus said to them, "I am the bread of life; he who comes to Me will not hunger, and he who believes in Me will never thirst. 36 But I said to you that you have seen Me, and yet do not believe. 37 All that the Father gives Me will come to Me, and the one who comes to Me I will certainly not cast out. 38 For I have come down from heaven, not to do My own will, but the will of Him who sent Me. 39 This is the will of Him who sent Me, that of all that He has given Me I lose nothing, but raise it up on the last day. 40 For this is the will of My Father, that everyone who beholds the Son ( Jesus ) and believes in Him will have eternal life, and I Myself will raise him up on the last day."

**John 6:47-50** (AKJV) "Truly, truly, I say to you, He that believes on me has everlasting life. 48I am that bread of life. 49Your fathers did eat manna in the wilderness, and are dead. 50This is the bread which comes down from heaven, that a man may eat thereof, and not die" Here, Jesus underscores the simplicity and the sufficiency of faith in Him. Eternal life is not earned or achieved by works; it is granted to those who believe. Belief in Jesus as the Son of God and the Savior is the key to receiving eternal life. This verse invites believers to rest in the finished work of Christ and to know that they possess this life now, not just in the future.

#### To Receive Eternal Life - Keep God's Commandments, ...

**Matthew 19: 16-21** Just then a man came up to Jesus and asked, "Teacher, what good thing must I do to get eternal life?"

17 "Why do you ask me about what is good?" Jesus replied. "There is only One who is good. If you want to enter life, keep the commandments." 18 "Which ones?" he inquired.

Jesus replied," You shall not murder, you shall not commit adultery, you shall not steal, you shall not give false testimony, 19 honor your father and mother,' and 'love your neighbor as yourself."

20 "All these I have kept," the young man said. "What do I still lack?"21 Jesus answered, "If you want to be perfect, go, sell your possessions and give to the poor, and you will have treasure in heaven. Then come, follow me."

**John 10:28** (AKJV) "And I give to them eternal life; and they shall never perish, neither shall any man pluck them out of my hand." In this beautiful declaration, Jesus reassures His followers that once they have received eternal life, it is secure in His hands. No external force, no power—whether human, spiritual, or earthly—can take away the eternal life given by Christ. This promise offers deep comfort, knowing that nothing can separate believers from the love and life of God.

**Titus 3:7** (AKJV) "That being justified by his grace, we should be made heirs according to the hope of eternal life.." This verse connects eternal life with the justification believers receive through God's grace. We are declared righteous, not because of our own works, but because of Christ's sacrifice. And as heirs of God, we have the confident expectation (hope) of eternal life—this is the inheritance promised to all who are in Christ.

**John 14:6** (AKJV) "Jesus says to him, I am the way, the truth, and the life: no man comes to the Father, but by me. " This is one of the most definitive statements made by Jesus. He does not merely show the way; He is the Way. He doesn't point to some truth; He is the Truth. And He is not offering a path to life—He is Life itself. This declaration is central to Christianity: salvation and eternal life are found exclusively in Jesus Christ. There is no other avenue to a relationship with God the Father except through Him.

**Philippians 1:21** "For to me to live is Christ, and to die is gain." Paul's words reflect a profound perspective on life in Christ. For him, living was all about Christ—His purpose, His will, His glory. Life itself was defined by his relationship with Jesus. And even death, for Paul, was gain because it meant being with Christ in a fuller, uninterrupted way. This verse reflects the deep fulfillment found in living for Christ and illustrates how eternal life shapes our present life.

**John 11:25-27** - Jesus said to her, "I am the resurrection and the Life. The one who believes in me will live, even though they die; 26 and whoever lives by believing in me will never die. Do you believe this?"

27 "Yes, Lord," she replied, "I believe that you are the Messiah, the Son of God, who is to come into the world."

**1 John 5:20** (AKJV)"And we know that the Son of God is come, and has given us an understanding, that we may know him that is true, and we are in him that is true, even in his Son Jesus Christ. This is the true God, and eternal life." This passage captures the essence of life in Jesus. Eternal life is not merely a state of existence; it is knowing Christ, being united with Him. Through Jesus, believers are brought into a personal, intimate relationship with God. John points out that Jesus is the true God and the source of eternal life, stressing the essential truth that to know Jesus is to know life itself.

#### The Separation Of The Sheep and Goats:

Matthew 25: 31-46- "When the Son of Man comes in His glory, and all the angels with him, he will sit on his glorious throne. 32 All the nations will be gathered before him, and he will separate the people one from another as a shepherd separates the sheep from the goats. 33 He will put the sheep on his right and the goats on his left.34 "Then the King will say to those on his right, 'Come, you who are blessed by my Father; take your inheritance, the kingdom prepared for you since the creation of the world. 35 For I was hungry and you gave me something to eat, I was thirsty and you gave me something to drink, I was a stranger and you invited me in, 36 I needed clothes and you clothed me, I was sick and you looked after me, I was in prison and you came to visit me.'

37 "Then the righteous will answer him, 'Lord, when did we see you hungry and feed you, or thirsty and give you something to drink? 38 When did we see you a stranger and invite you in, or needing clothes and clothe you?39 When did we see you sick or in prison and go to visit you?'

40 "The King will reply, 'Truly I tell you, whatever you did for one of the least of these brothers and sisters of mine, you did for me.'

41 "Then he will say to those on his left, 'Depart from me, you who are cursed, into the eternal fire prepared for the devil and his angels. 42 For I was hungry and you gave me nothing to eat, I was thirsty and you gave me nothing to drink, 43 I was a stranger and you did not invite me in, I needed clothes and you did not clothe me, I was sick and in prison and you did not look after me.'

44 "They also will answer, 'Lord, when did we see you hungry or thirsty or a stranger or needing clothes or sick or in prison, and did not help you?'

45 "He will reply, 'Truly I tell you, whatever you did not do for one of the least of these, you did not do for me.'

46 "Then they will go away to eternal punishment, but the righteous to eternal life."

1 Timothy 6;18,19 - Command them to do good, to be rich in good deeds, and to be generous and willing to share. 19 In this way they will lay up treasure for themselves as a firm foundation for the coming age, so that they may take hold of eternal life that is truly life

**Galatians 6:7-8 -** Do not be deceived: God cannot be mocked. A man reaps what he sows. 8 Whoever sows to please their flesh, from the flesh will reap destruction; whoever sows to please the Spirit, from the Spirit will reap eternal life.

Romans 6:23 - For the wages of sin is death, but the gift of God is eternal life in Christ Jesus our Lord.

**Conclusion: Living in the Promise of Eternal Life** 

The Bible is clear that eternal life is not just about life after death, but about a quality of life that begins the moment we place our faith in Jesus Christ. It is a life that transcends time, rooted in the person of Christ, and secured by His power. Jesus offers both the promise of eternal life in the future and the experience of that life today, as we live in relationship with Him.

Through faith in Jesus, we are no longer bound by sin or death, but are made alive in Him. We can live with the confident hope of eternal life, knowing that Jesus, who is the Way, the Truth, and the Life, has already secured our place with Him forever.

Eternal life is more than a future promise—it is a present reality for all who have trusted in Jesus Christ. It is both a transformation in this life and a glorious hope for the life to come. Eternal life begins now as we enter into a personal relationship with God through Jesus Christ, and it is fully realized in the age to come when we will dwell with God forever.

May we, as believers, live with the assurance of this eternal life, knowing that it is a gift of grace that we did nothing to earn but that God offers freely through His Son. Let us rejoice in the present reality of eternal life and look forward to the day when we will experience its fullness in the presence of our Savior.

### 80. Every Knee Will Bow and Every Tongue Confess Jesus is Lord

Every Knee will bow, Every Tongue Confess Jesus is The Lord

The declaration that "every knee will bow and every tongue confess that Jesus Christ is Lord" is drawn from Philippians 2:9–11 and reflects the universal recognition of Christ's supremacy. Paul writes: "Therefore God also has highly exalted Him and given Him the name which is above every name, that at the name of Jesus every knee should bow... and every tongue confess that Jesus Christ is Lord, to the glory of God the Father." This passage comes in the context of Christ's humility and obedience unto death (Philippians 2:5–8). Because of that, God has exalted Him to the highest place. The phrase "every knee should bow" is not merely poetic—it echoes Isaiah 45:23, where God declares that to Him alone every knee shall bow. Paul applies this to Jesus, affirming His full divinity and messianic lordship.

This universal confession is not limited to believers—it includes all of creation, willingly or unwillingly acknowledging Christ's lordship. Paul specifies three realms in Philippians 2:10: "those in heaven, and of those on earth, and of those under the earth," encompassing angels, humanity, and even the demonic. In other words, every intelligent being in all of creation will one day recognize Jesus Christ as sovereign Lord. For believers, this confession is one of joy, worship, and salvation. For unbelievers, including Satan and his hosts, it will be a reluctant acknowledgment of truth and authority in the face of divine judgment. The act of bowing the knee speaks to submission; the confession

with the tongue speaks to truth proclaimed. Whether in adoration or in defeat, **no one will remain neutral about Jesus in the end.** 

The exaltation of Jesus Christ and the universal recognition of His lordship fulfill both Old Testament prophecy and New Testament eschatology. Isaiah 45:23–24 anticipated a day when "to Me every knee shall bow, every tongue shall swear allegiance." Romans 14:11 quotes the same passage to affirm that all will give an account before God. Revelation 5:13 depicts a glorious scene where "every creature in heaven and on earth and under the earth" blesses the Lamb. These passages point forward to a final moment in redemptive history when Christ is revealed in His full majesty, and every being acknowledges His divine authority. This moment will coincide with His Second Coming, final judgment, and the establishment of His eternal reign.

For the believer, the truth that every knee will bow is both a source of hope and a call to mission. It assures us that Christ is victorious and that all opposition—spiritual or human—will ultimately fall before His throne. It also reminds us of the urgency of the gospel. While all will eventually confess Christ as Lord, only those who do so in this life by faith will enter His eternal kingdom. Confession after judgment leads only to condemnation; confession now leads to salvation (Romans 10:9). Therefore, the Church is called to proclaim this Lord boldly, to live in joyful submission to Him daily, and to look forward with confidence to the day when Christ's name is honored universally, and God is glorified in all.

### 81. Jesus - Alpha and Omega

Revelation 1:8 states, "I am the Alpha and the Omega," says the Lord God, "who is and who was and who is to come, the Almighty." This verse stands as one of the most profound declarations of divine identity in all of Scripture. "Alpha" and "Omega" are the first and last letters of the Greek alphabet, symbolizing the completeness and totality of God's being and authority. When Jesus applies this title to Himself later in Revelation (1:17; 22:13), He is asserting His eternality and divinity — that He exists outside of time, encompassing all history from beginning to end. This is not merely a poetic phrase; it is a theological cornerstone affirming Christ's divine nature, preexistence, and unchangeable character. It links Him directly with the God of the Old Testament, who similarly declared, "I am the first and I am the last; apart from me there is no God" (Isaiah 44:6).

The verse also emphasizes God's sovereignty over time: "who is and who was and who is to come." This phrase reflects the divine constancy in a world marked by change and chaos. It affirms God's presence in the past, His engagement in the present, and His promise to be actively involved in the future. For early Christians facing persecution under the Roman Empire, this would have provided immense comfort. Despite the political upheaval and personal suffering, the eternal God — in Christ — was sovereign over all eras of history. Jesus, as Alpha and Omega, declares His supreme lordship not just over spiritual matters, but over history itself. His being encompasses every point of existence, assuring believers that He remains in control no matter what events unfold.

Additionally, this title positions Jesus not merely as a passive observer of time but as its very source and goal. As Alpha, He is the Creator through whom all things were made (John 1:1–3; Colossians 1:16). As Omega, He is the culmination and fulfillment of God's redemptive plan. Revelation, in particular, paints a cosmic vision of Christ as the Lamb who was slain yet reigns eternally, bringing history to its God-ordained climax. The idea of Jesus being both the origin and the destiny of all things echoes Paul's words in Romans 11:36: "For from him and through him and for him are all things." This teaches not only about Jesus 'power but also His purpose — to redeem, to judge, and ultimately to restore all creation. The Christian hope is not in a vague, open-ended future but in a future anchored in the victorious return of the Alpha and Omega.

Finally, the reference to "the Almighty" (Greek: *Pantokratōr*) in Revelation 1:8 underlines Jesus 'omnipotence. While some scholars debate whether this title in 1:8 refers directly to Jesus or God the Father, the language throughout Revelation increasingly shows their unity. Jesus 'later self-identification as Alpha and Omega (22:13) confirms that this divine name fully applies to Him. This is a key theme in Johannine theology: the oneness between the Father and the Son (cf. John 10:30). For believers, this revelation of Christ's eternal and almighty nature is not just doctrinal but deeply pastoral. It calls the Church to trust, worship, and persevere — knowing that Jesus, who has conquered death and reigns supreme, will bring all things to their consummation in righteousness and glory. In a world marred by brokenness, the Alpha and Omega assures us that the story is not random or hopeless but divinely authored and divinely completed.